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PART |

We refer to (1) Highwoods Properties, Inc. as fBerhpany,” (2) Highwoods Realty Limited Partnersasgthe "Operating
Partnership,” (3) the Company's common stock asrf@on Stock," (4) the Company’s preferred stockRrferred Stock,"s) the Operatin
Partnership's common partnership interests as "Gmridmits," (6) the Operating Partnership’s prefénpartnership interests as “Preferred
Units” and (7) in-service properties (excludingtedmesidential units) to which the Company andier Operating Partnership have title and
100.0% ownership rights as the “Wholly Owned Prtpsr”

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

General

The Company is a fully-integrated, self-administeaed self-managed equity real estate investmesit ¢(fREIT”) that began operatiot
through a predecessor in 1978. The Company conaplsténitial public offering in 1994 and its Comm&tock is traded on the New York
Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbol “HIW.” Vdee one of the largest owners and operators ofrbahuwffice, industrial and retail
properties in the southeastern and midwestern tifitates. At December 31, 2006, we:

« wholly owned 322 in-service office, industrial aredail properties, encompassing approximately Bilon rentable square feet,
and 109 rental residential uni

» owned an interest (50.0% or less) in 70 in-seroffiee and industrial properties, encompassing axiprately 7.4 million rentable
square feet, and 418 rental residential units. Biwbese in-service office properties are consiéd at December 31, 2006 as
more fully described in Notes 1 and 3 to the Cadatéd Financial Statemen

» wholly owned 719 acres of undeveloped land, appnaxtly 435 acres of which are considered core hgtdand which are
suitable to develop approximately 5.3 million rdiiégasquare feet of office and industrial sp:

» were developing or re-developing 16 wholly ownedparties comprising approximately 2.7 million sequeet and 139 for-sale
condominiums that were under construction or werageted but had not achieved 95% stabilized oauoeygaand

» were developing through 50.0% owned joint venta@san office property of approximately 31,000 sguaet that was complet
in 2006 but had not achieved 95% stabilized occoypand (b) a for-rent residential project compgs882 units in three
buildings.

The Company conducts substantially all of its atiis through the Operating Partnership. Other 224 acres of undeveloped land, 13
rental residential units and the Companyiterest in the Kessinger/Hunter, LLC and 460@an Associates, LLC joint ventures (see Na
to the Consolidated Financial Statements), alhef€@ompany’s assets are owned directly or indiydntithe Operating Partnership. The
Company is the sole general partner of the Oper&artnership. At December 31, 2006, the Compamedvall of the Preferred Units and
92.2% of the Common Units in the Operating Partmiprd_imited partners (including certain officensdadirectors of the Company) own the
remaining Common Units. Each Common Unit is redd#enhy the holder for the cash value of one shaf@ommon Stock or, at the
Company's option, one share of Common Stock. Resfaynits in the Operating Partnership were isgtagtle Company in connection with
the Company’s Preferred Stock offerings that o@aliin 1997 and 1998.

The Company was incorporated in Maryland in 199 Dperating Partnership was formed in North Caaoih 1994. Our executive
offices are located at 3100 Smoketree Court, Sli6s Raleigh, North Carolina 27604 and our teleghommber is (919) 872-4924. We
maintain offices in each of our primary markets.

Our business is the acquisition, development amdation of rental real estate properties. We opestiice, industrial, retail and
residential properties. There are no material teggment transactions. See Note 17 to the Consafidahancial Statements for a summar
the rental income, net operating income and a$setach reportable segment.
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In addition to this Annual Report, we file or fushiquarterly and current reports, proxy statemandsother information with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC"). Alluloents that we file or furnish with the SEC are madailable as soon as reasonably
practicable free of charge on our corporate wehsitéch is http://www.highwoods.com. The information this website is not and should
be considered part of this Annual Report and ismagrporated by reference in this document. Thedsite is only intended to be an inactive
textual reference. You may also read and copy acymient that we file or furnish at the public refege facilities of the SEC at 100 F. Str
N.E., Room 1580, Washington, D.C. 20549. PleaddalwISEC at (800) 7:-0330 for further information about the public nefiece facilities.
These documents also may be accessed through @is 8lEctronic data gathering, analysis and rettisystem (“EDGAR?”) via electronic
means, including the SEC’s home page on the Intéhtip://www.sec.gov). In addition, since somepaf securities are listed on the NYSE,
you can read similar information about us at tHfece$ of the NYSE at 20 Broad Street, New York, Néark 10005.

During 2006, we filed unqualified Section 303A darations with the NYSE. We have also filed the@Bnd CFO certifications
required by Sections 302 and 906 of the Sarbanésy@ct of 2002 as exhibits to our 2006 Annual Re&po

Customers

The following table sets forth information concegithe 20 largest customers of our Wholly OwnedpPrites (including properties
classified as held for sale) as of December 316200

Percent of Total

Annualized Cast Annualized Cast Weighted Average
Rental Revenue Rental Revenue .

Rental Remaining Lease

Customer Square Fee @ @ Term in Years

(in thousands)

Federal Governmel 1,532,00! $ 26,48¢ 6.7%% 8.1
AT&T 672,98t 12,70 3.2t 2.1
PricewaterhouseCoope 332,93: 8,47¢ 2.17 3.3
State of Georgi 360,68: 7,252 1.8¢ 3.2
T-Mobile USA 205,85! 5,28 1.3¢ 7.C
Syniverse Technologies, In 198,75( 4,581 1.17 9.8
US Airways 293,000 3,99¢ 1.0Z 0.8
Volvo 278,94( 3,974 1.0z 3.3
Lockton Companie 151,07¢ 3,71z 0.9t 8.2
Northern Telecon 246,00( 3,651 0.94 1.2
SCI Services, Inc 162,78- 3,49¢ 0.9C 10.€
Metropolitan Life Insuranc 174,94« 3,437 0.8¢ 7.C
BB&T 209,23 3,131 0.8C 5.€
Fluor Enterprises, Inc 147,04: 2,65¢ 0.6¢ 4.8
Jacol's Engineering Group, In 181,79« 2,53¢ 0.6t 9.C
Vanderbilt University 126,61 2,38¢ 0.61 8.8
Lifepoint Corporate Service 122,70: 2,351 0.6( 4.5
Wachovia 97,79: 2,10¢ 0.54 3.3
Icon Clinical Researc 101,24¢ 2,06¢ 0.5¢ 6.1
The Martin Agency 118,51¢ 2,03¢ 0.52 10.2
Total @ 5,714,91. $ 106,32! 27.2% 5.8

(1) Annualized Cash Rental Revenue is cash reewanue (base rent plus additional rent based oletieéof operating expenses,
excluding straigl-line rent) for the month of December 2006 multigltey 12.
(2) Excludes customers that may lease space in joimtive properties that are consolidated but aréVtatlly Owned Propertie:

4
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Operating Strategy

Efficient, Customer Service-Oriented Organization. We provide a complete line of real estate sesvioeour customers and third
parties. We believe that our in-house developrmaaguisition, construction management, leasing aodgrty management services allow us
to respond to the many demands of our existingpatential customer base. We provide our customérsaast-effective services such as
build-to-suit construction and space modificatimetjuding tenant improvements and expansions. titaa, the breadth of our capabilities
and resources provides us with market informatioingenerally available. We believe that the opagaéfficiencies achieved through our
fully integrated organization also provide a conitpet advantage in setting our lease rates andngriother services.

Capital Recycling Program.Our strategy has been to focus our real estateitésiin markets where we believe our extensiaalo
knowledge gives us a competitive advantage ovargtial estate developers and operators. Througbapital recycling program, we
generally seek to:

» selectively dispose of non-core properties in otdarse the net proceeds to improve our balanaet flyereducing outstanding
debt and Preferred Stock balances, to make newgtiments or for other purpost

* engage in the development of office and indusfriajects in our existing geographic markets, pritpan suburban in-fill
business parks; ar

* acquire selective suburban office and industriapprties in our existing geographic markets atgsriselow replacement cost that
offer attractive returns

Our capital recycling activities benefit from oochl market presence and knowledge. Because ogiativofficers have significant real
estate experience in their respective markets,elieye that we are in a better position to evaleatgtal recycling opportunities than many
our competitors. In addition, our relationshipshnaur customers and those tenants at propertiesHizh we conduct third-party fee-based
services may lead to development projects wheretteggnts seek new space.

The following table summarizes the changes in sgt@otage in our in-service Wholly Owned Propertasing the past three years:

2006 2005 2004
(rentable square feet in thousands)

Office, Industrial and Retail Properties:

Dispositions (2,982 (4,647 (1,269
Contributions to Joint Ventures — — (1,270 @
Developments Placed In-Serviée 33 71z 141
Redevelopment/Othe (74) (133 (22)
Acquisitions 70 — 1,357
Net Change of In-Service Wholly Owned Properties (2,959 (4,067) (1,056

(1) Includes 1,270,000 square feet of propertigdriando, Florida acquired from MG-HIW, LLC in Md&r2004 and contributed to HIW-
KC Orlando, LLC in June 200

(2) We consider a development project to be stadailiupon the earlier of the original projected ifitziion date or the date such project is
at least 95% occupie

Conservative and Flexible Balance SheetWe are committed to maintaining a conservatiwt féexible balance sheet that allows us to
capitalize on favorable development and acquisibpportunities as they arise. We expect to meesbart- and long-term liquidity
requirements through a combination of any one arenod:

» cash flow from operating activitie
» borrowings under our credit facilitie
» the issuance of unsecured de¢
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» the issuance of secured de
» the issuance of equity securities by both the Comaad the Operating Partnerst
» the selective disposition of n-core land and other assets; :

e private equity capital raised from unrelated joiahture partners involving the sale or contributsdour Wholly Owned
Properties, development projects or developmetat

Geographic Diversification. We do not believe that our operations are sigaifily dependent upon any particular geographidketar
Today, including our various joint ventures, ourtfmio consists primarily of office and industriptoperties throughout the Southeast, retalil
and office properties in Kansas City, Missouriliing one significant mixed retail and office pesfy, and office properties in Des Moaines,
lowa.

Competition

Our properties compete for tenants with similaipernties located in our markets primarily on theibaslocation, rent, services
provided and the design and condition of the fae#li We also compete with other REITs, finanaialitutions, pension funds, partnerships,
individual investors and others when attemptingdquire, develop and operate properties.

Employees
As of December 31, 2006, the Company had 476 erapky

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

An investment in our equity and debt securitieolngs various risks. All investors should carefudbnsider the following risk factors
conjunction with the other information containedtirs Annual Report before trading in our secusitié any of these risks actually occur, our
business, operating results, prospects and finlaommalition could be harmed.

Our performance is subject to risks associated witheal estate investment We are a real estate company that derives masirof
income from the ownership and operation of our props. There are a number of factors that mayraéieaffect the income that our
properties generate, including the following:

» Economic Downturns. Downturns in the national economy, particulanythe Southeast, generally will negatively impaet t
demand and rental rates for our proper!

* Oversupply of Space An oversupply of space in our markets would tgfliccause rental rates and occupancies to decline,
making it more difficult for us to lease space thtaative rental rate:

» Competitive Properties. If our properties are not as attractive to tesdim terms of rent, services, condition or loca}ias
properties owned by our competitors, we could tes@nts to those properties or receive lower raatab.

» Renovation Costs In order to maintain the quality of our propestand successfully compete against other propewies
periodically must spend money to maintain, repaé eenovate our propertie

» Customer Risk. Our performance depends on our ability to colteat from our customers. Our financial conditiaulcl be
adversely affected by financial difficulties exygerced by a major customer, or by a number of smalistomers, including
bankruptcies, insolvencies or general downturrisuginess

6
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Reletting Costs.As leases expire, we try to either relet the spadhe existing customer or attract a new custamerccupy the
space. In either case, we likely will incur sigo#nt costs in the process, including potentiallyssantial tenant improvement
expense or lease incentives. In addition, if mar&ets have declined since the time the expiriagdevas executed, the terms of
any new lease likely will not be as favorable tasshe terms of the expiring lease, thereby redyitie rental revenue earned
from that space

Regulatory Costs. There are a number of government regulationgydieg zoning, tax and accessibility laws, thatlsgp the
ownership and operation of our properties. Compkanith existing and newly adopted regulations memyuire us to incur
significant costs on our properti¢

Rising Operating Costs. Costs of operating our properties, such as igatetaxes, utilities, insurance, maintenanceotimer
costs, can rise faster than our ability to increasg¢al income. While we do receive some additisaat from our tenants that is
based on recovering a portion of operating expemggaerally increased operating expenses will megjgtimpact our net
operating income. Our revenues and expense reesvame subject to longer term leases and may nquibkly increased
sufficient to recover an increase in operating <asid expense

Fixed Nature of Costs. Most of the costs associated with owning and aijp&y a property are not necessarily reduced when
circumstances such as market factors and competiiase a reduction in rental revenues from thpautg. Increases in such
fixed operating expenses, such as increased red égxes or insurance costs, would reduce ounoeme.

Environmental Problems. Federal, state and local laws and regulatioraing to the protection of the environment may rexje
current or previous owner or operator of real propt investigate and clean up hazardous or terlistances or petroleum
product releases at the property. The clean ugpearostly. The presence of or failure to cleanat@mination may adversely
affect our ability to sell or lease a property @bbrrow funds using a property as collate

Competition . A number of other major real estate investors wignificant capital compete with us. These combqstinclude
publicly-traded REITSs, private REITS, private real estatestors and private institutional investment fur

Future acquisitions and development properties mafail to perform in accordance with our expectationsand may require
renovation and development costs exceeding our esfites.In the normal course of business, we typically eatd potential acquisitions,
enter into non-binding letters of intent, and matyany time, enter into contracts to acquire addél properties. Our acquisition investments
may fail to perform in accordance with our expeotat due to lease up risk, renovation cost riskkather factors. In addition, the renovation
and improvement costs we incur in bringing an asglproperty up to market standards may exceeésiimates. We may not have the
financial resources to make suitable acquisitian@oovations on favorable terms or at all.

In addition to acquisitions, we periodically coraidieveloping and constructing properties. Riskseiated with development and
construction activities include:

the unavailability of favorable financin

construction costs exceeding original estime

construction and lea-up delays resulting in increased debt service esgpand construction costs; ¢

lower than anticipated occupancy rates and rerasaivly completed property causing a propertyetaitprofitable

7
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If new developments are financed through conswadtans, there is a risk that, upon completionarfstruction, permanent financing
for newly developed properties will not be avaibl will be available only on disadvantageous terbevelopment activities are also suk
to risks relating to our ability to obtain, or dgdan obtaining, all necessary zoning, land-uséding, occupancy and other required
governmental and utility company authorizations.

llliquidity of real estate investments and the taxeffect of dispositions could significantly impede ur ability to sell assets or to
respond to favorable or adverse changes in the p@rfmance of our properties.Because real estate investments are relativedyiti our
ability to promptly sell one or more propertiesour portfolio in response to changing economicfficial and investment conditions is
limited. In addition, we have a significant amoohmortgage debt under which we could incur sigaifit prepayment penalties if such loans
were paid off in connection with the sale of theleiying real estate assets. Such loans, evesiuiaesd by a buyer rather than being paid off,
could reduce the sale proceeds we receive if wkesath assets.

We intend to continue to sell some of our propsrimethe future. However, we cannot predict whethewill be able to sell any
property for the price or on the terms set by usylwether the price or other terms offered by speative purchaser would be acceptable to
us. We also cannot predict the length of time nee¢ddind a willing purchaser and to close the ssdla property.

Certain of our properties have low tax bases radath their fair value, and accordingly, the sdleuch assets would generate signific
taxable gains unless we sold such propertiesax-drée exchange under Section 1031 of the IntdReaknue Code or another tax-free or tax-
deferred transaction. For an exchange to qualifyefe-deferred treatment under Section 1031, th@meeeds from the sale of a property
must be held by an escrow agent until applied tdvwlae purchase of real estate qualifying for gafedral. Given the competition for
properties meeting our investment criteria, thenald be a delay in reinvesting such proceeds. Axigydin using the reinvestment proceed
acquire additional income producing assets woulldee our income from operations.

In addition, the sale of certain properties acquirethe J.C. Nichols Company merger in July 1988luding assets acquired in
connection with Section 1031 exchanges with pragedriginally acquired in the J.C. Nichols Compamgrger, would require us to pay
corporate-level tax under Section 1374 of the hrdkRevenue Code on the built-in gain relatinguchsproperties unless we sold such
properties in a tax-free exchange under Sectiol bd3he Internal Revenue Code or another tax-draex-deferred transaction. This tax will
no longer apply after July 2008 because we willehawned the assets for 10 years or more. As atfesiimay choose not to sell these
properties even if management determines that awsethe would otherwise be in the best interestaiotockholders. We have no current
plans to dispose of any properties in a mannentbald require us to pay corporate-level tax urdection 1374. However, we would
consider doing so if our management determinesatisate of a property would be in our best interbased on consideration of a number of
factors, including the price being offered for flreperty, the operating performance of the propéhiy tax consequences of the sale and
factors and circumstances surrounding the propsaled

Because holders of our Common Units, including som& our officers and directors, may suffer adverséax consequences upon
the sale of some of our properties, it is possibthat we may sometimes make decisions that are nat your best interest. Holders of
Common Units may suffer adverse tax consequenams oy sale of certain properties. Therefore, hgldéé Common Units, including
certain of our officers and directors, may havéedént objectives than our stockholders regardimgappropriate pricing and timing of a
property’s sale. Although we are the sole geneaisther of the Operating Partnership and have thkisixe authority to sell all of our
individual Wholly Owned Properties, officers andeditors who hold Common Units may seek to influame@ot to sell certain properties
even if such sale might be financially advantagegoustockholders or influence us to enter intodaferred exchanges with the proceeds of
such sales when such a reinvestment might notwibeibe in our best interests.

The success of our joint venture activity dependspon our ability to work effectively with financiall y sound partners.Instead of
owning properties directly, we have in some cagessted, and may continue to invest, as a paringico-venturer with one or more third
parties. Under certain circumstances, this typewfstment may involve risks not otherwise presimatuding the possibility that a partner or
co-venturer might become bankrupt or that a parnen-venturer might have business interests alsgaconsistent with ours. Also, such a
partner or co-venturer may take action contrarguoinstructions or requests or contrary to pravisiin our joint venture agreements that
could harm us.
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Our insurance coverage on our properties may be irdequate.We carry comprehensive insurance on all of our @rigs, including
insurance for liability, fire, windstorms, flood éfusiness interruption. Insurance companies, hewémit coverage against certain types of
losses, such as losses due to terrorist acts, naiedtorms and toxic mold. Thus, we may not haagiiance coverage, or sufficient
insurance coverage, against certain types of laas#¥or there may be decreases in the insuranegage available. Should an uninsured loss
or a loss in excess of our insured limits occurcaeld lose all or a portion of the capital we haweested in a property or properties, as well
as the anticipated future revenue from the proparfyroperties. If any of our properties were tpenence a catastrophic loss, it could disrupt
our operations, delay revenue and result in largemses to repair or rebuild the property. Suclmesveould adversely affect our financial
condition. Our existing property, casualty andilibinsurance policies are scheduled to expireJane 30, 2007.

Our use of debt to finance our operations could haa material adverse effect on our cash flow and dity to make distributions.
We are subject to risks normally associated witht fieancing, such as the sufficiency of cash flowneet required payment obligations,
difficulty in complying with financial ratios andtleer covenants and the ability to refinance existirdebtedness. Increases in interest rate
our variable rate debt would increase our intezgpense. If we fail to comply with the financiatios and other covenants under our credit
facilities, we would likely not be able to borrowafurther amounts under such facilities, whichldadversely affect our ability to fund our
operations, and our lenders could accelerate oulistg debt.

We generally do not intend to reserve funds toeetkisting secured or unsecured debt upon mat¥ke/may not be able to repay,
refinance or extend any or all of our debt at nmigtar upon any acceleration. If any refinancinglame at higher interest rates, the increased
interest expense could adversely affect our cast eind ability to pay dividends to stockholdersy/uich refinancing could also impose
tighter financial ratios and other covenants tleatrict our ability to take actions that could athise be in our stockholderbest interest, suc
as funding new development activity, making oppaigtic acquisitions, repurchasing our securitiepaying distributions. If we do not meet
our mortgage financing obligations, any propersiesuring such indebtedness could be foreclosedluich would have a material adverse
effect on our cash flow and ability to make disttibns.

We may be subject to taxation as a regular corporan if we fail to maintain our REIT status . Our failure to qualify as a REIT for
income tax purposes would have serious adverseeqaeaces to our stockholders. Many of the requinésrfer taxation as a REIT are higl
technical and complex and depend upon various daotatters and circumstances that may not be gntiighin our control. For example, to
qualify as a REIT, at least 95.0% of our gross imeanust come from certain sources that are itemiz#fte REIT tax laws. We are also
required to distribute to stockholders at leas099of our REIT taxable income, excluding capitahgaThe fact that we hold substantially all
of our assets through the Operating Partnershiptarstibsidiaries further complicates the applaratf the REIT requirements. Even a
technical or inadvertent mistake could jeopardi@eREIT status. Furthermore, Congress and thernatdétevenue Service (“IRS”) might
change the tax laws and regulations and the comigit issue new rulings that make it more difficolt impossible, for us to remain qualified
as a REIT. If we fail to qualify as a REIT, we wdlde subject to federal income tax at regular c@afeorates. Also, unless the IRS granted us
relief under certain statutory provisions, we worddchain disqualified as a REIT for four years fallog the year we first failed to qualify. If
we failed to qualify as a REIT, we would have ty ganificant income taxes and would, therefore/ehi@ss cash available for investment
to pay dividends to stockholders. This would likebve a significant adverse effect on the valueunfsecurities. In addition, if we lost our
REIT status, we would no longer be required to gigidends to stockholders.

Because provisions contained in Maryland law, ourlarter and our bylaws may have an anti-takeover effct, investors may be
prevented from receiving a “control premium” for th eir shares.Provisions contained in our charter and bylaws el a8 Maryland genet
corporation law may have aritikeover effects that delay, defer or prevent adakr attempt, and thereby prevent stockholders fexeiving
a “control premium” for their shares. For examplhese provisions may defer or prevent tender oftareur Common Stock or purchases of
large blocks of our Common Stock, thus limiting tpportunities for our stockholders to receive enium for their Common Stock over
then-prevailing market prices. These provisionduide the following:

»  Ownership limit . Our charter prohibits direct, indirect or constive ownership by any person or entity of morentBa88% of our
outstanding capital stock. Any attempt to own ansfer shares of our capital stock in excess ob#eership limit without the
consent of our Board of Directors will be vo
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» Preferred Stock. Our charter authorizes our Board of Directorissne Preferred Stock in one or more classes aestablish the
preferences and rights of any class of Preferredk3ssued. These actions can be taken withoukistdder approval. The
issuance of Preferred Stock could have the effiedelaying or preventing someone from taking cdnifas, even if a change in
control were in our stockholders' best inter

» Staggered board. Our Board of Directors is divided into three cles. As a result, each director generally serves foree-year
term. This staggering of our Board may discourdfgr®for us or make an acquisition of us moreidift, even when an
acquisition is in the best interest of our stocklieos.

» Maryland control share acquisition statute. Maryland's control share acquisition statute igspo us, which means that persons,
entities or related groups that acquire more tt@# af our Common Stock may not be able to vote sxdess shares under
certain circumstances if such shares were acqirrede or more transactions not approved by at teasthirds of our
outstanding Common Stock held by disinterestedkbimlders.

» Maryland unsolicited takeover statute.Under Maryland law, our Board of Directors couldptlvarious anti-takeover provisions
without the consent of stockholders. The adoptiosuch measures could discourage offers for usakenan acquisition of us
more difficult, even when an acquisition is in thest interest of our stockholde

* Anti-takeover protections of Operating Partnershipagreement. Upon a change in control of the Company, thetéuhi
partnership agreement of the Operating Partnerslipires certain acquirers to maintain an umbpanership real estate
investment trust (“UPREIT”) structure with termdedst as favorable to the limited partners acarently in place. For instance,
the acquirer would be required to preserve thetdichpartner’s right to continue to hold tax-defdrpartnership interests that are
redeemable for capital stock of the acquirer. Sohange of control transactions involving the Conypeauld require the approv
of two-thirds of the limited partners of the OpéargtPartnership (other than the Company). Theseigioms may make a change
of control transaction involving the Company mooenplicated and therefore might decrease the likelihof such a transaction
occurring, even if such a transaction would béhmhest interest of the Compis stockholders

» Dilutive effect of stockholder rights plan. We have a stockholder rights plan, which is autfyescheduled to expire on
October 6, 2007, pursuant to which our existinglkdtolders would have the ability to acquire addiibCommon Stock at a
significant discount in the event a person or gratipmpts to acquire us on terms that our Boaiirgfctors does not approve.
These rights are designed to deter a hostile taemyincreasing the takeover cost. As a resutth sights could discourage offers
for us or make an acquisition of us more difficeken when an acquisition is in the best interéetio stockholders. The rights
plan should not interfere with any merger or othiesiness combination the Board of Directors appg@iece we may generally
terminate the plan at any time at nominal ¢

Material weaknesses in our internal control over fnancial reporting could directly or indirectly cause a material misstatement of
our financial statements. Additionally, no assurane can be provided that we will be able to preventraletect material misstatements t
our financial statements in the future.Material weaknesses in our internal control ovearficial reporting could cause a material
misstatement of our financial statements. Our irgkcontrol over financial reporting was not effeetat December 31, 2006. For a
description of the material weaknesses that exissenf such date, see “ltem 9A. Controls and Prnoesd’ Although we have taken various
measures to improve our internal control over faiahreporting, we have not yet completed all of planned remediation activities. As a
result, no assurance can be provided that we willtile to prevent or detect material misstatentersir financial statements in the future.
Furthermore, because of the material weaknessthakia existed in our internal control over finateceporting, we cannot assure you that
our disclosure controls and procedures are cuyreffictive.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Wholly Owned Properties

As of December 31, 2006, we owned all of the owmipreterests in 322 in-service office, industaald retail properties, encompassing
approximately 26.9 million rentable square feet] &89 rental residential units, including 0.3 roitlirentable square feet with a net book
value of $19.8 million that was classified as heldsale. The following table sets forth informatiabout our Wholly Owned Properties
(including properties classified as held for salefl our development properties as of December@®16 and 2005:

December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005
Percent Percent
Rentable Leased/ Rentable Leased/
Square Feet Pre-Leasec Square Feet Pre-Leasec
In-Service:
Office ® 19,244,00 89.(% 21,412,00 87.5%%
Industrial 6,281,00! 91.7 6,977,00! 92.4
Retail@ 1,327,00! 95.7 1,416,00! 97.t
Total or Weighted Average 26,852,000 90.(% 29,805,000 89.1%
Development:
Completed—Not Stabilized®
Office ® 504,00( 62.£% — —
Industrial 418,00( 44.C — —
Retail — — 9,60( 87.(%
Total or Weighted Average 922,00( 54.2% 9,60( 87.(%
In Process®
Office @ 1,357,00! 55.2% 533,00( 37.2%
Industrial 383,00( — — —
Retail — — — —
For Sale Residenti&) 139 unit: — — —
Total or Weighted Average® 1,740,00 43.1% 533,00( 37.2%
Total:
Office @ 21,105,00 21,945,00
Industrial 7,082,001 6,977,00!
Retail @ 1,327,00! 1,425,60!
Total or Weighted Average® ©& 29,514,00 30,347,60

(1) Substantially all of our office properties are Ilteghin suburban market

(2) Excludes 430,000 square feet of basement spabe i@duntry Club Plaza and other Kansas City rptaiberties

(3) Rentable square feet excludes the 109 residemiits.

(4) We consider a development project to be stadgiliupon the earlier of the original projected iitediion date or the date such project is
at least 95% occupie

(5) December 31, 2005 excludes a 156-unit multitfanesidential property under development that &89% owned and which was
consolidated (see Notes 1, 2 and 4 to the Congetidainancial Statements). This development comettirclate 2004 and was sold in
late 2006

(6) InJanuary 2007, we executed a joint ventureagent for this development. We now have a 93%est and will consolidate this joint
venture. There are currently 309 reservationstferli39 units. Reservations are fully refundabld amtl 2007 at which time binding
sales contracts will be accepted and nefitindable deposits will be retained. Residentigisuand reservation numbers are not part ¢
In-Process total or weighted average for square febpea-leasing percentag

(7) Excludes the following joint venture properttbat are consolidated but are not Wholly OwnedPrites: (1) one office property that
was sold to SF-HIW Harborview Plaza, LP, a 20% avjoint venture, but which is accounted for asnarfficing under SFAS No. 66
and thus remains consolidated as described in Bltiighe Consolidated Financial Statements, anéb(®)office properties owned by
HighwoodsMarkel Associates, LLC, a 50% owned joint ventuvhich is consolidated beginning January 1, 200@lessribed in Note
1 and 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statem
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The following table sets forth geographic inforratiabout our in service Wholly Owned propertiesl(iding properties classified as
held for sale) at December 31, 2006

Rentable Percentage of Annualized Cash Rental Revenu@)

Market Square Feet Occupancy Office Industrial Retail Total
Raleigh, NC2 3,810,001 86.1% 14.€% — — 14.€%
Atlanta, GA 5,515,001 94.C 10.2 4.C% — 14.5
Kansas City, MO 2,225,009 90.1 4.3 — 9.7% 14.C
Tampa, FL 2,332,001 97.7 13.2 — — 13.2
Nashville, TN 2,876,00! 91.€ 13.C — — 13.C
Piedmont Triad, NG 5,195,00I 88.7 7.C 3.7 — 10.7
Richmond, VA 2,024,001 89.¢ 8.¢ — — 8.9
Memphis, TN 1,197,00! 91.¢ 5.€ — — 5.€
Greenville, SC 1,108,00i 75.% 34 0.1 — 315
Orlando, FL 218,00( 100.( 1.2 — — 1.2
Columbia, SC 252,00( 48.7 0.t — — 0.5
Other 100,00( 73.€ 0.t — — 0.5
Total ®) 26,852,00 90.(% 82.5% 7.8% 9.7% 100.(%

(1) Annualized Cash Rental Revenue is cash reewanue (base rent plus additional rent based oletieéof operating expenses,
excluding straigl-line rent) for the month of December 2006 multiglkey 12.

(2) The Raleigh market encompasses the Raleigh, Dur@any,and Research Triangle metropolitan ¢

(3) Excludes 430,000 square feet of basement spabe i@duntry Club Plaza and other Kansas City rptaiberties

(4) The Piedmont Triad market encompasses the GreemahdrWinsto-Salem metropolitan are

(5) Excludes the following joint venture properttbat are consolidated but are not Wholly OwnedPrites: (1) one office property that
was sold to SF-HIW Harborview Plaza, LP, a 20% advjeint venture, but which is accounted for asnaficing under SFAS No. 66
and thus remains consolidated as described in Bltig¢he Consolidated Financial Statements, anéb(®)office properties owned by
HighwoodsMarkel Associates, LLC, a 50% owned joint ventuvhich is consolidated beginning January 1, 200@lessribed in Note
1 and 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statem:

Development Land

We wholly owned 719 acres of development land d3exfember 31, 2006. We estimate that we can dewagpmximately 5.3 million
square feet of office and industrial space on ph@imately 435 acres that we consider core leng tholdings for our future development
needs. Our development land is zoned and avaitablefice and industrial development, and neatly#the land has utility infrastructure in
place. We believe that our commercially zoned amehaumbered land in existing business parks gisesdevelopment advantage over o
commercial real estate development companies iryrohour markets. Any future development, howeigdependent on the demand for
office and industrial space in the area, the akidita of favorable financing and other factorsdamo assurance can be given that any
construction will take place on the developmentldn addition, if construction is undertaken oa ttevelopment land, we will be subject to
the risks associated with construction activitiasluding the risks that occupancy rates and rahgsnewly completed property may not be
sufficient to make the property profitable, constion costs may exceed original estimates and naetgin and lease-up may not be
completed on schedule, resulting in increased sievice expense and construction expense. We reaydalelop properties other than office
and industrial on certain parcels with unrelatédtjgenture partners. We consider approximately 84s of our development land at
December 31, 2006 to be non-core assets becasdarttiis not necessary for our foreseeable futevelopment needs. We are actively
working to dispose of such non-core developmerd thnough sales to other parties or contributi@n®int ventures. Approximately 108
acres with a net book value of $14.4 million ardemcontract to be sold and are included in “Retdte and other assets, net, held for sale”
our Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31,.2006
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Other Properties

As of December 31, 2006, we owned an interest #%@0Oless) in 70 in-service properties. These ptageinclude primarily office and
industrial buildings encompassing approximatelyriiidion rentable square feet and 418 rental regideunits. The following table sets forth
information about the stabilized in-service joieiture properties by segment and by geographitiéocat December 31, 2006:

Rentable Percentage of Annualized Cash Rental Revenue (1)
Market Square Fee Occupancy Office Industrial Retail Multi- Family Total
Des Moines, lowa 2,475,000 93.6%®  28.4% 4.2% 1.C% 3.4%  37.%
Orlando, Floride 1,686,00! 94.7 27.2 — — — 27.2
Atlanta, Georgit 835,00t 95.C 11.4 — — — 11.4
Kansas City, Missoul 721,00( 82.2 8.8 — — — 8.8
Richmond, Virginia® 413,00( 100.C 5.C — — — 5.C
Raleigh, North Carolin&® 455,00( 99.¢ 3.7 — — — 3.7
Piedmont Triad, North Carolin& 364,00( 100.( 3.6 — — — 3.€
Tampa, Floridd" 205,00 100.( 2.C — — — 2.C
Charlotte, North Carolin 148,00( 100.C 0.8 — — — 0.8
Other 110,00( 100.( 0.5 — — — 0.5
Total 7,412,00I 94.5% 91.4% 4.2% 1.C% 3.4% 100.(%

(1) Annualized Cash Rental Revenue is cash reewanue (base rent plus additional rent based oletieéof operating expenses,
excluding straigl-line rent) for the month of December 2006 multigltey 12.

(2) Excludes 418 residential uni

(3) Excludes residential occupancy percentage of 95

(4) We own a 50.0% interest in this joint venturéghwoods-Markel Associates, LLC) which is consatied (see Notes 1 and 2 to the
Consolidated Financial Statemen

(5) The Raleigh market encompasses the Raleigh, Dur@any,and Research Triangle metropolitan ¢

(6) The Piedmont Triad market encompasses the GreemahdrWinsto-Salem metropolitan are

(7) We own a 20.0% interest in this joint ventus&{HIW Harborview Plaza, LP) which is consolidatsde Notes 1 and 3 to the
Consolidated Financial Statemen

In addition to the properties described above fd3ecember 31, 2006, two joint ventures in whichiveéd 50.0% interests were
developing a 332-unit residential property and t#edeloped a 31,000 square foot office building thas completed but had not yet achieved
stabilized occupancy. The following table setsHanformation about these properties at Decembg2B06 ($ in thousands):

Actual or
Anticipated Investment Estimated Estimated
Rentable Completion Stabilization
% Square Total at
Property Ownership Market Feet Investment 12/31/200¢  Pre-leasinc Date Date
Brickstone 50.(% Des Moine 31,000 $ 5,14¢ 3$ 4,34: 35% 4Q0¢ 4Q07
Weston Lakesid 50.(% Raleigl 332 unit: 33,20( 31,10 43% 1Q07%(1) 1Q0¢
Total 31,000 $ 38,34¢ $35,44%

(1) Estimated Completion Date is the date thedadtis expected to be delivered; currently theeek86 units leased. In 2006, the Weston
Lakeside joint venture entered into a contracelbts a third party all of the assets, which sadeurred in February 2007, as described
in more detail in Note 2 to the Consolidated FinaihStatements
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Lease Expirations

The following tables set forth scheduled lease ratioins for existing leases at our Wholly Ownedprties (including properties
classified as held for sale but excluding residgninits) as of December 31, 2006. The tables dell) expirations of leases in properties
that are completed but not yet stabilized andt{@)effects of any early renewals exercised by tisras of December 31, 2006.

Office Properties®;

Percentage of
Leased

Rentable Square Footag¢
Square Feet
Subject to Represented by
Expiring
Lease Expiring Leases Expiring Leases
2007 1,554,02! 9.C%
2008 2,145,07. 12.4
2009 2,799,32 16.1
2010 2,323,59: 13.4
2011 2,804,72. 16.2
2012 1,731,14 10.C
2013 838,92! 4.8
2014 550,00¢ 3.2
2015 667,41: 3.8
2016 729,11: 4.2
Thereafte 1,198,96: 6.8
17,342,30 100.(%
Industrial Properties:
Percentage of
Rentable Leased
Square Fee Square Footage
Subject to Represented by
Expiring
Lease Expiring Leases Expiring Leases
2007@ 1,011,15! 17.(%
2008 1,214,38I 20.2
2009 961,85! 16.2
2010 558,58 94
2011 639,02 10.€
2012 257,89! 4.3
2013 166,28 2.8
2014 212,96! 3.6
2015 169,88 2.9
2016 264,59° 4.5
Thereafte 486,15( 8.2
5,942,78; 100.(%

Percent of
Average Annualized Cast
Annualized Cast Annual
Rental Rate Rental Revenue
Rental Reye_nue Per Square Repres_e_nted by
Under Expiring Foot for Expiring
Leases? Expirations Leases?
($ in thousands)
$ 28,02% $ 18.0¢ 8.7%
39,79: 18.5¢ 12.4
53,37 19.07 16.5
46,88¢ 20.1¢ 14.€
51,22( 18.2¢ 15.¢
30,331 17.52 9.4
15,14t 18.0¢ 4.7
10,66¢ 19.4(C 3.3
13,42] 20.1z2 4.2
13,88: 19.0¢ 4.3
19,25! 16.0¢ 6.C
$ 322,01t $ 18.5i 100.(%
Percent of
Average Annualized Cast
Annualized Cast Annual
Rental Rate Rental Revenue
Rental Revenue Represented by
Under Expiring Per Square Expiring
Foot for
Leases?) Expirations Leases?)
($ in thousands)
$ 5,801 $ 574 19.1%
5,58¢ 4.6( 18.5
5,22¢ 5.4z 17.1
3,00¢ 5.3¢ 9.8
3,12: 4.8¢ 10.2
1,281 4.9¢ 4.2
1,032 6.21 3.4
1,151 5.4C 3.8
69t 4.0¢ 2.3
88:< 3.34 2.9
2,724 5.6( 8.9
$ 30,52: $ b5.14 100.(%

(1) Excludes the following joint venture properttbat are consolidated but are not Wholly OwnedPrites: (1) one office property that
was sold to SF-HIW Harborview Plaza, LP, a 20% advjeint venture, but which is accounted for asnaficing under SFAS No. 66
and thus remains consolidated as described in Bltighe Consolidated Financial Statements anéb(&)office properties owned by
HighwoodsMarkel Associates, LLC, a 50% owned joint ventuvhich is consolidated beginning January 1, 200@lessribed in Note
1 and 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statem:

(2) Annualized Cash Rental Revenue is cash reewanue (base rent plus additional rent based oletieéof operating expenses,
excluding straigl-line rent) for the month of December 2006 multigltey 12.

(3) Includes 68,000 square feet of leases that arenoordf-to-month basis, which represent 0.2% of total annedlizash rental revent

(4) Includes 86,000 square feet of leases that arenoordf-to-month basis, which represent 0.1% of total annedlizash rental revent
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Retail Properties:

Percentage of Average Anni‘;f;;é (éfasr
Rentable Leased Annualized Cast Annual
Square Fee Square Footage Rental Rate Rental Revenue
. Rental Revenue Represented b
Sé;%ﬁ;ﬁgto Represented by Under Expiring PgLOStqu:)é:re pExpiring Y
Lease Expiring Leases Expiring Leases Leases®) Expirations Leases®)
($ in thousands)
2007@ 65,25¢ 5.1% $ 1,771 $ 27.1¢ 4.7%
2008 126,55( 10.C 3,65¢ 28.91 9.7
2009 142,86¢ 11.c 4,032 28.22 10.7
2010 98,94 7.8 3,43¢ 34.7¢ 9.1
2011 71,00¢ 5.6 2,07t 29.22 5.5
2012 143,79: 11.c 4,322 30.0¢ 11.5
2013 55,90: 4.4 2,174 38.8¢ 5.8
2014 86,27« 6.8 1,67 19.3¢ 4.4
2015 130,12 10.2 4,232 32.52 11.2
2016 67,22¢ 5.3 2,63¢ 39.2¢ 7.C
Thereatftel 281,83° 22.2 7,65¢ 27.1°F 20.4
1,269,78: 100.(% $ 37,66 $ 29.6¢ 100.(%
Total @
Percent of
Perfsgi%e of ) AA?JSSIB Annualized Cast
S(?l?:rtgtl)zlget Square Footag¢ ,:mutalllzed Cast Rental Rate I;ental Re;/ednl;e
3 ental Revenue epresente
SEL;(%%?;O Represented by Under Expiring Piggﬁflé?re FI)Expiring Y
Lease Expiring Leases Expiring Leases LeasesV) Expirations Leases®
($ in thousands)
2007@ 2,630,43! 10.7% $ 35,60¢ $ 13.5¢ 9.1%
2008 3,486,01! 14.Z 49,04( 14.07 12.€
2009 3,904,05I 16.C 62,63: 16.0¢ 16.C
2010 2,981,111 12.1 53,33: 17.8¢ 13.7
2011 3,514,75I 14.5 56,41¢ 16.0¢ 14 .4
2012 2,132,83! 8.7 35,94¢ 16.8¢ 9.2
2013 1,061,111 4.3 18,35: 17.2¢ 4.7
2014 849,24° 3.5 13,49: 15.8¢ 3.5
2015 967,42 3.9 18,35¢ 18.9i 4.7
2016 1,060,93: 4.3 17,40« 16.4(C 4.t
Thereafte 1,966,94! 8.C 29,63( 15.0¢ 7.€
24,554,87. 100.(% $ 390,200 $ 15.8¢ 100.(%

(1) Annualized Cash Rental Revenue is cash reenvainue (base rent plus additional rent based oletieé of operating expenses,
excluding straigl-line rent) for the month of December 2006 multigltey 12.

(2) Includes 3,000 square feet of leases that aremordl-to-month basis or less than 0.1% of total annualizsth cental revenu

(3) Excludes the following joint venture properttbat are consolidated but are not Wholly OwnedPrites: (1) one office property that
was sold to SF-HIW Harborview Plaza, LP, a 20% advjeint venture, but which is accounted for asnaficing under SFAS No. 66
and thus remains consolidated as described in Bltig¢he Consolidated Financial Statements anéb(®)office properties owned by
HighwoodsMarkel Associates, LLC, a 50% owned joint ventuvhich is consolidated beginning January 1, 200@lessribed in Note
1 and 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statem:

(4) Includes 157,000 square feet of leases that aeemantl-to-month basis, which represent 0.3% of total annedlizash rental revent
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are from time to time a party to a variety gfdeproceedings, claims and assessments arisihg iordinary course of our business.
We regularly assess the liabilities and contingem@i connection with these matters based on thstleformation available. For those
matters where it is probable that we have incuaredill incur a loss and the loss or range of loas be reasonably estimated, reserves are
recorded in the Consolidated Financial Statemémisther instances, because of the uncertaintlateceto both the probable outcome and
amount or range of loss, a reasonable estimatahifity, if any, cannot be made. Based on theentrexpected outcome of such matters,

of these proceedings, claims or assessments istexii® have a material adverse effect on our kssirfinancial condition and results of
operations.

In June, August, September and October 2006, wavext assessments for state excise taxes anddra@iéteest amounting to
approximately $4.5 million, related to periods 2@bugh 2004. We believe that we are not subgestith taxes and have vigorously
disputed the assessment. Based on the advice néeloetoncerning the status of settlement discussiod on our own analysis, we currently
believe it is probable that all excise tax assesssnincluding potential assessments for 2005 &b 2can be settled by the payment of
franchise taxes of approximately $0.5 million, amdhe fourth quarter of 2006 such amount was attand charged to operating expenses.
Legal fees related to this matter were nominalwaarck charged to operating expenses as incurre@df. 2

As previously disclosed, the SEC’s Division of Emfement issued a confidential formal order of itigadion in connection with the
Company’s previous restatement of its financialiltss In November 2006, the Company was informed the SEC’s Division of
Enforcement had closed its investigation and wadaking any action with respect to this matter.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

None.
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ITEM X. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT
The following table sets forth information with pest to our executive officers:

Name Age Position and Background

Edward J. Fritscl 48 Director, President and Chief Executive Offic
Mr. Fritsch became our chief executive officer @hdir of the investment committee of our boardiodators
on July 1, 2004 and our president in December 2B@8r to that, Mr. Fritsch was our chief operatoficer
from January 1998 to July 2004 and was a vice gpeasiand secretary from June 1994 to January 1@8.
Fritsch joined our predecessor in 1982 and wastagraof that entity at the time of our initial didhoffering
in June 1994. Mr. Fritsch serves on the Universitilorth Carolina’s Board of Visitors, the Board of
Trustees of St. Timotl's Episcopal School and the Board of Directors efYMCA of the Triangle

Michael E. Harris 57 Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Offi
Mr. Harris became chief operating officer in Ju§02. Prior to that, Mr. Harris was a senior vicegient
and was responsible for our operations in Memp¥éshville, Kansas City and Charlotte. Mr. Harrisswa
executive vice president of Crocker Realty Trugbmpto its merger with us in 1996. Before joiningoCker
Realty Trust, Mr. Harris served as senior vice iole®t, general counsel and chief financial offioer
Towermarc Corporation, a privately owned real estivelopment firm. Mr. Harris is a member of the
Advisory Board of Directors of SouthTrust Bank oeMphis and Allen & Hoshall, In

Terry L. Steven: 58 Vice President and Chief Financial Offic
Prior to joining us in December 2003, Mr. Steversswxecutive vice president, chief financial offiaad
trustee for Crown American Realty Trust, a publEIR Before joining Crown American Realty Trust, Mr
Stevens was director of financial systems develapraeAlliedSignal, Inc., a large multi-national
manufacturer. Mr. Stevens was also an audit pavtitarPrice Waterhouse for approximately seven gear
Mr. Stevens currently serves as trustee, chairm#imecAudit Committee and member of the Investnard
Finance Committee of First Potomac Realty Trugtillic REIT. Mr. Stevens is a member of the Amarica
and the Pennsylvania Institutes of Certified PuBlicountants

Gene H. Andersc 61 Director, Senior Vice President and Regional Manz
Mr. Anderson has been a senior vice president sisceombination with Anderson Properties, Inc. in
February 1997, and in July 2006 became Executice President of Highwoods Development, LLC, a
taxable subsidiary of the Company formed to putheedevelopment of office and industrial properfas
existing customers in core and non-core marketslitihally, Mr. Anderson manages our Atlanta opierat
and oversees our Triad operations. Mr. Andersoveseas president of Anderson Properties, Inc. ft&m8
to February 1997. Mr. Anderson was past presidetiteoGeorgia chapter of the National Associatiébn o
Industrial and Office Properties and is a natidd@drd member of the National Association of Indakand
Office Properties
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Name

Michael F. Beal¢

Mack D. Pridgen llI

W. Brian Reame

43

Position and Background

Senior Vice President and Regional Mana

Mr. Beale manages our Orlando and oversees our dampgrations. Prior to joining us in 2000, Mr. Beal
served as vice president of Koger Equity, Inc., rehee was responsible for Koger’s acquisitions and
developments throughout the Southeast. Mr. Beaariently the president of the Central Florida ftka of
the National Association of Industrial and Officeperties and also serves on various committeethéor
Mid-Florida Economic Development Commissi

Vice President, General Counsel and Secre
Prior to joining us in 1997, Mr. Pridgen was a partwith Smith Helms Mulliss & Moore, L.L.P. andqrto
that a partner with Arthur Andersen & Co. Mr. Priigis an attorney and a certified public accoun

Senior Vice President and Regional Mana

Mr. Reames became senior vice president and relgimn@ager in August 2004. Mr. Reames manages our
Nashville and oversees our Memphis, Greenville @ollimbia operations. Prior to that, Mr. Reames vieg
president responsible for the Nashville divisiopgaaition he held since 1999. Mr. Reames was a@asnd
owner at Eakin & Smith, Inc., a Nashville-basedagffreal estate firm, from 1989 until its mergethwis in
1996. Mr. Reames is a past Nashville chapter Reasiof the National Association of Industrial antfi¢2
Properties. He is currently serving on the Boar®ioéctors of H.G. Hill Realty and the Nashville@Zand as
President of the Board of Trustees at Harding Aaadim Nashville, Tennesse
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON STOCK, RELAT ED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our Common Stock is traded on the NYSE under tingbsy "HIW." The following table sets forth the qtenly high and low stock
prices per share reported on the NYSE for the gtmmdicated and the dividends paid per sharedwstich quarter.

2006 2005
Quarter Ended High Low Dividend High Low Dividend
March 31 $34.77 $29.2( $ .42t $27.8. $24.27 $ 42%
June 3( 36.1¢ 29.5¢ A42° 30.5¢ 26.1¢ 42t
September 3 38.1¢ 35.3¢ A2t 31.8¢ 28.4: A2t
December 3. 41.31] 36.4(C 42t 29.91 26.7:2 42k

On February 15, 2007, the last reported stock pricir Common Stock on the NYSE was $45.70 peresaad we had 1,574 common
stockholders of record.

The following stock price performance graph compdhe performance of our Common Stock to the S&®, 8@ Russell 2000 and the
FTSE NAREIT Equity REIT Index. In 2006, the NatibAasociation of Real Estate Investment Trustsaegdl the equity index previously
used by us in our performance graph with the FTIRHEIT Equity REIT Index. FTSE Group is an indepemidgompany whose sole
business is the creation and management of indmaeassociated data services. The stock pricerpaf@e graph assumes an investment of
$100 in our Common Stock and the three indices eceihber 31, 2001 and further assumes the reinvesthall dividends. Equity REITs
are defined as those that derive more than 75.08te@fincome from equity investments in real estgsets. The FTSE NAREIT Equity
REIT Index includes all REITs listed on the NYSEg tAmerican Stock Exchange or the NASDAQ Nationalkét System. Stock price
performance is not necessarily indicative of futtagults.
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The performance graph is being furnished as pdttisfAnnual Report solely in accordance with thguirement under Rule 1&b)(9)
to furnish our stockholders with such informatiordatherefore, is not deemed to be filed, or inocaped by reference in any filing, by the
Company or the Operating Partnership under theriesuAct of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Afct @34.

We intend to continue to pay quarterly dividendfdtders of shares of Common Stock and make digtabs to holders of Common
Units. Future dividends and distributions will kefge discretion of the Board of Directors and wipend on our actual funds from
operations, our financial condition, capital reguients, the annual dividend requirements undeREi& provisions of the Internal Revenue
Code and such other factors as the Board of Directeems relevant. See “Managemetiscussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiod
Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resea —Stockholder Dividends.”

During 2006, cash dividends on Common Stock tot&lle@0 per share, $0.97 of which represented retiicapital for income tax
purposes. The minimum dividend per share of Com8togk required for the Company to maintain its RE#dtus (excluding any net capital
gains) was $0.24 per share in 2005. Aggregate elidd paid on Preferred Stock exceeded REIT taxatxdene (excluding capital gains) in
2006, which resulted in no required dividend on @Gwn Stock in 2006 for REIT qualification purposes.

During the fourth quarter of 2006, we did not issmg Common Stock that was not registered undes#uwerrities Act of 1933 nor did
we repurchase any Common Stock or Preferred Stock.

The Company has a Dividend Reinvestment and StaothBse Plan under which holders of Common Stogketect to automatically
reinvest their dividends in additional shares ofrftmon Stock and may make optional cash paymentdiditional shares of Common Stock.
The administrator of the Dividend Reinvestment 8tack Purchase Plan has been instructed by the &uotp purchase Common Stock in
the open market for purposes of satisfying the Camgfs obligations thereunder. However, the Compaay in the future elect to satisfy
such obligations by issuing additional shares ah@mn Stock.

The Company has an Employee Stock Purchase Plati fistive employees, under which participants maytribute up to 25.0% of
their compensation for the purchase of Common StBekerally, at the end of each three-month offeperiod, each participant's account
balance is applied to acquire newly issued shar€ommon Stock at a cost that is calculated at®=o0the lower of the average closing
price on the NYSE on the five consecutive daysgulaw the first day of the quarter or the five daysceding the last day of the quarter.

Information about our equity compensation plans athér related stockholder matters is incorporag@in by reference to the
Company’s Proxy Statement to be filed in connectiith our annual meeting of stockholders to be logidMay 18, 2007.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data as of Decen#de 2006 and 2005 and for each of the three yiral® period ended

December 31, 2006 is derived from the Company’staddonsolidated Financial Statements includeevetere herein. The selected
financial data as of December 31, 2004, 2003 ai0@ 20id for each of the two years in the period drigliecember 31, 2003 is derived from
previously issued financial statements and, asiredjbby SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairnen Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets,” (“SFAS No. 144 yesults and balance sheet data for the years ddelgegmber 31, 2005, 2004, 2003 and 2002 were réaassom
previously reported amounts to reflect in discamith operations the operations for those propestigsor held for sale in 2006 which
qualified for discontinued operations presentatifime information in the following table should k&ad in conjunction with the Company’s

audited Consolidated Financial Statements andacladtes included herein ($ in thousands, excephmre data):

Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
Rental and other revenues $ 416,79¢ $ 396,07 $ 389,58 $ 414,74 $ 424,35
Income from continuing operations $ 3646 $ 27,728 $ 21,04« $ 7,90€ $ 32,78(
Income/(loss) from continuing operations availabléor common
stockholders $ 1759 $ (3,782 $ (9,809 $ (22,946 $  1,92¢
Net income $ 53,74 $ 6245¢ $ 41577 $ 42,64¢ $ 80,05:
Net income available for common stockholders $ 34,87¢ $ 3094¢ $ 10,728 $ 11,797 $ 49,20(
Net income per common shar+ basic:
Income/(loss) from continuing operatia $ 03z $ (0.07) $ (0.1¢) $ (043 $ 0.04
Net income $ 064 $ 0.5¢ $ 02C $ 02z % 0.9:
Net income per common share — diluted:
Income/(loss) from continuing operatic $ 031 $§ (©07) $ (01 $ (049 ¢ 0.04
Net income $ 0.6z $ 0.5¢ $ 0.2C $ 02z $ 0.9:
Dividends declared per common shar $ 1.7C $ 1.7¢ $ 1.7¢ $ 186 $ 2.34
December 31,
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
Balance Sheet Data:
Total asset $2,844,85. $2,908,97! $3,239,65! $3,513,22: $3,745,26
Total mortgages and notes paya $1,465,12' $1,471,61 $1,572,57. $1,718,27- $1,796,16
Financing obligation $ 35530 $ 34,15« $ 6530¢ $ 125777 $ 122,66t
Cc-venture obligatior — 3 —  $ — 3 — $ 43,51
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion and analiysconjunction with the accompanying Consolidaténancial Statements and
related notes contained elsewhere in this AnnupbRe

D ISCLOSURE R EGARDING F ORWARD -L OOKING S TATEMENTS

Some of the information in this Annual Report maptain forward-looking statements. Such statemiectade, in particular,
statements about our plans, strategies and praspeder this section and under the heading "Busih&¥®u can identify forward-looking
statements by our use of forward-looking terminglegch as "may,” "will,” "expect,” "anticipate,” $mate,” "continue" or other similar
words. Although we believe that our plans, inteméi@and expectations reflected in or suggested tly fuwward-looking statements are
reasonable, we cannot assure you that our plaesitions or expectations will be achieved. Whersatgring such forward-looking
statements, you should keep in mind the followmgartant factors that could cause our actual resaltliffer materially from those
contained in any forward-looking statement:

» speculative development activity by our competiiarsur existing markets could result in an exoessupply of office, industrial
and retail properties relative to tenant dem:

» the financial condition of our tenants could deisate;

* we may not be able to complete development, adgrisreinvestment, disposition or joint ventur@jpcts as quickly or on as
favorable terms as anticipate

e we may not be able to lease or release space yuickin as favorable terms as old lea
* increases in interest rates would increase oursiabtce costs

e we may not be able to meet our liquidity requiretaar obtain capital on favorable terms to fundwarking capital needs and
growth initiatives or to repay or refinance outstiaug debt upon maturity

» we could lose key executive officers; ¢
» our southeastern and midwestern markets may suffexpected declines in economic grov

This list of risks and uncertainties, however, a$ intended to be exhaustive. You should also vetie other cautionary statements we
make in “Business — Risk Factors” set forth elsewhe this Annual Report.

Given these uncertainties, you should not placaiemdliance on forward-looking statements. We utadterno obligation to publicly
release the results of any revisions to these faa@king statements to reflect any future evamtsircumstances or to reflect the occurrence
of unanticipated events.

O VERVIEW

We are a fully integrated, self-administered anfl smnaged equity REIT that provides leasing, managgrdevelopment, constructi
and other customer-related services for our praseand for third parties. As of December 31, 2006 0wned or had an interest in 392 in-
service office, industrial and retail propertiesc@mpassing approximately 34.3 million square feich includes seven iservice office an
industrial development properties that had notrgathed 95% stabilized occupancy aggregating appately 953,000 square feet, and 527
rental residential units. As of that date, we alamed development land and other properties unelezldpment as described under
"Business” above. We are based in Raleigh, Norttol@&, and our properties and development landaoated in Florida, Georgia, lowa,
Kansas, Maryland, Missouri, North Carolina, Soutlr@lina, Tennessee and Virginia.
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Results of Operations

Approximately 82% of our rental and other revermaenf continuing operations in 2006 was derived fium office properties. As a
result, while we own and operate a limited numbiéndustrial, retail and residential propertiesy operating results depend heavily on
successfully leasing our office properties. Funtihane, since approximately 65% of our annualize@nexes from office properties come from
properties located in Florida, Georgia, North Cimabhnd Tennessee, economic growth in those stasesl will continue to be an important
determinative factor in predicting our future ogerg results.

The key components affecting our rental revenusastrare dispositions, acquisitions, new developsnglaced in service, average
occupancy and rental rates. Average occupancy ginarcreases during times of improving econonmavgth, as our ability to lease space
outpaces vacancies that occur upon the expiratibagisting leases. Average occupancy generalljirdescduring times of slower economic
growth, when new vacancies tend to outpace ouityalil lease space. Asset acquisitions, dispositanmd new developments placed in ser
directly impact our rental revenues and could impac average occupancy, depending upon the occypate of the properties that are
acquired, sold or placed in service. A further aador of the predictability of future revenueshie expected lease expirations of our portfolio.
As a result, in addition to seeking to increaseamgrage occupancy by leasing current vacant spacalso must concentrate our leasing
efforts on renewing leases on expiring space. Faerimformation regarding our lease expirations, ‘s&operties — Lease Expirations.”

Whether or not our rental revenue tracks averagapancy proportionally depends upon whether reméeunew leases signed are
higher or lower than the rents under the previeasé¢s. The average rental rate per square foetond generation and renewal leases si
in our Wholly Owned Properties compared to the tamer the previous leases (based on straightdimtal rates) was 2.5% higher in 2006,
2.2% lower in 2005 and 1.5% lower in 2004. The atimad rental revenues from second generation $esigaed during any particular yea
generally less than 15% of our total annual remga¢nues.

Our expenses primarily consist of rental propexiyemses, depreciation and amortization, generabdninistrative expenses and
interest expense. Rental property expenses ar@sap@ssociated with our ownership and operatioendél properties and include expenses
that vary somewhat proportionately to occupancgliewsuch as common area maintenance and utikitnesexpenses that do not vary based
on occupancy, such as property taxes and insurBeggeciation and amortization is a ncaish expense associated with the ownership o
property and generally remains relatively consiséath year, unless we buy or sell assets, sinaeweciate our properties and related
building and tenant improvement assets on a strdiigh basis over a fixed life. General and adntmative expenses, net of amounts
capitalized, consist primarily of management angleyee salaries and other personnel costs, comoxarhead and long-term incentive
compensation. Interest expense depends upon thenduoifoour borrowings, the weighted average interg@es on our debt and the amount of
interest capitalized on development projects.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We incur capital expenditures to lease space t@astomers and to maintain the quality of our proee to successfully compete
against other properties. Tenant improvementsheredsts required to customize the space for theifspneeds of the customer. Lease
commissions are costs incurred to find the custdorethe space. Lease incentives are costs paidaa behalf of tenants to induce them to
enter into leases and that do not relate to cugiomthe space for the tenant’s specific needddBig improvements are recurring capital
costs not related to a customer to maintain thielimgis. As leases expire, we either attempt ta thke space to an existing customer or attract
a new customer to occupy the space. Generallypeiestrenewals require lower leasing capital expenes than reletting to new customers.
However, market conditions such as supply of aléglapace on the market, as well as demand foesgage not only customer rental rates
but also tenant improvement costs. Leasing cagia¢nditures are amortized over the term of theel@ad building improvements are
depreciated over the appropriate useful life ofabgets acquired. Both are included in depreciaimhamortization in results of operations.

Because we are a REIT, we are required under trerdbtax laws to distribute at least 90.0% of REIT taxable income, excluding
capital gains, to our stockholders. We generally nemts received from customers and proceeds fabes sf non-core development land to
fund our operating expenses, recurring capital edjpgres and stockholder dividends. To fund prgpadquisitions, development activity or
building renovations, we may sell
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other assets and may incur debt from time to tidvseof December 31, 2006, we had $741.6 millionezfuised debt outstanding and $723.5
million of unsecured debt outstanding. Our debtegally consists of mortgage debt, unsecured dehirgies and borrowings under our credit
facilities.

On January 31, 2007, we obtained a $150 millioreamsed non-revolving credit facility. This facilihas an initial term of six months
and can be extended at our option for two addititmae-month periods provided we are not in defduiis facility has identical interest rate
terms and financial covenants as our revolvingitfadility. We currently plan to repay all amoumtststanding under the non-revolving
facility with proceeds from newly issued securedinsecured debt. As of February 15, 2007, we haghiwed $60.0 million on the non-
revolving facility.

As of December 31, 2006 and February 15, 2007,adespproximately $113 million and $216 million,pestively, of additional
combined borrowing availability under our existimgsecured credit facilities and under our secuegdlving construction credit facility.

Our credit facilities and the indenture governing outstanding long-term unsecured debt securiéigaire us to satisfy various
operating and financial covenants and performaates. As a result, to ensure that we do not wolhé provisions of these debt instruments,
we may from time to time be limited in undertakirgytain activities that may otherwise be in thet b#erest of our stockholders, such as
repurchasing capital stock, acquiring additionak#s increasing the total amount of our debt areiasing stockholder dividends. We review
our current and expected operating results, firdmandition and planned strategic actions on oy basis for the purpose of monitoring
our continued compliance with these covenants atids: Any unwaived event of default could resalan acceleration of some or all of our
debt, severely restrict our ability to incur adalital debt to fund short- and long-term cash needssult in higher interest expense.

To generate additional capital to fund our growthd ather strategic initiatives and to lessen thaeerahip risks typically associated w
owning 100.0% of a property, we may sell some afoperties or contribute them to joint ventulden we create a joint venture with a
strategic partner, we usually contribute one orerproperties that we own and/or vacant land toveynformed entity in which we retain an
interest of 50.0% or less. In exchange for our Equeninority interest in the joint venture, we geally receive cash from the partner and
retain some or all of the management income rejatirthe properties in the joint venture. The jaiahture itself will frequently borrow
money on its own behalf to finance the acquisittbrand/or leverage the return upon, the propebi@sg acquired by the joint venture or to
build or acquire additional buildings. Such borrogs are typically on a non-recourse or limited tese basis. We generally are not liable for
the debts of our joint ventures, except to therebé our equity investment, unless we have diyegtlaranteed any of that debt. In most ce
we and/or our strategic partners are required &rauiee customary exceptions to non-recourseitialiilnon-recourse loans. See Note 15 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements for additiofarmation on certain debt guarantees. We haswtically also sold additional Comm
Stock or Preferred Stock or issued Common Unifsitd additional growth or to reduce our debt, betlvave limited those efforts since 1998
because funds generated from our capital recyglingram in recent years have provided sufficient&uto satisfy our liquidity needs. In
addition, we have recently used funds from ourtehpécycling program to redeem Common Units arefd?red Stock for cash.
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R ESULTS oF O PERATIONS

Comparison of 2006 to 2005

The following table sets forth information regagliour results of operations for the years endeceBder 31, 2006 and 2005 ($ in
millions). As noted above and as more fully dessaliin Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statdésers required by SFAS No. 144,
results for the year ended December 31, 2005 veetassified from previously reported amounts téertfin discontinued operations the
operations for those properties sold or held fte 822006 which qualified for discontinued opevas presentation.

Years Ended December 31, 2006 to 2005
2006 2005 $ Change % Change
Rental and other revenues $ 416 $ 39670 $ 20.7 5.2%
Operating expenses
Rental property and other expen 153.t 141.€ 11.¢ 8.4
Depreciation and amortizatic 115.C 109.€ 5.4 4.9
Impairment of assets held for L 2.€ 7.€ (5.0 (65.¢)
General and administrati 37.5 33.C 4.3 13.C
Total operating expens 308.4 291.¢ 16.€ 5.7
Interest expense
Contractua 94.2 98.7 (4.5 (4.6)
Amortization of deferred financing cos 2.4 3.4 (1.0 (29.9
Financing obligation 4.2 5.C (0.9 (16.0)
100.¢ 107.1 (6.9 (5.9
Other income/(expense)
Interest and other incon 7.C 7.1 (0.7 (1.9
Settlement of bankruptcy clai 1.€ — 1.€ 100.(
Loss on debt extinguishmer (0.5 (0.5) — —
8.1 6.€ 1.5 22.1
Income/(loss) before disposition of property, mindty interest and equity in
earnings of unconsolidated affiliates 15.7 3.8 11.€ 313.2
Gains on disposition of property, r 16.2 14.1 2.1 14.¢
Minority interest (2.2 0.t (2.7 (540.0
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia 6.8 9.3 (2.5) (26.9)
Income from continuing operations 36.5 27.1 8.8 31.¢
Discontinued operations:
Income from discontinued operations, net of miryoriteresi 3.4 11. (8.2 (70.9
Gains, net of impairments, on sales of discontinygerations, net of
minority interes: 13.€ 23.2 (9.9 (40.7)
17.2 34.7 (17.9 (50.2)
Net income 53.¢ 62.4 (8.6) (13.9)
Dividends on preferred stox (17.7) (27.2) 10.1 37.1
Excess of preferred stock redemption cost oveyiayivalue (1.8 (4.3 2.5 58.1
Net income available for common stockholder $ 34.c $ 30 $ 4cC 12.€%

Rental and Other Revenues

The increase in rental and other revenues fromirmaing operations was primarily the result of higheerage occupancy in 2006 as
compared to 2005, the contribution from developegberties placed in service in the latter part@%and in 2006 and the consolidation of
the Markel joint venture effective January 1, 2086 discussed in Note 1 to the Consolidated FiahStatements. These increases were
partly offset by a decrease in lease terminaties feom 2005 to 2006 and the recognition of Eastshe a completed sale which occurred in
the third quarter of 2005.

As of the date of this filing, we continue to seedest improvements in employment trends in mostuofmarkets and an improving
economic climate in the Southeast. There has beelest but steady positive absorption of office sgaamost of our markets during the past
year. Also, we expect to deliver approximately rhiflion square feet of new office and industrial/diopment properties by the end of 20
which are 38% pre-leased (weighted based on inve#)nas of December 31, 2006. We have sold andcexpsell additional non-core
properties in 2007 that will probably be classifaidiscontinued operations.
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Rental Property and Other Expenses

The increase in rental and other operating expgma@srily was a result of general inflationary ieases in certain operating expenses,
such as salaries, benefits, utility costs andestdte taxes, expenses of developed propertiesdplaservice in the latter part of 2005 and
2006 and the consolidation of the Markel joint veateffective January 1, 2006, as discussed in Nodethe Consolidated Financial
Statements. These increases were partly offsetd@giease in operating expenses as a result oé¢bgnition of Eastshore as a completed
sale which occurred in the third quarter of 2005.

Operating margin, defined as rental and other negéess rental property and other expenses exprasse percentage of rental and
other revenues, decreased from 64.3% in 2005 %68 2006. This decrease in margin was primaalysed by operating expenses
increasing from inflationary pressures at a highage than our rental revenues and operating costvegies.

We expect rental and other operating expensestease in 2007 as compared to 2006 from anticigatidionary increases in certain
fixed operating expenses, particularly higher tytitiosts, and by operating expenses of the devedopproperties placed in service during
2006 and 2007.

The increase in depreciation and amortizationiimgrily a result of the contribution from developgaperties placed in service in the
latter part of 2005 and in 2006 and the consolitatif the Markel joint venture effective Januar@06, as discussed in Note 1 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements. These incremsespartly offset by a decrease related to thegmition of Eastshore as a completed sale
which occurred in the third quarter of 2005.

For 2006, one office property had indicators of &mment where the carrying value exceeded the duirecestimated undiscounted
future cash flows. Therefore, an impairment of tsskeld for use of $2.6 million was recorded inyear ended December 31, 2006. For
2005, one land parcel and one office property hditators of impairment where the carrying valueeeded the sum of estimated
undiscounted future cash flows. Therefore, impamsef assets held for use aggregating $7.6 milllere recorded in the year ended
December 31, 2005.

The increase in general and administrative expemasgrimarily related to higher annual and longrténcentive compensation costs
and from deferred compensation, a portion of wisatecognized based on increases in the totalretuour Common Stock, which was
50.6% in 2006, higher salary and fringe benefitef®m annual employee wage and salary increastatjonary effects on other general ¢
administrative expenses and costs related to thhement of a certain officer at June 30, 2006.

In 2007, general and administrative expenses greatad to decrease slightly as the total rehased equity incentive compensation
deferred compensation costs are expected to be thae in 2006, partly offset by anticipated infl@iary increases in non-equity
compensation, benefits and other costs.

Interest Expense

The decrease in contractual interest was primdrily to a decrease in average borrowings from $Infllibn in the year ended
December 31, 2005 to $1,441 million in the yearsehDecember 31, 2006, partially offset by an inseda weighted average interest rate
outstanding debt from 6.80% in the year ended Dbeerd1, 2005 to 6.92% in the year ended Decemhe2®6. In addition, capitalized
interest in 2006 was approximately $2.1 millionHeégcompared to 2005 due to increased developnaetnityaand higher average
construction and development costs. Interest akaolct discontinued operations was $1.2 millio2@5 compared to $0.6 million in 2006.

The decrease in amortization of deferred financiogts was primarily related to obtaining the nevoheing credit facility in May 2006,
as discussed further in the Note 5 to the ConsmlitlRinancial Statements, resulting in a reduatiommortization of deferred financing costs
of approximately $1.0 million from 2005 to 2006.

The decrease in interest from financing obligatimas primarily a result of the completed sale oééhbuildings in Richmond, Virginia
(the Eastshore transaction) in the third quarté?0@f5 and the elimination of the related finanadadjgation. Partly offsetting this decrease
was an increase in 2006 related to SF-HIW Harbuorvie
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Plaza LP primarily from amortization of the optidiscount, as described in Note 3 to the ConsoliiBteancial Statements.

Total interest expense is expected to decline 0¥V 3@imarily from lower average interest rates assallt of completed and planned d
refinancings in late 2006 and early 2007 at rdtasdre lower than the prior debt and higher chpéd interest from increased development
project costs in 2007 compared to 2006. Averagé lolglances are not expected to vary materially fB@®6 in 2007 since we generally
expect to fund costs associated with our developmetivity in 2007 with proceeds from property disfiions.

Settlement of Bankruptcy Claim

In 2006, we received a settlement of a bankruplaiyncin the amount of $1.6 million related to leaséth a former tenant that were
terminated in 2003. See Note 18 to the Consolidaiedncial Statements for further discussion.

Loss on Debt Extinguishments

In 2006, we had $0.5 million from losses on earrguishments of debt, including our old revolviagdit facility and bank term loan,
which were paid off in the second quarter of 20p6ruthe closing of our new revolving credit fagiliThe $0.5 million of loss in 2005 relates
to loans that were paid off early in 2005 from @eds raised from disposition activities.

Gains on Disposition of Property; Minority I nterest; Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Affiliates

Net gains on dispositions of properties not clésgdifs discontinued operations were $16.2 milliothe year ended December 31, 2006
compared to $14.1 million for the year ended Decam®i, 2005; the components of net gains are destin Note 4 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements. Gains are dependent on dwfispassets sold, their historical cost basis @th@r factors, and can vary significantly
from period to period.

Minority interest changed from $0.5 million of inoe in the year ended December 31, 2005 to $2.2omilif expense in the year ended
December 31, 2006. In 2005, the Operating Partietsd a loss from continuing operations after &refd Unit distributions which caused
minority interest income. In 2006, the OperatingtRarship had income from continuing operationsraftreferred Unit distributions, result
in minority interest expense related to the OpegaRartnership. In addition, minority interest B0B includes $0.6 million from the
consolidation of the Markel joint venture, the ameting for which changed from equity method to adigstion effective January 1, 2006, as
described in Note 1 to the Consolidated Finandiatesnents.

The decrease in equity in earnings of unconsoliatéliates primarily resulted from the consoliet of the Markel joint venture in
2006, and from $0.7 million of our share of a lossearly debt extinguishment from refinancing @tie in the Des Moines joint ventures in
the third quarter of 2006. The Markel joint ventamntributed $0.8 million to equity in earningsusfconsolidated affiliates during the year
ended December 31, 2005. In addition, capitalizatibinterest ceased and full depreciation commeheginning December 2005 for the
office property in the Plaza Colonnade, LLC joisntre which caused an approximate $0.6 milliomecédn in equity in earnings of
unconsolidated affiliates in 2006 compared to 2005.

Discontinued Operations

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, we classifiedimetme of $17.3 million and $34.7 million as distinoned operations for the year
ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectivelyselamounts relate to 7.6 million square feet atefénd industrial properties and 202
residential units sold during 2005 and 2006 andhilBon square feet of property held for sale &cBmber 31, 2006. These amounts include
net gains on the sale of these properties of $1@l®n and $23.2 million in the year ended Decemb, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
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Preferred Stock Dividends and Excess of Preferred Stock Redemption Costsin Excess of Carrying Value

The decreases in Preferred Stock dividends andssxadfePreferred Stock redemption costs over cagryaiue were due to the
redemptions of $130.0 million of Preferred Stockhia third quarter of 2005 and $50.0 million of fléreed Stock in the first quarter of 2006.

Net Income and Net | ncome Allocable to Common Stockholders

We recorded net income of $53.8 million in 2006 paned to $62.4 million in 2005, and net incomegilde to common stockholders
of $34.9 million in 2006 compared to $30.9 millizn2005; these changes resulted from the varioeteifa described above.

Comparison of 2005 to 2004

The following table sets forth information regarmgliour results of operations for the years endeceBéer 31, 2005 and 2004 ($ in
millions). As noted above and as more fully dessdliin Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statémers required by SFAS No. 144,
results for the years ended December 31, 2005 @@ ®ere reclassified from previously reported anmsto reflect in discontinued
operations the operations for those properties soleeld for sale in 2006 which qualified for distioued operations presentation.

Years Ended December 31, 2005 to 2004
2005 2004 $ Change % Change
Rental and other revenues $ 3961 $ 389€ $ 6. 1.7%
Operating expenses:
Rental property and other expen 141.€ 137.¢ 3.7 2.7
Depreciation and amortizatic 109.€ 108.¢ 0.8 0.7
Impairment of assets held for L 7.€ — 7.€ 100.(
General and administrati\ 33.C 41.5 (8.5 (20.F
Total operating expens 291.¢ 288.2 3.€ 1.2
Interest expense
Contractua 98.7 104.¢ (6.2) (5.9
Amortization of deferred financing cos 3.4 3.7 (0.2 (8.2
Financing obligation 5.C 10.C (5.0 (50.0)
107.] 118.t (11.4) (9.6)
Other income/(expense):
Interest and other incon 7.1 6.1 1.C 16.4
Settlement of bankruptcy clai — 14.4 (14.9 (200.0
Loss on debt extinguishmer (0.5) (12.9 11.¢ 96.(
6.€ 8.1 (1.5 (18.F
Income/(loss) before disposition of property, mindty interest and equity in
earnings of unconsolidated affiliates 3.8 (9.0) 12.¢ 142.2
Gains on disposition of property, r 14.1 21.¢ (7.5 (34.9)
Minority interest 0.5 1.C (0.5 (50.0
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia 9.3 7.4 1.¢ 25.7
Income from continuing operations 27.1 21.C 6.7 31.¢
Discontinued operations:
Income from discontinued operations, net of miroriteresi 11t 17.7 (6.2 (35.0
Gains, net of impairments, on sales of discontinygerations, net of
minority interes 23.2 2.8 20.4 728.¢
34.7 20.t 14.Z 69.2
Net income 62.4 41.F 20.¢ 50.4
Dividends on preferred stox (27.2) (30.9 3.€ 11.7
Excess of preferred stock redemption cost oveyiayivalue (4.3 — (4.3 (100.0
Net income available for common stockholder $ 30.f $ 107 $ 20.z 188.£%
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Rental and Other Revenues

The $6.5 million increase in rental and other rexenfrom continuing operations was primarily theuieof higher average occupanc!
2005 compared to 2004, revenues contributed fromderelopment properties placed in service dutirgsecond half of 2005, and higher
termination fee income in 2005. These positivegases were partially offset by a reduction in reesrfrom sold properties that were not
classified as discontinued operations.

Operating Expenses

Rental and other operating expenses from continopegations (real estate taxes, utilities, insueanepairs and maintenance and other
property-related expenses) increased $3.7 millio2005 compared to 2004, primarily as a resultigiiér average occupancy in 2005 and
general inflationary increases in certain operagirgenses, such as salaries, benefits, utilityscsd real estate taxes. These increases were
partially offset by a reduction in operating expesngom sold properties that were not classifiedissontinued operations.

Operating margin, defined as rental and other negédess rental property and other expenses expressa percentage of rental and
other revenues, decreased from 64.7% in 2004 8964 2005. This decrease in margin was prima@dlysed by operating expenses
increasing from inflationary pressures at a highée than our rental revenues and operating cosvegies.

Depreciation and amortization from continuing opierss increased slightly in 2005. This slight irese primarily resulted from a
relatively higher proportion in 2005 of leasing etss(tenant improvements and deferred leasing)oakish have shorter lives compared to
buildings which are depreciated over 40 years. Wais partially offset by a reduction in depreciatand amortization from sold properties
that were not classified as discontinued operations

Impairments on assets held for use were $7.6 miiic2005 compared to none in 2004. In 2005 one farcel and one office property,
which are classified as held for use, had indicatdrimpairment where the carrying value exceetledsum of projected undiscounted future
cash flows. Accordingly, we recognized impairmerstsies of $7.6 million during the year ended Decer@he2005.

The $8.5 million decrease in general and admirtisg@&xpenses in 2005 as compared to 2004 primagiites to (1) $4.6 million
recognized in 2004 in connection with a retirenpeatkage for our former chief executive officer (bkxe 18 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements) and (2) a $5.4 million decrease in 2008pared to 2004 primarily relating to costs afspanel, consultants and our independent
auditors in connection with (a) the initial implentation of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A@004, (b) evaluation of a strategic
transaction in 2004, and (c) the preparation amiit @fi the restated Consolidated Financial Statamierctluded in our 2004 Annual Report on
Form 10-K. These decreases were partially offseélg million net increase primarily related to g long-term incentive compensation
costs, salary and fringe benefit costs and othstisco

Interest Expense

The $6.1 million decrease in contractual interess ywrimarily due to a decrease in average borrafirmgn $1,657 million in 2004 to
$1,508 million in 2005, partially offset by an iease in weighted average interest rates on outstaddbt from 6.46% in 2004 to 6.76% in
2005. The decrease in average debt balances dlitgjein 2005 was primarily due to the debt redueticmade during 2005 as described in
Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statementadtiition, capitalized interest in 2005 was apprately $1.9 million higher compared
2004 due to increased development activity anddriglierage construction and development costs.

The $5.0 million decrease in interest expense mamfiing obligations was primarily a result of theghase of our partner’s interest in
the Orlando City Group properties in MG-HIW, LLC dtarch 2, 2004 which eliminated the requirementetord financing obligation
interest expense with respect to the Orlando Cityu@ properties after that date (see Note 3 t&Cinesolidated Financial Statements).
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Other Income/Expense

In 2004, we received net proceeds of $14.4 milliera result of the settlement of the bankruptcyofldCom (See Note 18 to our
Consolidated Financial Statements for further dis@n on this settlement).

Loss on debt extinguishments decreased $11.9 miitmm $12.4 million in 2004 to $0.5 million in 280In 2004, a $12.3 million loss
was recorded related to the retirement of the Esalpte Put Option Notes described in Note 5 toGbasolidated Financial Statements. The
$0.5 million of loss in 2005 relates to certairoof loans that were paid off early in 2005 fromgereds raised from disposition activities.

Gains on Disposition of Property; Minority I nterest; Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Affiliates

Net gains on dispositions of properties not cléasgdifs discontinued operations were $14.1 millilo8005 compared to $21.6 million
in 2004; the components of net gains are desciibdlibte 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statemeagns and impairments are dependent
on the specific assets sold, their historical basis and other factors, and can vary significaintign period to period.

Minority interest decreased from $1.0 million o€ame in the year ended December 31, 2004 to $0liBmof income in the year
ended December 31, 2005 due to a correspondingakein the Operating Partnership’s loss from nairtg operations after Preferred Unit
distributions.

The $1.9 million increase in equity in earningsiroontinuing operations of unconsolidated affiliaveas primarily a result of an
increase related to the formation of the HIW-KCaddo, LLC joint venture in late June 2004, whichtcibuted approximately $1.4 million
of additional equity in earnings from continuingeoations of unconsolidated affiliates in 2005. dididion, the Plaza Colonnade, LLC joint
venture, which was placed in service in the foguharter of 2004, contributed approximately $0.3ioml more to equity in earnings in 2005
compared to 2004.

Discontinued Operations

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, we classifiedimetme of $34.7 million and $20.5 million, net ofrmarity interest, as discontinued
operations for the years ended December 31, 2002@04, respectively. These assets classifiedsasuinued operations comprise
8.9 million square feet of office and industriabperties and 290 residential units sold during 2@085 and 2004 and 0.3 million square feet
of property held for sale at December 31, 2006 s€r@mounts include gains, net of impairments, sfalitinued operations of $23.2 million
and $2.8 million, net of minority interest, in thears ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respgctifrelcomponents of net gains are se
in Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Preferred Stock Dividends and Excess of Preferred Stock Redemption Costsin Excess of Carrying Value

We recorded $27.2 million and $30.8 million in Fmeéd Stock dividends in 2005 and 2004, respegtividie reduction was due to the
redemption of $130.0 million of Preferred Stockhe third quarter of 2005. In connection with tedemption of Preferred Stock, the $4.3
million excess of the redemption cost over thecagtying amount of the redeemed shares was recagladeduction to net income available
for common shareholders in 2005 in accordance Rlitt+ Topic D-42.

Net Income and Net | ncome Allocable to Common Stockholders

We recorded net income of $62.4 million in 2005 paned to $41.5 million in 2004, and net incomegilde to common stockholders
of $30.9 million in 2005 compared to $10.7 million2004; these changes resulted from the variotteif® described above.
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L 1QuiDiITY AND C APITAL R ESOURCES

Statement of Cash Flows

As required by GAAP, we report and analyze our dbsirs based on operating activities, investingwvitiés and financing activities.
The following table sets forth the changes in astcflows from 2005 to 2006 ($ in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 Change
Cash Provided by Operating Activiti $ 145,52! $ 154,13: $ (8,609
Cash Provided by Investing Activitis 64,73« 200,92! (136,19)
Cash Used in Financing Activiti¢ (194,78 (378,329 183,54
Total Cash Flow: $ 15,47¢ $ (23,270 $ 38,74¢

In calculating cash flow from operating activitielepreciation and amortization, which are non-eagienses, are added back to net
income. As a result, we have historically generatsgynificant positive amount of cash from opegtactivities. From period to period, cash
flow from operations depends primarily upon chanigesur net income, as discussed more fully abadeu“Results of Operationsghange
in receivables and payables, and net additiongoregdses in our overall portfolio, which affect #mount of depreciation and amortization
expense.

Cash provided by or used in investing activitiesagally relates to capitalized costs incurred éasing and major building
improvements and our acquisition, development,adigipn and joint venture activity. During periodfssignificant net acquisition and/or
development activity, our cash used in such inmgsdictivities will generally exceed cash providgdrivesting activities, which typically
consists of cash received upon the sale of praseatd distributions of capital from our joint wemets.

Cash used in financing activities generally relatestockholder dividends, distributions on Comnunits, incurrence and repayment of
debt and sales, repurchases or redemptions of Cartazk, Common Units and Preferred Stock. As dised previously, we use a
significant amount of our cash to fund stockholdieidends and Common Unit distributions. Whethenot we have increases in the
outstanding balances of debt during a period depgaderally upon the net effect of our acquisitiisposition, development and joint
venture activity. We use our revolving credit fagifor working capital purposes, which means tthating any given period, in order to
minimize interest expense, we will likely recordrsificant repayments and borrowings under our naugl credit facility.

The decrease of $8.6 million in cash provided bgrapng activities in the year ended December 806Zompared to the same period
in 2005 was primarily the result of lower cash fiofkom net income adjusted for changes in depiieci@nd gains and impairments, partially
offset by a $1.8 million increase from net chanigesperating assets and liabilities.

The decrease of $136.2 million in cash providedhesting activities in the year ended December2BD6 compared to the same
period in 2005 was primarily a result of a $110.fliom decrease in proceeds from dispositions af estate assets and a $54.3 million
increase in additions to real estate assets amdrddfleasing costs. Partly offsetting these deewas an increase of $24.2 million in other
investing activities that resulted from a collateabstitution on a secured note pursuant to witieHender refunded $11.8 million in
restricted cash in 2006, which had been paid ir5286d an increase of $7.1 million in distributiari<apital from unconsolidated affiliates
a result of a refinancing of debt in 2006, as dbscrin Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statets

The decrease of $183.5 million in cash used imigigy activities in the year ended December 316208s primarily a result of a
decrease of $80.0 million in redemptions of Pref@rstock from 2005 to 2006, a $70.7 million redureiin net paydowns on our revolving
credit facility and mortgages and notes payabtie@aease of $10.2 million in Preferred Stock dimidkeresulting from our Preferred Stock
redemptions, and an increase of $41.2 million inpneceeds from the sale of Common Stock due t@xeecise of stock options during 20
as described in Note 6 to the Consolidated Finh&ta&ements.

During 2007, we expect to have positive cash flines operating activities. The net cash flows frmwesting activities in 2007 are
expected to be negative as cash inflows from ptgpkspositions and joint ventures are
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expected to be less than cash used for developesagitalized leasing and tenant improvement co&s cash flows from operating and
investing activities combined in 2007 are expedtelde positive and, together with positive finamgcaash flows from new debt borrowings or
other sources, will be used to pay stockholderwamitholder distributions, scheduled debt maturjt@ncipal amortization payments and any
other reductions of debt and Preferred Stock bakufeee Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Stti&sh

Capitalization

The following table sets forth our capitalizatichaf December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005 dunsdnds, except per share
amounts):

December 31 December 31

2006 2005
Mortgages and notes payable, at recorded book $1,465,12' $1,471,61
Financing obligation $ 35530 $ 34,15¢
Preferred Stock, at liquidation val $ 197,44¢ $ 247,44
Common Stock and Common Units outstanc 60,94« 59,47¢
Per share stock price at period ¢ $ 40.7¢ $  28.4f
Market value of Common Stock and Common U $2,484,07  $1,692,17
Total market capitalization with de $4,182,18.  $3,445,39

Based on our total market capitalization of appreately $4.2 billion at December 31, 2006 (at theddeber 31, 2006 per share stock
price of $40.76 and assuming the redemption foreshaf Common Stock of the approximate 4.7 mill@ymmon Units not owned by the
Company), our mortgages and notes payable repezs86t0% of our total market capitalization. Mogga and notes payable at
December 31, 2006 was comprised of $741.6 milliosegured indebtedness with a weighted averageestteate of 6.78% and $723.5
million of unsecured indebtedness with a weighteztage interest rate of 6.79%. As of December BQ62our outstanding mortgages and
notes payable and financing obligations were sechyereal estate assets with an aggregate undafgediook value of approximately $1.2
billion.

We do not intend to reserve funds to retire exgsiacured or unsecured debt upon maturity. Forre wammplete discussion of our long-
term liquidity needs, see “Liquidity and Capitald®@arces—Current and Future Cash Needs.”
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Contractual Obligations

The following table sets forth a summary regarding known contractual obligations, including regditinterest payments for those
items that are interest bearing, at December 316 28 in thousands):

Amounts due during years ending December 31,
Total 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 Thereafter

Mortgages and Notes Payabl&) ® $1,872,59. $532,48: $173,31t $247,64¢ $55,65¢ $55,65¢ $807,83:
Financing Obligations:
SF-HIW Harborview Plaza, LP financing obligatio

@ ®) 20,00¢ — — — — — 20,00¢
Tax Increment Financing obligati¢h ©) 28,36: 2,182 2,182 2,182 2,182 2,182 17,45¢
Capitalized ground lease obligatih 2,00z 52 52 52 52 52 1,74
Capitalized lease obligation$? 481 252 18¢ 41 — — —
Purchase Obligations:
Completion contract® 125,38 96,42( 28,96( — — — —
Operating Lease Obligations:
Land lease$®) 51,19: 1,06: 1,07¢ 1,11¢ 1,137 1,157 45,63¢
Other Long Term Liabilities Reflected on the Balane
Sheet:
Plaza Colonnade lease guararitee 37 — — 37 — — —
Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32 LP lease
guarantee) 41¢ — 41¢ — — — —
RRHWoods and Dallas County Partners lease
guaranteé) 49 — — — — — 49
RRHWoods, LLC® 28 — — 28 — — —
Industrial environmental guarantée 12t — — — — — 12t
Eastshore lease guaranfee 4,084 4,08¢ — — — — —
DLF payable” 3,551 52€ 53¢ 54¢€ 55€ 567 82C
KC Orlando, LLC lease guarantée 42C 97 97 97 97 32 —
KC Orlando, LLC accrued lease commissions, tenant
improvements and building improvemefits 35¢€ — — — — — 35€
RRHWoods, LLC® 402 — — — 408 — —
Total $2,109,48! $637,15¢ $206,82¢ $251,74¢( $60,08: $59,64¢ $894,02:

(1) See Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statenfentsrther discussior

(2) This liability represents a financing obligatito our joint venture partner as a result of aatiag for this transaction as a financing
arrangement. See Note 3 to the Consolidated FiaB8tatements for further discussi

(3) In connection with tax increment financing tmmstruction of a public garage related to an efficilding constructed by us, we are
obligated to pay fixed special assessments overyear period. The net present value of these sises, discounted at 6.93%, which
represents the interest rate of the underlying bsnshown as a financing obligation in the Cordatied Balance Sheet. We also receive
special tax revenues and property tax rebatesdedan interest and other income which are intenddatinot guaranteed, to provide
funds to pay the special assessme

(4) Included in accounts payable, accrued expensesthrd liabilities.

(5) See Note 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statesrfenfurther discussior

(6) This represents our maximum exposure to coatihtpss under our Eastshore guarantee. See Natas B5 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements for further discussi

(7) Represents a fixed obligation we owe our parimélighwoods DLF 98/29, LP. This obligation ards@m an excess contribution from
our partner at the formation of the joint ventuaed the net present value of the fixed obligatimealinted at 9.62% which represents
the interest rate derived from the agreement,daroed in other liabilities. See Note 2 to the Gidsited Financial Statements for
further discussior

(8) Interest components of the contractual oblayetiare based on the stated fixed rates in theiimsnts. For floating rate debt, interest is
computed using the current rate in effect at Deearth, 2006

Refinancings and Preferred Stock Redemptions in 2@0and 2006

During 2005, 2006 and through February 15, 2007paid off $490 million of outstanding loans, exdhglany normal debt
amortization, which included $260 million of secdidebt with a weighted average interest rate of%.2nd $230 million of unsecured
floating rate debt with a weighted average interata of 6.13%.
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Approximately $531 million of real estate assets@d on undepreciated cost basis) became unencedrdfegr paying off the secured debt.
We also used some of the proceeds from our disposittivity to redeem, in August 2005 and Febru2i96, all of our outstanding Series D
Preferred Shares and 3.2 million of our outstandages B Preferred Shares, aggregating $180 mitlios accrued dividends. These
reductions in outstanding debt and Preferred Shatknces were made primarily from proceeds fronp@nty dispositions that closed in 20
2006 and early 2007, a $270 million increase istaunding borrowings under our revolving and norsheng credit facilities and by
approximately $57 million of additional loan prodseon an existing secured loan. In connection thi¢hredemption of Preferred Stock, the
excess of the redemption cost over the net cargingunt of the redeemed shares was recorded dsiction to net income available for
common shareholders. These reductions amountetl3andlllion and $1.8 million for the third quart2@05 and first quarter 2006,
respectively.

Unsecured Indebtedness

On May 1, 2006, we obtained a new $350 millione#hyear unsecured revolving credit facility froornBaf America, N.A. We used
$273 million of proceeds from the new revolvingditdacility, together with available cash, to paf§ the remaining outstanding balance of
$178 million under our previous revolving creditifidy and a $100 million bank term loan. In contien with these payoffs, we wrote off
approximately $0.5 million in unamortized deferfethncing costs in the second quarter of 2006 lassion debt extinguishment.

On August 8, 2006, this revolving credit facilityagramended and restated as part of a syndicattbravgroup of 15 banks. The
revolving credit facility was also upsized from $3&iillion to $450 million. Our revolving credit fdity is initially scheduled to mature on
May 1, 2009. Assuming no default exists, we havetion to extend the maturity date by one addélgear and, at any time prior to
May 1, 2008, may request increases in the borrowugglability undetthe credit facility by up to an additional $50 nah. The interest rate
LIBOR plus 80 basis points and the annual baséitiafee is 20 basis points. As of December 31,8860d February 15, 2007, we had $373.5
million and $359.5 million, respectively, borrowed this revolving credit facility.

On January 31, 2007, we obtained a $150 millioreamsed non-revolving credit facility. This facilihas an initial term of six months
and can be extended at our option for two addititmae-month periods provided we are not in defduiis facility has identical interest rate
terms and financial covenants as our revolvingitfadility. We currently intend to repay all amdsroutstanding under the non-revolving
facility with proceeds from newly obtained secucgdinsecured debt. As of February 15, 2007, weH6@d0 million borrowed on the non-
revolving facility.

Our credit facilities and the indenture that gogeonr outstanding notes require us to comply witst@mary operating covenants and
various financial and operating ratios. We areenity in compliance with all such requirements.haligh we expect to remain in compliance
with these covenants and ratios for at least tixé year, depending upon our future operating peréorce, property and financing transacti
and general economic conditions, we cannot assurehat we will continue to be in compliance.

If any of our lenders ever accelerated outstandelg due to an event of default, we would not He abborrow any further amounts
under our credit facilities, which would adversaffect our ability to fund our operations. If owlit cannot be paid, refinanced or extended at
maturity or upon acceleration, in addition to caiture to repay our debt, we may not be able toevdiktributions to stockholders at expected
levels or at all. Furthermore, if any refinancisgdione at higher interest rates, the increasetksttexpense would adversely affect our cash
flows and ability to make distributions to stockthets. Any such refinancing could also impose tigfiteincial ratios and other covenants
would restrict our ability to take actions that vebotherwise be in our stockholders’ best interssth as funding new development activity,
making opportunistic acquisitions, repurchasingsaaurities or paying distributions.

In May, July, August and September 2005 and Fepr2@06, we obtained waivers from the lenders undeprevious revolving credit
facility and our previous bank term loans relatedimely reporting to the lenders of annual andrtpry financial statements and to covenant
violations that could arise from future redemptioh$referred Stock due to the reclassificatioPferred Stock from equity to a liability
during the period of time from the announcemerthefredemption until the redemption is completdte &forementioned modifications did
not change the economic terms of the loans. In ectiion with these modifications, we incurred certaian costs that are capitalized and
amortized over the remaining terms of the loan®drember 2005, we amended the $100.0 million lamk loan to extend the maturity d
to July 17, 2006 and reduce the spread over th©Rhterest
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rate from 130 basis points to 100 basis pointss&heans were paid off in May 2006 in connectiothwhie closing of our new revolving
credit facility, as described above.

Current and Future Cash Needs

Rental and other revenues are our principal soafréends to meet our short-term liquidity requirertss which primarily consist of
operating expenses, debt service, stockholderelidd, any guarantee obligations and recurring aagipenditures. In addition, we could
incur tenant improvement costs and lease commissilated to any releasing of vacant space.

As of February 15, 2007, other than principal amation on certain secured loans, we have no audgsig debt that matures prior to 1
end of 2007. Our non-revolving credit facility af50.0 million will mature in January 2008 assumivgyexercise our two three-month
extension options. We expect to fund our short-tégoidity needs through a combination of availabierking capital, cash flows from
operations and the following:

» the selective disposition of n-core land and other asse

» borrowings under our unsecured credit facilitiegih have up to $178.3 million of availability ine aggregate as of
February 15, 2007) and under our existing $50.0anikecured revolving construction loan (which B&88.2 million available at
February 15, 2007

» the sale or contribution of some of our Wholly Owrieroperties, development projects and developtaadtto strategic joint
ventures to be formed with unrelated investorscihwould have the net effect of generating addatiaapital through such sale
contributions;

» the issuance of secured debt; :
» the issuance of unsecured d¢

Our long-term liquidity needs generally include fhading of capital expenditures to lease spaamitacustomers, maintain the quality
of our existing properties and build new propert@apital expenditures include tenant improvemenigding improvements, new building
completion costs and land infrastructure costsaheimprovements are the costs required to cus®apace for the specific needs of first-
generation and second-generation customers. Bgildiprovements are recurring capital costs notedlto a specific customer to maintain
existing buildings. New building completion costs axpenses for the construction of new buildihgsd infrastructure costs are expenses to
prepare development land for future developmentiicthat is not specifically related to a sinddeilding. Excluding recurring capital
expenditures for leasing costs and tenant impromesraend for normal building improvements, our expdduture capital expenditures for
started and/or committed new development projeetgwapproximately $260 million at December 31, 2806 were approximately $250
million at February 15, 2007. A significant portiohthese future expenditures are currently sulifebinding contractual arrangements.

Our long-term liquidity needs also include the fingdof development commitments, selective assatiaitipns and the retirement of
mortgage debt, amounts outstanding under our dadiities and long-term unsecured debt. Our ge&b maintain a conservative and
flexible balance sheet. Accordingly, we expect &etour long-term liquidity needs through a comboraof (1) the issuance by the
Operating Partnership of additional unsecured deburrities, (2) the issuance of additional equétyusities by the Company and the
Operating Partnership, (3) borrowings under otkeeussd construction loans that we may enter irgovell as (4) the sources described at
with respect to our short-term liquidity. We expextise such sources to meet our long-term liquiditiuirements either through direct
payments or repayments of borrowings under ourlvéwg credit facility. As mentioned above, we da imtend to reserve funds to retire
existing secured or unsecured indebtedness uparritgatnstead, we will seek to refinance such dathtaturity or retire such debt through
the issuance of equity or debt securities or fraoteeds from sales of properties.
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We anticipate that our available cash and cashvatgiits and cash flows from operating activitieghwash available from borrowings
and other sources, will be adequate to meet outatamd liquidity needs in both the short and leegn. However, if these sources of funds
are insufficient or unavailable, our ability to pdiyidends to stockholders and satisfy other cagents may be adversely affected.

Stockholder Dividends

To maintain our qualification as a REIT, we mustlbute to stockholders at least 90.0% of our Rtakable income, excluding capital
gains. REIT taxable income, the calculation of whidetermined by the federal tax laws, does goaknet income under GAAP. The
minimum dividend per share of Common Stock requicedhe Company to maintain its REIT status (edolg any net capital gains) was
$0.24 per share in 2005. Aggregate dividends paiBreferred Stock exceeded REIT taxable incomdydixg capital gains) in 2006, which
resulted in no required dividend on Common StocRdA6 for REIT qualification purposes. We generabpect to use our cash flow from
operating activities for dividends to stockholdensl for payment of recurring capital expendituFagure dividends will be made at the
discretion of our Board of Directors. The followifagtors will affect our cash flows and, accordinghfluence decisions of the Board of
Directors regarding dividends:

. debt service requirements after taking into accdet covenants and the repayment and restructafiogrtain
indebtedness

. scheduled increases in base rents of existingde

. changes in rents attributable to the renewal ddteyg leases or replacement lea:

. changes in occupancy rates at existing propentidsaecution of leases for newly acquired or dgyedioproperties
. operating expenses and capital replacement neeligding tenant improvements and leasing costs

. sales of properties and r-core land

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have several off balance sheet joint venturegaradantee arrangements. The joint ventures wemeefb with unrelated investors to
generate additional capital to fund property adtjaiss, repay outstanding debt, fund other stratautiatives and lessen the risks typically
associated with owning 100.0% of a property. Wherncveate a joint venture with a strategic partwerusually contribute one or more
properties that we own to a newly formed entityinich we retain an equal or minority interest. ktlgange for an equal or minority interest
in the joint venture, we generally receive caslrfitbe partner and frequently retain the manageimentne relating to the properties in the
joint venture. For financial reporting purposesiaia assets we sold have been accounted for aisdiimy arrangements. See Notes 1, 2 a
to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

As discussed in Note 1, we generally account forimeestments in less than majority owned jointtueas, partnerships and limited
liability companies under the equity method of ag@ing. As a result, the assets and liabilitietheke joint ventures are not included on our
balance sheet and the results of operations o flo@s ventures are not included on our incomeestant, other than as equity in earnings of
unconsolidated affiliates. Generally, we are raiblie for the debts of our joint ventures, exceghtextent of our equity investment, unless
we have directly guaranteed any of that debt. Istmases, we and/or our strategic partners aréreglio guarantee customary limited
exceptions to non-recourse liability in non-receuEans.

As of December 31, 2006, our unconsolidated joamtures had $776.8 million of total assets and $664llion of total liabilities as
reflected in their financial statements. At Decentfii, 2006, our weighted average equity intereseban the total assets of these
unconsolidated joint ventures was 40.5%. Duringe2@ese unconsolidated joint ventures earned $hillidn of total net income, of which
our share, after appropriate purchase accountidg#rer adjustments, was $6.8 million. For addgidnformation about our unconsolidated
joint venture activity, see Note 2 to the ConsdkdiFinancial Statement
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As of December 31, 2006, our unconsolidated joarttures had $575.5 million of outstanding mortgaeiet. All of this joint venture
debt is non-recourse to us except (1) in the chsastomary exceptions pertaining to such mattendiguse of funds, environmental
conditions and material misrepresentations anthe guarantees and loans described in the foltpparagraphs. The following table sets
forth the scheduled maturities of our proportiorstare of the outstanding debt of our unconsoldptieit ventures as of December 31, 2006
($ in thousands):

2007 $ 3,817
2008 4,717
2009 8,34:
2010 23,51%
2011 6,117
Thereaftel 198,46!

$244,97!

In connection with our Des Moines joint venturesg, guaranteed certain debt. The maximum potentialainof future payments that
we could be required to make under the guaranse®8.6 million at December 31, 2006. This amoulates to housing revenue bonds that
require credit enhancements in addition to theestdte mortgages. The bonds bear a floating stteaite, which at December 31, 2006
averaged 3.65%, and mature in 2015. If the joimtwess are unable to repay the outstanding balander these housing revenue bonds, we
will be required to repay our maximum exposure uribdese loans. Recourse provisions exist that enabto recover some or all of such
payments from the joint ventures’ assets. The joémtture currently generates sufficient cash flowdver the debt service required by the
loan. On July 31, 2006, $6.0 million in other loaakted to four office buildings that had beervprasly guaranteed by us were refinanced
with no guarantee. An additional guarantee of $8illon expired upon an industrial building becomi®5% leased prior to the end of 2006.

In connection with the RRHWoods, LLC joint ventunee guaranteed $3.1 million relating to a letteci&dit and corresponding master
lease, which expires in August 2010. The guararggeires us to pay under a contingent master iéése cash flows from the building
securing the letter of credit do not cover at |&086 of the minimum debt service. The letter ofldralong with the building secure the
industrial revenue bonds used to finance the ptpp€&hese bonds mature in 2015. Recourse proviggiss such that we could recover some
or all of the payments made under the letter afitiguarantee from the joint venture’s assets. At&nber 31, 2006, we recorded a $0.4
million deferred charge included in other assetslabilities on our Consolidated Balance Sheehwgéspect to this guarantee. Our maximum
potential exposure under this guarantee was $3libmat December 31, 2006.

The Plaza Colonnade, LLC joint venture has a $30aminon-recourse mortgage that bears a fixed@sterate of 5.7%, requires
monthly principal and interest payments and mataredanuary 31, 2017. We and our joint venturengatiave signed a contingent master
lease limited to 30,772 square feet, which expitddecember 2009. Our maximum exposure under thisten lease was $1.3 million at
December 31, 2006. However, the current occupaai bf the building is sufficient to cover all dedervice requirements.

In the Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32, LP joint verd, a single tenant currently leases an entirelingiunder a lease scheduled to
expire on June 30, 2008. The tenant also leases spather buildings owned by us. In conjunctidthvan overall restructuring of the
tenant’s leases with us and with this joint ventwe agreed to certain changes to the lease watfotht venture in September 2003. The
modifications included allowing the tenant to vactite premises on January 1, 2006, reducing thebdigation by 50.0% and converting 1
“net” lease to a “full service” lease with the tenéable for 50.0% of these costs at that timetuim, we agreed to compensate the joint
venture for any economic losses incurred as atreSthese lease modifications. As of December2BD6, we have approximately $0.4
million in other liabilities and $0.4 million asdeferred charge in other assets recorded on owsdlidated Balance Sheet to account for the
lease guarantee. However, should new tenants ot¢hepsacated space prior to the end of the guaggregod, in June 2008, our liability
under the guarantee would diminish. Our maximunepiél amount of future payments with regard ts thiarantee as of December 31, 2
was $0.7 million. No recourse provisions existtalgle us to recover any amounts paid to the j@ntwe under this lease guarantee
arrangement. During 2006, we expensed $0.1 mitkteted to the lease guarantee.
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RRHWOODS, LLC and Dallas County Partners finan¢eddonstruction of two buildings with a $7.4 mifliten-year loan. As an
inducement to make the loan at a 6.3% long-term ¢ and our partner agreed to master lease tdatvapace and each guaranteed $0.8
million of the debt with limited recourse. As lermgiimproves, the guarantee obligations under the &greement diminish. As of
December 31, 2006, no master lease payments weesswy. We currently have recorded $0.05 millioather liabilities and $0.05 million
as a deferred charge included in other assets m@ansolidated Balance Sheet with respect to thisantee. The maximum potential amount
of future payments that we could be required toertaksed on the current leases in place was appatedyr$2.2 million as of
December 31, 2006. The likelihood of us paying on®0.8 million guarantee is remote since the jeétture currently satisfies the minim
debt coverage ratio and should we have to pay odiop of the guarantee, we would be entitled tmwer the $0.8 million from other joint
venture assets.

On June 28, 2004, Kapital-Consult, a European invesst firm, bought a 60.0% interest in HIW-KC Ontn LLC. We own the
remaining 40.0% interest. HIW-KC Orlando, LLC owfh& in-service office properties, encompassingrhiion rentable square feet,
located in the central business district of Orlarfelorida, which were valued under the joint veatagreement at $212.0 million. The joint
venture borrowed $143.0 million under a ten-yegedirate mortgage loan from a third party lendehattime of its formation. In connection
with this transaction, we agreed to guaranteetcetite joint venture for 3,248 rentable square éestmencing in August 2004 and expiring
in April 2011. In connection with this guarantes,ad June 30, 2004, we included $0.6 million inesthiabilities and reduced the total amount
of gain to be recognized by the same amount. Aattifly, we agreed to guarantee re-tenanting cos@proximately 11% of the joint
venture’s total square footage. We recorded a ®llibn contingent liability with respect to suclugrantee as of June 30, 2004 and reduced
the total amount of gain to be recognized by tmeesamount. In the three year period ended DeceB1het006, we paid $3.7 million in re-
tenanting costs related to this guarantee. Theaiboitiobn was accounted for as a partial sale amedfy SFAS No. 66 and we recognized a
$16.3 million gain in June 2004. Since we have rgoing 40.0% financial interest in the joint ve@and since we are engaged by the joint
venture to provide management and leasing serfaceke joint venture, for which we receive custoynamanagement fees and leasing
commissions, the operations of these properties wet reflected as discontinued operations comgistegh SFAS No. 144 and the related
gain on sale was included in continuing operatiarthe second quarter of 2004.

On September 27, 2004, we and an affiliate of @ralInc. (“Crosland”) formed Weston Lakeside, LIi€which we have a 50.0%
ownership interest. On June 29, 2005, we contrib@%4 acres of land at an agreed upon value 8fi8lion to this joint venture, and
Crosland contributed approximately $2.0 milliorcesh. Immediately thereafter, the joint venturéritisted approximately $1.9 million to us
and we recorded a gain of $0.5 million. Croslanchagged and operated this joint venture, which caotgd approximately 332 rental
residential units in three buildings, at a totalmated cost of approximately $33 million. Croslaedeived 3.25% of all project costs other
than land as a development fee and 3.5% of thesgeagnue of the joint venture in management fBes joint venture financed the
development with a $28.4 million construction lgararanteed by Crosland. We provided certain devedop services for the project and
received a fee equal to 1.0% of all project costdueling land. We have accounted for this jointtuea using the equity method of
accounting. On February 22, 2007, the joint vensmid the 332 rental residential units to a thiadty for gross proceeds of $45.0 million.
Mortgage debt in the amount of $27.1 million waglgsf and various development related costs weid.pVe received a net distribution of
$6.1 million and may receive a further small amdfidistribution. A gain of approximately $5 miltiwill be recognized by us in the first
quarter of 2007 related to this sale. As of Felyr@&, 2007, the joint venture is dormant pendirgfthal distribution to the partners.

On December 22, 2004, we and Easlan InvestmentgGioa. (“Easlan”) formed The Vinings at UniverstBenter, LLC. We
contributed 7.8 acres of land at an agreed uparewvafl $1.6 million to the joint venture in DecemB&04 in return for a 50.0% equity
interest. Easlan contributed $1.1 million in thenficof non-interest bearing promissory notes foD#% equity interest in the joint venture.
Upon formation, the joint venture entered into a7$8illion secured construction loan to complete ¢bnstruction of 156 rental residential
units on the 7.8 acres of land. Easlan guarantéeaddnstruction loan. The construction of thedestial units was completed in the first
quarter of 2006. Easlan was the manager and leagient for these residential units and receivetbowsry management fees and leasing
commissions. We received development fees througheiwconstruction project. We consolidated thistjgenture from inception under the
provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 46 (revisedd@mber 2003) “Consolidation of Variable Interestittes” (“FIN 46(R)") because Easl:
had no at-risk equity and we would absorb the nitgjof the joint venture’s expected losses. On Noker 1, 2006, the joint venture sold the
residential units to a third party for gross prateef $14.3 million, paid off the construction ngigyable and made cash distributions to the
partners. We received a distribution of $2.9 millend recorded a gain of $1.4 million during therfb quarter of 2006.
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Financing Arrangements

The following summarizes significant sale transatdiin 2000 and 2002 that were or continue to bewted for as financing
arrangements under paragraphs 25 through 29 of $A86 during the years ended December 31, 200, and 2004.

- SF-HIW Harborview Plaza, LP

On September 11, 2002, we contributed Harborvieaz&lan office building located in Tampa, FlorigaSF-HIW Harborview Plaza,
LP (“Harborview LP"),a newly formed entity, in exchange for a 20.0% fadipartnership interest and $35.4 million in caste other partni
contributed $12.6 million of cash and a new loars whtained by the partnership for $22.8 millioncémnection with this disposition, we
entered into a master lease agreement with Haarl/P for five years on the then vacant spaceerbtlilding (approximately 20% of the
building); occupancy was 99.6% at December 31, 2006 also guaranteed to Harborview LP the paymEtgrant improvements and lease
commissions of $1.2 million. Our maximum exposwurdéoss under the master lease agreement was $idnmi September 11, 2002 and
was $0.3 million at December 31, 2006. Additionadiyr partner in Harborview LP was granted thetrtghput its 80.0% equity interest in
Harborview LP to us in exchange for cash at ang tituring the one-year period commencing Septentbe2d14. The value of the 80.0%
equity interest will be determined at the time thath partner elects to exercise its put rigteyér, based upon the then fair market value of
Harborview LP’s assets and liabilities, less 3.08ich amount was intended to cover the normal aafséssale transaction.

Because of the put option and the master leasemgm, this transaction is accounted for as a fimgrtransaction, as described in N
1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Acoglgli the assets, liabilities and operations relaceHarborview Plaza, the property owned
by Harborview LP, including any new financing b tbartnership, remain on our consolidated finarstetements. As a result, we have
established a financing obligation equal to theauglity contributed by the other partner. At thd eheach reporting period, the balance of
the financing obligation is adjusted to equal theater of the original financing obligation or thi@rent fair value of the put option discussed
above. The value of the put option was $20.0 mmlkb December 31, 2006. This amount is offset Blated discount account, which is be
amortized prospectively through September 2014tesdst expense on financing obligation. The amotttie financing obligation, net of t
discount amount, related to Harborview LP was $ilRon at December 31, 2006. Additionally, thet imcome from the operations before
depreciation of Harborview Plaza allocable to thed86 partner is recorded as interest expense anding obligation. We continue to
depreciate the property and record all of the dBatien on our consolidated financial statementsy fayments made under the master lease
agreement were expensed as incurred ($0.1 millemexpensed during each of the years ended Dec&bhp2006, 2005 and 2004) and any
amounts paid under the tenant improvement and lEasenission guarantee are capitalized and amort@zedpense over the remaining lease
term. At such time as the put option expires atigerwise terminated, we will record the transacts a sale and recognize gain on sale.

- Eastshore

On November 26, 2002, we sold three buildings etat Richmond, Virginia (the “Eastshore” transawjifor a total price of $28.5
million in cash, which was paid in full by the buiya closing. Each of the sold properties was glsitenant building leased on a triple-net
basis to Capital One Services, Inc., a subsidiayapital One Financial Services, Inc. In conneattioth the sale, we entered into a rental
guarantee agreement for each building for the liesiethe buyer to guarantee any shortfalls thay tmaincurred in the payment of rent and
re-tenanting costs for a five-year period fromdia¢e of sale (through November 2007). Our maximyposure to loss under the rental
guarantee agreements was $18.7 million at theafatale and was $4.1 million as of December 316206 payments were made during
2003 or 2002 in respect of these rent guaranteasekier, in June 2004, we began to make monthly paysrito the buyer, at an annual rat
$0.1 million, as a result of the existing tenamewing a lease in one building at a lower rentd.ré/e began making additional payments in
June 2006 of approximately $0.1 million per monte do the tenant vacating space in one of the thmédings as of May 31, 2006. These
payments will continue until the earlier of the eafdhe guarantee period or until replacement tenare in place and paying amounts equ
or more than the current tenant.
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These rent guarantees are a form of continuinghieweent as discussed in paragraph 28 of SFAS NdBé€ause the guarantees cover
the entire space occupied by a single tenant umtigule-net lease arrangement, our guarantees eea®dered a guaranteed return on the
buyer’s investment for an extended period of tiffteerefore, the transaction had been accountedsfarfmancing transaction following the
accounting method described in Note 1 to the Caatesteld Financial Statements through July 2005. Adiagly, through July 2005, the
assets, liabilities and operations were includetthénConsolidated Financial Statements, and adingrobligation of $28.8 million was
recorded, which represented the amount received fin@ buyer, adjusted for subsequent activity. inbeme from the operations of the
properties, other than depreciation, was alloca@#10% to the owner as interest expense on fingratifigations. Payments made under the
rent guarantees were charged to expense as inclilvsdtransaction was recorded as a completedrsaisaction in July 2005 when the
maximum exposure to loss under the guarantees leclessithan the related deferred gain; accordigdly’, million in gain was recognized
the last six months of 2005, $3.6 million in gaiasasrecognized in 2006 and additional gain will @eognized in 2007 as the maximum
exposure under the guarantees is reduced. Paymadts under rent guarantees after July 2005 aredett@s a reduction of the deferred
gain.

Interest Rate Hedging Activities

To meet, in part, our long-term liquidity requiremt® we borrow funds at a combination of fixed &adable rates. Borrowings under
our revolving credit facility bear interest at \asle rates. Our long-term debt, which consistsofised and unsecured long-term financings
and the issuance of unsecured debt securitiegaiypbears interest at fixed rates although samaed bear interest at variable rates. Our
interest rate risk management objectives are tib the impact of interest rate changes on earnamgscash flows and to lower our overall
borrowing costs. To achieve these objectives, ftiome to time, we may enter into interest rate hettg®racts such as collars, swaps, cap:
treasury lock agreements in order to mitigate oterest rate risk with respect to various debtimsents. We do not hold or issue these
derivative contracts for trading or speculativepuses.

The interest rate on all of our variable rate delatdjusted at one and three month intervals, stiljesettlements under these interest
rate hedge contracts. We also enter into treasalydgreements from time to time in order to limit exposure to an increase in interest 1
with respect to future debt offerings. We currettve no outstanding interest rate hedge contracts.

Related Party Transactions

We had a contract to acquire development landerBllnegrass Valley office development project frG#Pl, Inc., a corporation
controlled by Gene H. Anderson, an executive offaoed director of the Company. Under the termdiefdontract, the development land was
purchased in phases, and the purchase price fhrpdese or parcel was settled in cash and/or Contnds. The price for the various
parcels was based on an initial value for eachgbaadjusted for an interest factor, applied uthtoclosing date and also for changes in the
value of the Common Units. On January 17, 2003aggired an additional 23.5 acres of this land f@API, Inc. for 85,520 shares of
Common Stock and $384,000 in cash for total comataen of $2.3 million. In May 2003, 4.0 acres bétremaining acres not yet acquired by
us was taken by the Georgia Department of Tranapontto develop a roadway interchange for consittam of $1.8 million. The Departme
of Transportation took possession and title ofgtaperty in June 2003. As part of the terms ofdbmtract between us and GAPI, Inc., we
were entitled to and received in 2003 the $1.8iomlproceeds from the condemnation. In July 2008 appealed the condemnation and are
currently seeking additional payment from the sttite recognition of any gain has been deferredlipgrresolution of the appeal process. In
April 2005, we acquired for cash an additional 1&cies of the Bluegrass Valley land from GAPI, laed also settled for cash the final
purchase price with GAPI, Inc. on the 4.0 acresweae taken by the Georgia Department of Tranggiort, which aggregated approximately
$2.7 million, of which $0.7 million was recorded apayable to GAPI, Inc. on our financial stateraexst of December 31, 2004. In
August 2005, we acquired 12.7 acres, represertimdpst parcel of land to be acquired, for cash3o? million. We believe that the purchase
price with respect to each land parcel was at lmvbenarket value based on market data and on thsesjent sale of the land at a significant
gain, as discussed below. These transactions wargraously approved by the full Board of Directasigh Mr. Anderson abstaining from the
vote. The contract provided that the land parceldcdtbe paid in Common Units or in cash, at theoopof the seller. This feature constituted
an embedded derivative pursuant to SFAS No. 138¢ctanting for Derivative Instruments and Hedgindiites.” The embedded derivati
feature was accounted for separately and adjusteeddbon changes in the fair value of the CommotsUThis resulted in decreases to other
income of $0.4 million and $0.2 million in 2004 a&d05, respectively. The embedded derivative egpipon the closing of the final land
transaction in August 2005.
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The majority of the Bluegrass land that we acquirech GAPI, Inc. was sold in the fourth quarter2606 to a third party for a gain of
approximately $7.0 million. In connection with thale, it was determined that a portion of the Btasg land that we acquired from GAPI,
Inc. pursuant to this staged land take-down arnawege was not usable or saleable for future devedrpnThe original purchase contract
requires GAPI, Inc. to reimburse us for the valiary unusable acreage. Based on current estin@#el, Inc. may be required to reimbu
us for up to $750,000 pending final resolutionta matter in accordance with and in the manneriredjby the original contract.

On February 28, 2005 and April 15, 2005, we sotdugh a third party broker three non-core indusbialdings in Winston-Salem,
North Carolina to John L. Turner and certain ofdffdiates for a gross sales price of approxima&7.0 million, of which $20.3 million we
paid in cash and the remainder from the surrenti25®508 Common Units. We recorded a gain of axprately $4.8 million upon the
closing of these sales. Mr. Turner, who was a thregt the time of these transactions, retired ftbenBoard of Directors effective
December 31, 2005. We believe that the purchase paid for these assets by Mr. Turner and hiaaéfs was equal to their fair market
value based on extensive marketing of the progepti®r to this sale. The sales were unanimoustyaped by the full Board of Directors
with Mr. Turner not being present to discuss oewvart the matter.

C RITICAL A CCOUNTING E STIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith GAAP requires us to make estimates andrapsions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclsiicontingent assets and liabilities at the datée financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses for the repgoéingd. Actual results could differ from our estiem

The policies and estimates used in the preparafionr Consolidated Financial Statements are desdrin Note 1 to our Consolidated
Financial Statements for the year ended Decemhe?(®6. However, certain of our significant accaugpipolicies contain an increased level
of assumptions used or estimates made in detergnih&ir impact on our Consolidated Financial Staets. Management has reviewed our
critical accounting policies and estimates with dlnelit committee of the Company’s Board of Direstand the Company’s independent
auditors.

We consider our critical accounting estimates téhiose used in the determination of the reporteduants and disclosure related to the
following:

* Real estate and related ass

» Sales of real estat

* Allowance for doubtful accounts; ai
» Property operating expense recover

Real Estate and Related Assets

Real estate and related assets are recorded armbstated at cost less accumulated depreci&m®movations, replacements and other
expenditures that improve or extend the life ohaset are capitalized and depreciated over thtginaed useful lives. Expenditures for
ordinary maintenance and repairs are charged t@abpg expense as incurred. Depreciation is contbusing the straight-line method over
the estimated useful life of 40 years for builditagsl depreciable land infrastructure costs, 15syfarbuilding improvements and five to
seven years for furniture, fixtures and equipm&ehant improvements are amortized using the stidiighn method over initial fixed terms of
the respective leases, which generally are froeetho 10 years.

Expenditures directly related to the development @nstruction of real estate assets are includeet real estate assets and are stated
at cost in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Outatiaption policy on development properties isaatordance with SFAS No. 67,
“Accounting for Costs and the Initial Rental Opéras of Real Estate Properties,” SFAS No. 34, “Gdigation of Interest Costs,” and SFAS
No. 58,“Capitalization of Interest Cost in Financial Staents That Include Investments Accounted for byRbaity Method.” Development
expenditures include pre-construction costs esaldntihe development of properties, developmedt an
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construction costs, interest costs, real estatstaalaries and related costs and other costséacduring the period of development. Interest
and other carrying costs are capitalized untillthiéding is ready for its intended use. We consalepnstruction project as substantially
completed and held available for occupancy uporctimpletion of tenant improvements, but no latantbne year from cessation of major
construction activity. We cease capitalization loa portion substantially completed and occupieldedd available for occupancy, and
capitalize only those costs associated with thégrounder construction.

Expenditures directly related to the leasing ofparties are included in deferred leasing costsaaadtated at cost in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets. We capitalize initial direct coslated to our leasing efforts in accordance wEAS No. 91, “Accounting for
Nonrefundable Fees and Costs Associated with Gaiigig or Acquiring Loans and Initial Direct CosfsL@ases” All leasing commissions
paid to third parties for new leases or lease rateare capitalized. Internal leasing costs inclod@arily compensation, benefits and other
costs such as legal fees related to leasing detiitat are incurred in connection with succelisiécuring leases on the properties.
Capitalized leasing costs are amortized on a $irdilge basis over initial fixed terms of the resfiee leases, which generally are from three
to 10 years. Estimated costs related to unsucdesdiuities are expensed as incurred. If our aggtions regarding the successful efforts of
leasing are incorrect, the resulting adjustmentsdcompact earnings.

We record liabilities under FASB Interpretation M@. “Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirementli@ations, an interpretation of
SFAS No. 143,” (“FIN 47”) for the performance ofsas retirement activities when the obligation tofgen such activities is unconditional,
whether or not the timing or method of settlemdithe obligation may be conditional on a future @ve

Upon the acquisition of real estate, we assesfathealue of acquired tangible assets such as lamittlings and tenant improvements,
intangible assets such as above and below mastdeacquired in-place leases and other ideniifiadgible assets and assumed liabilities
in accordance with SFAS No. 141, “Business Comimnat” We allocate the purchase price to the aeguirssets and assumed liabilities
based on their relative fair values. We assessansider fair value based on estimated cash flajeptions that utilize appropriate discount
and/or capitalization rates as well as availableketanformation. The fair value of the tangiblesets of an acquired property considers the
value of the property as if it were vacant.

Above and below market leases acquired are recandetther assets at their fair value. Fair valueaisulated as the present value of
difference between (1) the contractual amountstpdid pursuant to each in-place lease and (2) geament’s estimate of fair market lease
rates for each corresponding in-place lease, wsifigcount rate that reflects the risks associattidthe leases acquired and measured over a
period equal to the remaining term of the leasabmve-market leases and the initial term plugehm of any below-market fixed rate
renewal options for below-market leases. The chpith above-market lease values are amortizedredution of base rental revenue over
the remaining term of the respective leases andap#alized below-market lease values are amattizean increase to base rental revenue
over the remaining term of the respective leasdsaaly below market option periods. If a tenant ¥eE#s space prior to its contractual
expiration date, any unamortized balance is adjuteugh rental revenue.

In-place leases acquired are recorded at their faieva real estate and related assets and areiaetbtd depreciation and amortizat
expense over the remaining term of the respectiasd. The value of iplace leases is based on our evaluation of thefgpelcaracteristics ¢
each tenant’s lease. Factors considered includeagst of carrying costs during hypothetical expddéase-up periods, current market
conditions and costs to execute similar leasesstimating carrying costs, we include real es@eg, insurance and other operating expense
and estimates of lost rentals at market rates guhie expected lease-up periods, depending on eadiet conditions. In estimating costs to
execute similar leases, we consider tenant imprewsnleasing commissions and legal and otherekitpenses. The value of in-place
leases is amortized to depreciation and amortizatigpense over the remaining term of the respelgases. If a tenant vacates its space prior
to its contractual expiration date, any unamortizathnce of its related asset is expensed.

The value of a tenant relationship is based orowarall relationship with the respective tenanttbes considered include the tenant’s
credit quality and expectations of lease renevildis. value of a tenant relationship is amortizeddpreciation and amortization expense over
the initial term and any renewal periods definethimrespective leases. Based on our acquisitione the adoption of SFAS No. 141 and
SFAS No. 142, we have
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deemed tenant relationships to be immaterial and hat allocated any amounts to this intangiblet$&'e will evaluate these items in future
transactions.

Real estate and leasehold improvements are ckedsi§i long-lived assets held for sale or as loreglassets to be held for use. Real
estate is classified as held for sale when thera@itet forth in SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for tingpairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets,” are satisfied; this determination requmasmagement to make estimates and assumptionsdinglassessing the probability that
potential sales transactions may or may not odsttual results could differ from those assumptidnsaccordance with SFAS No. 144, we
record assets held for sale at the lower of theyitey amount or estimated fair value. Fair valuasdets held for sale is equal to the estimated
or contracted sales price with a potential buyss kosts to sell. The impairment loss is the ambynthich the carrying amount exceeds the
estimated fair value. With respect to assets dladsas held for use, if events or changes in onstances, such as a significant decline in
occupancy and change in use, indicate that thgingrvalue may be impaired, an impairment analisggerformed. Such analysis consists of
determining whether the asset’s carrying amouritheilrecovered from its undiscounted estimatedréutyperating cash flows, including
estimated residual cash flows. These cash flowsstimated based on a number of assumptions thauaject to economic and market
uncertainties including, among others, demandgacs, competition for tenants, changes in markdaleates and costs to operate each
property. If the carrying amount of a held for asset exceeds the sum of its undiscounted futembtpg and residual cash flows, an
impairment loss is recorded for the difference leetvestimated fair value of the asset and theamgting amount. We generally estimate the
fair value of assets held for use by using discedicish flow analysis; in some instances, appraigaimation may be available and is used
in addition to the discounted cash flow analysis.tie factors used in generating these cash flosvditiicult to predict and are subject to
future events that may alter our assumptions, igodnted and/or undiscounted future operatingrasdiual cash flows estimated by us in
our impairment analyses or those established byaigah may not be achieved and we may be requireglcognize future impairment losses
on our properties held for sale and held for use.

Sales of Real Estate

We account for sales of real estate in accordaiitteS#FAS No. 66. For sales transactions meetingabairements of SFAS No. 66 for
full profit recognition, the related assets antbiliies are removed from the balance sheet andeasgltant gain or loss is recorded in the
period the transaction closes. For sales transectitat do not meet the criteria for full profitognition, we account for the transactions in
accordance with the methods specified in SFAS BoF6r sales transactions with continuing involvatredter the sale, if the continuing
involvement with the property is limited by thertes of the sales contract, profit is recognizedhattime of sale and is reduced by the
maximum exposure to loss related to the naturbetontinuing involvement. Sales to entities inahhive have or receive an interest are
accounted for in accordance with partial sale aoting provisions as set forth in SFAS No. 66.

For sales transactions that do not meet saleieréisrset forth in SFAS No. 66, we evaluate themeatf the continuing involvement,
including put and call provisions, if present, awtount for the transaction as a financing arramgenprofit-sharing arrangement, leasing
arrangement or other alternate method of accounditiger than as a sale, based on the nature amat @ftthe continuing involvement. Some
transactions may have numerous forms of contininmglvement. In those cases, we determine whicthatets most appropriate based on
the substance of the transaction.

If we have an obligation to repurchase the propatty higher price or at a future indeterminable@gsuch as fair market value), or we
guarantee the return of the buyer’s investmentretwn on that investment for an extended pemadaccount for such transaction as a
financing transaction. If we have an option to repase the property at a higher price and it slyikve will exercise this option, the
transaction is accounted for as a financing trarmad-or transactions treated as financings, wenkthe amounts received from the buyer as
a financing obligation and continue to keep thepprty and related accounts recorded on our coradelidiinancial statements. The results of
operations of the property, net of expenses ottar tlepreciation (net operating income), will biteted as “interest expense” on the
financing obligation. If the transaction includesabligation or option to repurchase the assetragjlaer price, additional interest is recorded
to accrete the liability to the repurchase priaa. dptions or obligations to repurchase the addairamarket value at the end of each repor
period, the balance of the liability is adjustedtpal the current fair value to the extent falueaexceeds the original financing obligation.
The corresponding debit or credit will be recordiea related discount account and the reviseddiebbunt is amortized over the expected
term until termination of the option or obligatidhit is unlikely such
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option will be exercised, the transaction is ac¢edrior under the deposit method or profit-sharmgthod. If we have an obligation or option
to repurchase at a lower price, the transacti@eésunted for as a leasing arrangement. At such dsrthese repurchase obligations expire, a
sale will be recorded and gain recognized.

If we retain an interest in the buyer and providdain rent guarantees or other forms of suppodresthe maximum exposure to loss
exceeds the gain, we account for such transacsienpaiofit-sharing arrangement. For transacticsetéid as profit-sharing arrangements, we
record a profit-sharing obligation for the amouhg&quity contributed by the other partner and curgito keep the property and related
accounts recorded on our consolidated financiséstants. The results of operations of the propesy of expenses other than depreciation
(net operating income), will be allocated to thieestpartner for their percentage interest andetftbas “co-venture expense” in our
Consolidated Financial Statements. In future periadsale is recorded and profit is recognized whememaining maximum exposure to |
is reduced below the amount of gain deferred.

Properties that are sold or classified as helddte are classified as discontinued operationsdordance with SFAS No. 144 and EITF
Issue No. 03-13, “Applying the Conditions of Pargmr 42 of FASB Statement No. 144 in Determining Y¥Weeto Report Discontinued
Operations,” (effective beginning in 2005) providédt (1) the operations and cash flows of the @rtypwill be eliminated from our ongoing
operations and (2) we will not have any significaomtinuing involvement in the operations of thegarty after it is sold. Interest expense is
included in discontinued operations if the reldteth securing the sold property is paid off or assd by the buyer in connection with the
sale. If the property is sold to a joint ventureninich we retain an interest, the property will betaccounted for as discontinued operations
due to our significant ongoing interest in the @piens through our joint venture interest. If we egtained to provide property management,
leasing and/or other services for the property ovafter the sale, the property generally will beamted for as discontinued operations
because the expected cash flows related to thesegement and leasing activities will generally b@tsignificant in comparison to the cash
flows from the property prior to sale.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable are reduced by an allowancarfayunts that may become uncollectible in the &t@ur receivable balance is
comprised primarily of rents and operating cosbweties due from tenants as well as accrued striighrents receivable. We regularly
evaluate the adequacy of our allowance for doulbifabunts. The evaluation primarily consists ofeeing past due account balances and
considering such factors as the credit qualitywftenant, historical trends of the tenant andtbeodebtor, current economic conditions and
changes in customer payment terms. Additionallyhwespect to tenants in bankruptcy, we estimae#pected recovery through bankruj
claims and increase the allowance for amounts deéemeollectible. If our assumptions regarding thbectibility of accounts receivable and
accrued straight-line rents receivable prove irexirrwe could experience write-offs of account&ieable or accrued straight-line rents
receivable in excess of our allowance for doukdfitdounts.

Property Operating Expense Recoveries

We receive additional rent from tenants in the fafnproperty operating cost recoveries (or coshleirsements) which are determined
on a lease-by-lease basis. The most common typassbfeimbursements in our leases are commomaagdenance (“CAM™jand real esta
taxes, where the tenant pays its pro rata shasparfting and administrative expenses and reakdstees, as determined in each lease.

The computation of such additional rent due fronmatgs is complex and involves numerous judgments ding the interpretation of
terms and other tenant lease provisions. Leasasoarmiform in dealing with such cost reimbursetseand there are many variations in the
computations. Many tenants make monthly fixed paysief CAM, real estate taxes and other cost reisdinent items. We record these
payments as income each month. We also make agjottnpositive or negative, to cost recovery incéonadjust the recorded amounts to
our best estimate of the final amounts to be bilad collected with respect to the cost reimburseséfter the end of the calendar year, we
compute each tenant’s final cost reimbursementsaftet considering amounts paid by the tenantduttie year, issue a bill or credit for the
appropriate amount to the tenant. The differenedaden the amounts billed less previously recepasanents and the accrual adjustment are
recorded as increases or decreases to cost redagerge when the final bills are prepared, usuiadlginning in March and completed by
mid-year.
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F unDSF Rom O PERATIONS

We believe that FFO and FFO per share are beneficcaanagement and investors and are importaitatats of the performance of
any equity REIT. Because FFO and FFO per sharelesilens exclude such factors as depreciation amattization of real estate assets and
gains or losses from sales of operating real eatdets (which can vary among owners of identise in similar conditions based on
historical cost accounting and useful life estirsptéhey facilitate comparisons of operating perfance between periods and between other
REITs. Our management believes that historical aosbunting for real estate assets in accordanteGAAP implicitly assumes that the
value of real estate assets diminishes predictaldy time. Since real estate values have histdyiciaen or fallen with market conditions,
many industry investors and analysts have considie presentation of operating results for re@tescompanies that use historical cost
accounting to be insufficient by themselves. Assutt, management believes that the use of FF@-B@dper share, together with the
required GAAP presentations, provide a more coreplederstanding of our performance relative toommpetitors and a more informed and
appropriate basis on which to make decisions inkgleperating, financing and investing activities.

FFO and FFO per share as disclosed by other RE&ysnot be comparable to our calculation of FFORRO per share as described
below. However, you should be aware that FFO ar@ pér share are non-GAAP financial measures andftre do not represent net
income or net income per share as defined by GAR income and net income per share as definedddFGare the most relevant
measures in determining our operating performaecatse FFO and FFO per share include adjustmetsttestors may deem subjective,
such as adding back expenses such as depreciaticam#ortization. Furthermore, FFO per share doedeuict the amount that accrues
directly to the stockholders’ benefit. Accordinghf-O and FFO per share should never be consideraliesinatives to net income or net
income per share as indicators of our operatinfppaance.

Our calculation of FFO, which we believe is coresistwith the calculation of FFO as defined by ttagibhal Association of Real Estate
Investment Trusts (“NAREIT”) and which appropriagteixcludes the cost of capital improvements aratedl capitalized interest, is as
follows:

* Netincome (loss) computed in accordance with GA
» Less dividends to holders of Preferred Stock assl éxcess of Preferred Stock redemption cost areying value;
» Plus depreciation and amortization of assets uhjcgignificant to the real estate indust

» Less gains, or plus losses, from sales of depriec@ierating properties (but excluding impairmasskes) and excluding items t
are classified as extraordinary items under GA

» Plus or minus adjustments for unconsolidated pestis and joint ventures (to reflect funds froneigtions on the same basis);
and

e Plus or minus adjustments for depreciation and &nadion and gains/(losses) on sales and minamigrést related to discontint
operations

Further, in calculating FFO, we add back minoritierest in the income from our Operating Partnershihich we believe is consistent
with standard industry practice for REITs that @perthrough an UPREIT structure. We believe thiatiinportant to present FFO on an as-
converted basis since all of the Common Units noted by the Company are redeemable on a one-fobasie for shares of our Common
Stock.

Other REITs may not define FFO in accordance withdurrent NAREIT definition or may interpret therent NAREIT definition
differently than we do.
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FFO and FFO per share for the years ended Dece3th@006, 2005 and 2004 are summarized in theviolip table ($ in thousands,
except per share amounts):

2006 2005 2004
Per Per Per
Amount Share Amount Share Amount Share
Funds from operations:
Net income $ 53,74« $ 62,45¢ $ 41,57:
Dividends to preferred stockholde (17,067 (27,239 (30,857
Excess of Preferred Stock redemption cost oveyicayvalue (1,809 (4,272 —
Net income applicable to common stockholc 34,87¢ $ 0.6z 30,94¢ $0.5¢ 10,728  $0.2C
Add/(Deduct):
Depreciation and amortization of real estate a 111,84t 1.82 106,98: 1.77 105,96 1.77
(Gains) on disposition of depreciable proper (4,119 (0.0¢) (7,692 (0.15) (18,88() (0.3)
Minority interest from the Operating Partnershiprioome/(loss)
from operation: 1,621 — (47%) — (1,02¢) —
Unconsolidated affiliates
Depreciation and amortization of real estate as 11,19 0.1¢ 10,98¢ 0.1¢ 9,04¢ 0.1t
Discontinued operation
Depreciation and amortization of real estate as 3,38¢ 0.0€ 16,84 0.2¢ 25,33¢ 0.4z
(Gains) on disposition of depreciable proper (15,08 (0.25) (34,128 (0.57) (9,380 (0.1¢)
Minority interest from the Operating Partnershiprioome
from discontinued operatior 1,55 — 3,75¢€ — 2,371 —
Funds from operatior $145,28! $2.37 $127,22: $2.11 $124,16( $2.07
Weighted average shares outstandihg 61,36: 60,30 60,02¢

(1) Includes assumed conversion of all potentiallytdikiCommon Stock equivalen
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

The effects of potential changes in interest ratesdiscussed below. Our market risk discussioludies “forward-looking statements”
and represents an estimate of possible changes walue or future earnings that would occur asegrhypothetical future movements in
interest rates. These disclosures are not prewiesitors of expected future effects, but only éadibrs of reasonably possible effects. As a
result, actual future results may differ materidityn those presented. See “Management’s DiscussidrAnalysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capitab8urces” and the Notes to Consolidated Finantéé®ents for a description of our
accounting policies and other information rela@thiese financial instruments.

To meet in part our lonterm liquidity requirements, we borrow funds atoanbination of fixed and variable rates. Borrowingsler ou
revolving credit facility bear interest at variabées. Our long-term debt, which consists of se¢@nd unsecured long-term financings and
the issuance of unsecured debt securities, typibalhrs interest at fixed rates although some lbaas interest at variable rates. Our interest
rate risk management objectives are to limit thedot of interest rate changes on earnings andflmags and to lower our overall borrowing
costs. To achieve these objectives, from timent tive enter into interest rate hedge contracts asicollars, swaps, caps and treasury lock
agreements in order to mitigate our interest rigtewith respect to various debt instruments. Wadbhold or issue these derivative contr.
for trading or speculative purposes. We had naéstarate hedge contracts in effect at Decembe216.

As of December 31, 2006, we had $1,080.7 milliofi>xafd rate debt outstanding. The estimated aggeeig&r market value of this debt
at December 31, 2006 was $1,122.3 million. If iegtrrates increase by 100 basis points, the aggré&jamarket value of our fixed rate debt
as of December 31, 2006 would decrease by approeiyn®46.2 million. If interest rates decrease B9 basis points, the aggregate fair
market value of our fixed rate debt as of Decen31er2006 would increase by approximately $49.7iamill

As of December 31, 2006, we had $384.4 millionarfiable rate debt outstanding. If the weighted agerinterest rate on this variable
rate debt is 100 basis points higher or lower dytite 12 months ended December 31, 2007, our sitexpense would be increased or
decreased approximately $3.8 million.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

See page 57 for Index to Consolidated Financidke8tants and Supplementary Data.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.
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ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
G ENERAL

The purpose of this section is to discuss the tffercess of our disclosure controls and procedanelsour internal control over financ
reporting. The statements in this section repretbentonclusions of Edward J. Fritsch, our Presided Chief Executive Officer, and Terry
L. Stevens, our Vice President and Chief FinarOféicer.

The CEO and CFO evaluations of our disclosure otsyeind procedures and our internal control overfcial reporting include a
review of the objectives, design and operatiorhefdontrols and the effect of the controls on tHiermation generated for use in this Annual
Report. We seek to identify data errors, controbpems or acts of fraud and confirm that approprarrective action, including process
improvements, is undertaken. Our disclosure cam@iod procedures and our internal control ovenfife reporting are also evaluated on an
ongoing basis by or through the following:

» activities undertaken and reports issued by employe our internal audit departme

» quarterly sub-certifications by representativesfrappropriate business and accounting functiossipport the evaluations of our
controls and procedure

« other personnel in our finance and accounting degdion;
« members of our internal disclosure committee;
 members of the audit committee of our Board of Elives.

Our management, including our CEO and CFO, do xye¢e that our disclosure controls and procedunésoarr internal control over
financial reporting will prevent all errors and &kud. A control system, no matter how well cormeeéiand operated, can provide only
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the g the control system are met. Further, th@geof disclosure controls and procedures
and internal control over financial reporting meeftect the fact that there are resource constaand the benefits of controls must be
considered relative to their costs. Because oirtherent limitations in all control systems, no lension of controls can provide absolute
assurance that all control issues and instancaud, if any, have been detected. These inheiritations include the realities that
judgments in decisic-making can be faulty and that breakdowns can doeoause of a simple error or mistake. Additionalbntrols can be
circumvented by the individual acts of some persbgsollusion of two or more people, or by managatroverride of the control. The
design of any system of controls also is basedihypon assumptions about the likelihood of fuwents, and there can be no assuranc
any design will succeed in achieving its statedgyoader all potential future conditions.

M ANAGEMENT ’ SA NNUAL R EPORT ON | NTERNAL C ONTROL O VER F INANCIAL R EPORTING

Our management is required to establish and maim#grnal control over financial reporting desigrie provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reportingdthe preparation of financial statements for exdepurposes in accordance with generally
accepting accounting principles. As defined in RiBa-15(f) under the Exchange Act, internal contnadr financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that:

» pertain to the maintenance of records that in realsle detail accurately and fairly reflect our sactions and dispositions of
assets

« provide reasonable assurance that transactione@reded as necessary to permit preparation afifiahstatements in accordance
with generally accepting accounting principles, #mat receipts and expenditures are being madeiorlgcordance with
authorizations of management and directors;
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* provide reasonable assurance regarding preventitmely detection of unauthorized acquisition, oselisposition of our assets
that could have a material effect on the finansiatements

Under the supervision of our CEO and CFO, our memamt conducted an evaluation of the effectivenéssir internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2006 basethe criteria established in Internal Control —tetyrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tremgd@ommission.

A material weakness is a significant deficiencya@mombination of significant deficiencies, thaguks in more than a remote likelihood
that a material misstatement of the annual orimténancial statements will not be prevented aiedeed.

Our management has determined that material wesésexisted as of December 31, 2006 in the inteordtol environment
associated with accounting for real estate asSetxifically, the following material weaknesses eviglentified as of such date:

First, the design and operation of our controlsent effective to reasonably assure compliancie ganherally accepting accounting
principles related to the proper accrual of in-gsxctenant improvements, building improvementsreevd development completion costs that
were incurred as of the reporting date but for White related invoices were received after thentempdate. This could result in material
errors in balance sheet accounts in our consotdatancial statements such as understatementsiloiriy and tenant improvements,
development in process, accounts payable, accoyezhees and other liabilities.

Second, the design and operation of our controte wet effective to reasonably assure compliantie génerally accepting accounting
principles related to the proper accrual of tenaprovements that were constructed by tenantsdruwhich we are required to reimburse
such tenants upon submission of proper documentatider the terms of the lease. This could resuttaterial errors in our consolidated
financial statements, such as understatementsildingand tenant improvements, accounts payalieruad expenses, other liabilities and
depreciation expense.

Third, the controls related to the consistent praji@n and timely review of real estate asset actoeconciliations were not operating
effectively to reasonably assure the discoveryadémptial errors. This could result in material esrin real estate assets and depreciation and
amortization expense in our consolidated finanstalements.

As a result of these identified material weaknessesmanagement has concluded that, as of Dece3db@006, our internal control
over financial reporting was not effective. Delei& Touche LLP, our independent registered pultmanting firm, has issued their
attestation report, which is included below, on agement’s assessment of our internal control dmantial reporting and the effectiveness
of our internal control over financial reporting@sDecember 31, 2006.
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R EPORT OF | NDEPENDENT R EGISTERED P UBLIC A CCOUNTING F IRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Highwoods Properties, Inc.
Raleigh, North Carolina

We have audited management’s assessment, incloded accompanying Management’s Annual Report tarial Control Over Financial
Reporting, that Highwoods Properties, Inc. and slignses (the “Company”) did not maintain effectiveernal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2006, because offfeet®f the material weaknesses identified in nugemaent’'s assessment based on criteria
established ifnternal Control—Integrated Framewoigsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrke Treadway Commission.
The Company’s management is responsible for mainigieffective internal control over financial reping and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financighoeting. Our responsibility is to express an opingm management’s assessment and an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s imécontrol over financial reporting based on ocudlit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadedof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBq@nited States). Those stande
require that we plan and perform the audit to sbtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenalteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditideld obtaining an understanding of internal cordvar financial reporting, evaluating
management’s assessment, testing and evaluatirpsiign and operating effectiveness of internatrobrand performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the @tanoes. We believe that our audit provides a redde basis for our opinions.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed by, or under the supenvisi the company’s principal executive
and principal financial officers, or persons pemfiorg similar functions, and effected by the compampard of directors, management, and
other personnel to provide reasonable assuraneediag the reliability of financial reporting angket preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles. A company’s internatteol over financial reporting includes
those policies and procedures that (1) pertaiheartaintenance of records that, in reasonablel detaurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets ofdhgpany; (2) provide reasonable assurance thaactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in adaace with generally accepted accounting princjed that receipts and expenditures of
the company are being made only in accordanceawithorizations of management and directors of tmepany; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely deteafamauthorized acquisition, use, or dispositioth&f company’s assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internaltcohover financial reporting, including the positi of collusion or improper management
override of controls, material misstatements duertor or fraud may not be prevented or detected timely basis. Also, projections of any
evaluation of the effectiveness of the internaltoarover financial reporting to future periods ateject to the risk that the controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditintigt the degree of compliance with the policeprocedures may deteriorate.

A material weakness is a significant deficiencyc@mbination of significant deficiencies, that fésin more than a remote likelihood that a
material misstatement of the annual or interimrfrial statements will not be prevented or detected.

Management has determined that material weaknegg&ted as of December 31, 2006 in the internalrobanvironment associated with
accounting for real estate assets. Specifically felowing material weaknesses were identifiedfasuch date:

First, the design and operation of the Companyrdrots were not effective to reasonably assure diamge with generally accepted
accounting principles related to the proper accofiéh-process tenant improvements, building imgments and new development
completion costs that were incurred as of the tampdate but for which the related invoices wexesived after the reporting date. This cc
result in material errors in balance sheet accomrttse Company’s consolidated financial statementdh as understatements of building and
tenant improvements, development in process, ats@ayable, accrued expenses and other liabilities.
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Second, the design and execution of the Compaiyisas were not effective to reasonably assureptiamce with generally accepted
accounting principles related to the proper accofisénant improvements that were constructed bgries but for which the Company is
required to reimburse such tenants upon submisgiproper documentation under the terms of theele@kis could result in material errors
the Company’s consolidated financial statementsh s1s understatements of building and tenant ingmants, accounts payable, accrued
expenses, other liabilities and depreciation expens

Third, the controls related to the consistent prafi@n and timely review of real estate asset astoeconciliations were not operating
effectively to reasonably assure the discoveryadémptial errors. This could result in material esrin real estate assets and depreciation and
amortization expense in the Company’s consolidéitedhcial statements.

These material weaknesses were considered in detegithe nature, timing, and extent of audit tegiplied in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements and financial statement sdiesds of and for the year ended December 31, 20@6e Company and this report does
not affect our report on such financial statemamnid financial statement schedules.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that thep@oy did not maintain effective internal contreéofinancial reporting as of December
31, 20086, is fairly stated, in all material resgettased on the criteria establishethiernal Control—Integrated Framewoiksued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tremgd@ommission. Also in our opinion, because ofdfiect of the material weaknesses
described above on the achievement of the objectifiéhe control criteria, the Company has not itaied effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, basethe criteria established linternal Control—Integrated Frameworksued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tremgd@ommission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasdi the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), the consolidated
financial statements and financial statement sdiesds of and for the year ended December 31, 20@6e Company and our report dated
March 1, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinionhase financial statements and financial statenaredules and includes an explanatory
paragraph relating to the Company’s change in &thod of accounting for share-based payments,teféedanuary 1, 2006, to conform to
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No(R23Share-Based Paymemtnd the Company’s change in its method of accogritin
joint ventures, effective January 1, 2006, to comféo Emerging Issues Task Force Issue N«-5, Determining Whether a General Partner
or the General Partners as a Group, Controls a tediPartnership or Similar Entity When the Limifedrtners Have Certain Rights

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Raleigh, North Carolina
March 1, 2007

51



Table of Contents

C HANGES IN | NTERNAL C ONTROL O VER F INANCIAL R EPORTING

In our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year eh@=cember 31, 2005, we reported the existenceaténial weaknesses as of
December 31, 2005 in the design of our real efitedd asset and lease incentive accounting prosetise design of our journal entry
approval process and relating to our use of anémiggnce upon manually prepared spreadsheets imatading and consolidating our prior
restatement adjustments. In our Quarterly Repofam 10-Q for the three months ended Septembe2®IH, we reported the discovery of
an additional control deficiency relating to theper classification of assets held for sale undxSNo. 144 that existed at September 30,
2006 that could have resulted in a material misatant of our financial statements had it not bascostered prior to the filing of such
Quarterly Report. Although we were not requiredntar, did we, undertake the procedures necessangliacde a management’s report on the
effectiveness of our internal control over finaheeporting as of September 30, 2006, we repotiatimanagement believed that such a
control deficiency constituted a material weakness.

We implemented various changes and improvemerdartinternal control over financial reporting in@0 We designed and
implemented a quarterly process to reasonably askat amounts spent on completed tenant improvejoles are accrued, classified and
closed at the lease start date. Additionally, wpriwed our written policies by including a morealketd and formal description of which
tenant-related costs should be accounted for ae ieaentives and educated relevant accountingliaision personnel to reasonably assure
the proper identification and classification ofdeancentive costs. We also eliminated our usedfdependence upon manually prepared
spreadsheets in accumulating and consolidatingtezaent adjustments recorded in connection witth@itorical financial statements by
recording in our general ledger all of the restaetadjustments related to our amended 2003 Arikepbdrt and our 2004 Annual Report on
Form 10-K (including ongoing effects of such adjshts to balances subsequent to December 31, 200} eliminated the likelihood of
errors in our consolidated financial statements tbsulted from our reliance upon such manuallypared spreadsheets in the financial
statement close process. We also implemented ireprenmts to our journal entry review and approvatesses and enhanced controls over
the recording and deleting of journal entries in general ledger system to reduce the likelihoodaténtial material errors in our financial
statements. We also implemented revised approeakpures over signing of construction contractsdrahge orders to provide reasonable
assurance that such matters are approved by maragatrappropriate levels in the Company. We ats@lbped and implemented additio
procedures to ensure the proper classificatiorseéts held for sale under SFAS No. 144 prior tatmapletion of our fourth quarter financial
statement close process.

We determined that, as a result of the foregoirtiyities, we have remediated as of December 316208 following material
weaknesses that existed as of December 31, 200%5:aterial weaknesses in the design of our fixegtaccounting processes with regard to
completed tenant improvement jobs and our leasnine accounting processes; (b) material weaksassating to our use of and
dependence upon manually prepared spreadsheetsumalating and consolidating our prior restatenagliistments, (¢) material
weaknesses in the design of our journal entry a@bnarocess; and (d) material weaknesses in cantwatnsure the signing of construction
contracts and change orders by management at afgteolevels. Additionally, we determined that waeva remediated as of December 31,
2006 the control deficiency that management betieanstituted a material weakness as of Septenth&@0®6 relating to the proper
classification of assets held for sale under SFASIM4.

During 2007, we plan to undertake additional atiheito improve the internal control environmergasated with accounting for real
estate assets and remediate the remaining matexddinesses described above that existed as of Dec&t, 2006. First, we are currently
converting from a supplemental software packagd tsealculate depreciation to the depreciation medontained within our general led
package. This conversion will eliminate the neetettncile the supplemental system to the genedaldr and enhance the effectiveness of
our fixed asset account reconciliations. Secondplam to use our centralized lease approval soéuw@identify and properly account for all
tenant improvements undertaken by tenants. Thiedphlan to use our centralized invoice approvahvemfe to process all invoices related to
in-process building improvements, tenant improvet:mand new development completion costs to rea$pasbure that such expenses are
identified and properly accrued in our consoliddtedncial statements on a timely basis. Fourthaveedeveloping and implementing a
Company-wide policy and procedures manual for yseus divisional and accounting staff, intendedeasonably assure
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consistent and appropriate assessment and appticgtgenerally accepting accounting principlefthi-iwe are continuing our search to fill
our newly created Chief Accounting Officer positi@ur management is working closely with the aadihmittee to monitor our ongoing
efforts to improve our internal control over fingaeporting.

D 1scLosURE C ONTROLS A ND P ROCEDURES

SEC rules also require us to maintain disclosurdgrots and procedures that are designed to ensaténformation required to be
disclosed in our annual and periodic reports fikéith the SEC is recorded, processed, summarizedepudted within the time periods
specified in the SEC's rules and forms. As defimeRule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act, discisontrols and procedures include,
without limitation, controls and procedures des@jt@ensure that information required to be dissiolsy us is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our CBE®GFO, to allow timely decisions regarding reqdidésclosure. As described above,
since our internal control over financial reportings not effective at December 31, 2006, our CEDGRO do not believe that our disclos
controls and procedures were effective at the énideoperiod covered by this Annual Report.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
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PART 1lI
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE

Information about our executive officers and diogstand the code of ethics that applies to ourf @xecutive officer and our senior
financial officers, which is posted on our websiseincorporated herein by reference to the ComjsaPsoxy Statement to be filed in
connection with our annual meeting of stockholderse held on May 18, 2007. See Item X in Partthedf Annual Report for biographical
information regarding our executive officers.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information about the compensation of our directord executive officers is incorporated hereindfgrence to the Company’s Proxy

Statement to be filed in connection with our anmaékting of stockholders to be held on May 18, 2007
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Information about the beneficial ownership of oun@non Stock and our equity compensation planscisrporated herein by reference
to the Company’s Proxy Statement to be filed innsmtion with our annual meeting of stockholderbadeld on May 18, 2007.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Information about certain relationships and reldtadsactions and the independence of our direténgorporated herein by reference
to the Company’s Proxy Statement to be filed inn@mtion with our annual meeting of stockholderbécdheld on May 18, 2007.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information about fees paid to and services praVigle our independent registered public accountimgsfis incorporated herein by
reference to the Company’s Proxy Statement toléé fin connection with our annual meeting of staghlers to be held on May 18, 2007.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

F INANCIAL S TATEMENTS AND S CHEDULES

Reference is made to the Index of Financial Stat¢srend Supplementary Data on page 57 for a ligi@tonsolidated financial

statements and schedules included in this report.

E xHIBITS
Exhibit Description of Document
3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporatiorhef Company (filed as part of the Company’s CurReort on Form 8-K
dated September 25, 1997 and amended by artigigdesnentary filed as part of the Company’s Curfeeport on Form 8-K
dated October 4, 1997 and articles supplementig &is part of the Company’s Current Report on Féiidhdated
April 20, 1998)
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (fiegaat of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 1fikthe year ended
December 31, 200:
4.1 Indenture among the Operating Partnership, the @osnpnd First Union National Bank of North Carolaoteted as of
December 1, 1996 (filed as part of the Operatingneeshif' s Current Report on Forn-K dated December 2, 199
4.2 Rights Agreement, dated as of October 6, 1997, dmtvthe Company and First Union National Bankjggs agent (filed as
part of the Compar's Current Report on Forn-K dated October 4, 199
4.3 Amendment No. 1, dated as of October 7, 2003,ddlights Agreement, dated as of October 7, 193Wedmn the Company and
Wachovia Bank, N.A., as rights agent (filed as pathe Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Qtlfi@r quarter ended
September 30, 200:
10.1 Second Restated Agreement of Limited Partnershaiteddas of January 1, 2000, of the Operating Patie(filed as part of the
Compan’s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 20
10.2 Amendment No. 1, dated as of July 22, 2004, tcStheond Restated Agreement of Limited Partnershitgddas of
January 1, 2000, of the Operating Partnershipd(file part of the Company’s Annual Report on ForaKT0r the year ended
December 31, 200:
10.3 Amended and Restated 1994 Stock Option Plan (@gepart of the Company’s Quarterly Report on FodrQifor the quarter
ended June 30, 200
10.4 Form of Executive Supplemental Employment Agreenhetiveen the Company and Named Executive Offiddes @s part of
the Compan’s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 19
10.5 Form of warrants to purchase Common Stock of the@my issued to former shareholders of Associatguitél Properties, In
(filed as part of the Compa’s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 19
10.6 1999 Shareholder Value Plan (filed as part of thenfany’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the yeastah
December 31, 199¢
10.7 2005 Shareholder Value Plan (filed as part of tbenffany’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the yeadesh
December 31, 200:
10.8 Credit Agreement among the Operating PartnershgpCompany, the Subsidiaries named therein andethder named therein,

dated May 1, 2006 (filed as part of the Comy’s Current Report on Forn-K dated May 1, 200€
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Exhibit Description of Document

10.9 Amendment to Credit Agreement among the OperatargnBrship, the Company, the Subsidiaries namedithand the Lender
named therein, dated August 8, 2006 (filed asqfatie Compan’s Current Report on Forn-K dated August 8, 200t

21 Schedule of subsidiaries of the Company (filedars gf the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-Ktfar year ended
December 31, 200:

23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LL

23.2 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LL

31.1 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sael-Oxley Act

31.2 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sael-Oxley Act

32.1 Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Saés-Oxley Act

32.2 Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Saés-Oxley Act
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Highwoods Properties, Inc.
Raleigh, North Carolina

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Highwoods Properties, Inc. and sub#di (the “Company”) as of
December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related cdasedl statements of income, stockholdetglity, and cash flows for each of the two y
in the period ended December 31, 2006. Our aulditsiacluded the financial statement schedules &oember 31, 2006 and 2005 and for
each of the two years in the period ended DeceRbe?006 listed in the Index at Item 15, page F#sE financial statements and financial
statement schedules are the responsibility of traainy’s management. Our responsibility is to espan opinion on the financial
statements and financial statement schedules loesedr audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thetgtmlobtain reasonable assurance about whethén#reial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on flasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digids in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting ptesused and significant estimates made by marnageas well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe thatadits provide a reasonable basis for our opinio

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statetegresent fairly, in all material respects, tin@ricial position of Highwoods
Properties, Inc. and subsidiaries as of Decembge?@®16 and 2005, and the results of their operatiom their cash flows for each of the two
years in the period ended December 31, 2006, ifocmity with accounting principles generally acasgin the United States of Americ
Also, in our opinion, such financial statement skies, when considered in relation to the basicaclitated financial statements taken as a
whole, present fairly, in all material respectg thformation set forth therein.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated findrst&ements, effective January 1, 2006, the Comphanged its method of
accounting for share-based payments to conforntaiei®ent of Financial Accounting Standards No. R?3%hare-Based Paymenand
changed its method of accounting for joint ventucesonform to Emerging Issues Task Force IssueOMeb, Determining Whether a Gene
Partner or the General Partners as a Group, CordralLimited Partnership or Similar Entity When thimited Partners Have Certai
Rights.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal controlrdirancial reporting as of December 31, 2006, Hasethe criteria establishedlimernal
Control—Integrated Frameworiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrtke Treadway Commission and our report dated
March 1, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion anagement’s assessment of the effectiveness @dhmany’s internal control over
financial reporting and an adverse opinion on fifrecéiveness of the Company’s internal control ofieaincial reporting.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Raleigh, North Carolina
March 1, 2007
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Highwoods Properties, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidatednstaits of income, stockholders’ equity, and caswdlof Highwoods Properties,
Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2004. Ourtalsl included the financial statement schedwesf @ecember 31, 2004 and for the year
then ended listed in the Index at Item 15, pagelrhése financial statements and schedules arespemsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express aniopion these financial statements and schedukedban our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadwof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti@d&/nited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &amdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindmecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tildasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disads in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting ptegused and significant estimates made by maregeas well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe thataodit provides a reasonable basis for our opinio

In our opinion, the financial statements referedlbove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated results of operations and
cash flows of Highwoods Properties, Inc. for tharyended December 31, 2004, in conformity with gé&herally accepted accounting
principles. Also, in our opinion, the related ficgad statement schedules, when considered in oeladi the basic financial statements taken as
a whole, present fairly in all material respectsitiformation set forth therein.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Raleigh, North Carolina
March 1, 2007
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

December 31,

2006 2005
Assets:
Real estate and related assets, at:
Land $ 345,54t $ 341,09:
Buildings and tenant improvemet 2,573,03 2,499,41!
Development in proces 101,89¢ 28,72%
Land held for developme! 112,76( 142,71
Furniture, fixtures and equipme 23,69¢ 22,46%
3,156,93 3,034,42.
Less— accumulated depreciatic (608,61 (555,506
Net real estate ass¢ 2,548,32. 2,478,91i
Real estate and other assets, net, held fo 34,16¢ 177,23!
Cash and cash equivalel 16,69( 1,21z
Restricted cas 2,027 16,22
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $1,253 $h618, respectivel 23,347 24,20:
Notes receivable, net of allowance of $786 and $8%pectively 7,871 9,23
Accrued straigl-line rents receivable, net of allowance of $301 $6@9, respectivel 68,36¢ 60,34¢
Investments in unconsolidated affilial 60,35¢ 69,247
Deferred financing and leasing costs, 66,35: 59,05¢
Prepaid expenses and other as 17,35¢ 13,30:
Total Assets $2,844,85. $2,908,97i
Liabilities, Minority Interest and Stockholders’ Eq uity:

Mortgages and notes payal $1,465,12' $1,471,61
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheritied 156,73 127,45!
Financing obligation 35,53( 34,154
Total Liabilities 1,657,39 1,633,22!

Commitments and contingencies (see Note
Minority interest 79,72¢ 94,13

Stockholder Equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value, 50,000,000 autbdrshares
8 5/8% Series A Cumulative Redeemable PreferredeSHaquidation preference $1,000 per share),
104,945 shares issued and outstanding at Decerip2036 and 200 104,94! 104,94!
8% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Sayeslation preference $25 per share),
3,700,000 and 5,700,000 shares issued and outstpatiDecember 31, 2006 and 2005,

respectively 92,50( 142,50(

Common stock, $.01 par value, 200,000,000 authdshares; 56,211,148 and 54,028,507 shares
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2006 are] 28§pectiveh 562 54C
Additional paic-in capital 1,449,33 1,419,68.
Distributions in excess of net earnir (538,099 (479,90)
Accumulated other comprehensive | (1,51 (2,219
Deferred compensatic — (3,936
Total Stockholder Equity 1,107,73, 1,181,61!
Total Liabilities, Minority Interest and Stockhold’ Equity $2,844,85.  $2,908,97i

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgsients.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Income

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Rental and other revenues

Operating expenses:
Rental property and other expen
Depreciation and amortizatic
Impairment of assets held for L
General and administrati\

Total operating expens

Interest expense
Contractua
Amortization of deferred financing cos
Financing obligation

Other income/(expense)
Interest and other incon
Settlement of tenant bankruptcy clai
Loss on debt extinguishmer

Income/(loss) before disposition of property, minaty interest and equity in earnings of
unconsolidated affiliates
Gains on disposition of property, r
Minority interest
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia
Income from continuing operations
Discontinued operations:
Income from discontinued operations, net of miroriteresi
Gains, net of impairments, on sales of discontiny@grations, net of minority interest,
including a gain from related party transaction$4{816 in 200!

Net income
Dividends on preferred stox
Excess of preferred stock redemption cost oveyiayivalue

Net income available for common stockholder

Net income per common share — basic:
Income/(loss) from continuing operatic
Income from discontinued operatic

Net income

Weighted average common shares outstan- basic

Net income per common shar+ diluted:
Income/(loss) from continuing operatic
Income from discontinued operatia

Net income
Weighted average common shares outstan- diluted

Dividends declared per common sh

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgdsients.
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Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
$416,79¢ $396,07° $389,58°
153,59 14157 137,87
114,931 109,61t  108,84¢
2,60( 7,581 —
37,30¢ 33,060 4148
308,43( 291,84: 288,21
94,22¢ 98,677 104,76t
2,37¢ 3,37- 3,69¢
4,16: 5,03: 9,99¢
100,76 107,080  118,46!
7,01C 7,07¢ 6,09¢
1,581 — 14,43¢
(494) (459  (12,45)
8,097 6,62¢ 8,07:
15,69: 3,77¢ (9,016)
16,157  14,17:  21,63¢
(2,226) 47E 1,02¢
6,841 9,30: 7,39¢
36,46  27,72¢ 21,04
3,421 1150  17,75(
13,85¢  23,22¢ 2,78¢
17,27¢  34,73( 20,53
53,74.  62,45¢  4157;
(17,069 (27,239 (30,857
(1,809 (4,279 —
$ 34,87¢ $30,94¢ $ 10,72
$ 032 $ (0.07) $ (0.1
0.3 0.6% 0.3¢
$ 06/ $ 056 $ 0.2C
54,48¢  53,73; _ 53,32
$ 031 $ (0.07) $ (0.1
0.31 0.6% 0.3¢
$ 062 $ 056 $ 0.2
61,36:  53,73: 53,32
$ 17C $ 17C $ 1.7C
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(in thousands, except share amounts)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2006, 2005 andl 200

Accumulated Distributions
Deferred

Number of Common Additional Compen- Other in Excess of
Common Series A Series B Series D Paid-In Compre- Net
Shares Stock  Preferred Preferred Preferred Capital sation hensive Los: Earnings Total
Balance at December 31,

2003 53,474,40 $ 53t $104,94! $172,50( $ 100,00( $1,408,27 $(4,469) $ (3,650 $(338,60Y) $1,439,53.
Issuance of Common Sto 173,31 2 — — — 3,27( — — — 3,27z
Conversion of Common

Units to Common Stoc 54,30¢ — — — — 1,404 — — — 1,404
Common Stock dividenc — — — — — — — — (91,199 (91,199
Preferred Stock dividenc — — — — — — — — (30,857) (30,857
Adjustment to minority

interest of unitholders in

the Operating Partnersh — — — — — (883) — — — (883)
Issuance of restricted stock

net 111,39¢ 1 — — — 2,80¢ (2,807 — — —
Fair market value of options

granted — — — — — 1,25€ (1,25¢) — — —
Amortization of restricted

stock and stock optior — — — — — — 4,421 — — 4,421
Other comprehensive incot — — — — — — — 83¢€ — 83€
Net income — — — — — — — — 41,577 41,577
Balance at December 31,

2004 53,813,42 53¢ 104,94! 172,50 100,00 1,416,131 (4,117 (2,814 (419,079 1,368,11
Issuance of Common Sto 109,52¢ 1 — — — 1,64¢ — — — 1,65(
Common Stock dividenc — — — — — — — — (91,777) (91,777
Preferred Stock dividenc — — — — — — — — (27,239 (27,239
Adjustment to minority

interest of unitholders in

the Operating Partnersh — — — — — (4,91¢ — — — (4,916
Issuance of restricted stock

net 105,55 1 — — — 1,31€ (1,317 — — —
Redemption of Preferred

Stock — — — (30,000 (100,000 4,272 — — (4,272 (130,000
Fair market value of option

granted — — — — — 1,232 (1,232 — — —
Amortization of restricted

stock and stock optior — — — — — — 2,724 — — 2,72¢
Other comprehensive incot — — — — — — — 602 — 602
Net income — — — — — — — — 62,45¢ 62,45¢
Balance at December 31,

2005 54,028,50 54C 104,94' 142,50( — 1,419,68: (3,936 (2,212) (479,90) 1,181,61!
Reversal of unvested

deferred compensation as

a result of the adoption of

SFAS No. 123(R — — — — — (3,936) 3,93¢ — — —
Issuance of Common Sto 1,975,622 21 — — — 42,78¢ — — — 42,80¢
Conversion of warrants to

shares 83,94 — — — — — — — — —
Common Stock dividenc — — — — — — — — (93,07%) (93,07%)
Preferred Stock dividenc — — — — — — — — (17,069 (17,069

Adjustment to minority

interest of unitholders in

the Operating Partnersh — — — — — (24,726 — — — (24,726
Issuance of restricted stock,

net 123,07: — — — — — — — — —



Redemption of Preferred

Stock — — — (50,000 — 1,80¢ — — (1,807 (50,000
Amortization of restricted

stock and stock optior — 1 — — — 3,72¢ — — — 3,73(
Other comprehensive incot — — — — — — — 697 — 697
Net income — — — — — — — — 53,74« 53,74+
Balance at December 31,

2006 56,211,14 $ 562 $104,94'$ 92,50( $ — $144933 $§ — $ (1,51 $(538,09) $1,107,73,

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanassients.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Operating activities:
Net income $ 53,74« $ 62,45¢ $ 41,57:
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigea by operating activitie:
Depreciatior 103,77! 110,85: 117,60!
Amortization of lease commissio 14,54¢ 15,60¢ 16,58(
Amortization of lease incentive 82¢ 87¢ 96€
Impairment of assets held for L 2,60( 7,581 1,77C
Amortization of stoc-based compensatic 3,73( 2,72¢ 4,421
Amortization of deferred financing cos 2,37t 3,37 3,69¢
Amortization of accumulated other comprehensive 697 703 757
Loss on debt extinguishmer 494 452 12,457
Gains, net of impairments, on disposition of proy (31,239 (39,92¢) (24,747
Minority interest 3,78: 3,281 1,34t
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia (6,847 (9,309 (7,399
Change in financing obligatiot 1,191 212 2,71¢
Distributions of earnings from unconsolidated &fis 7,74¢ 8,96¢ 6,77t
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivable, n 2,80t (8,769 32
Prepaid expenses and other as (3,626 (1,49 481
Accrued straigt-line rents receivabl (8,599 (7,496 (7,407
Accounts payable accrued expenses and other fiab (2,499 4,03( 94C
Net cash provided by operating activit 145,52! 154,13: 172,58
Investing activities:
Additions to real estate assets and deferred lgasists (222,030) (167,76 (126,99
Proceeds from disposition of real estate as 260,22: 370,93 174,13.
Distributions of capital from unconsolidated affiies 11,88¢ 4,81¢ 9,15¢
Net repayments of notes receiva 1,361 4,39¢ 1,39¢
Cash assumed upon consolidation of unconsoliddfiéidtas 64t — —
Contributions to unconsolidated affiliat (200 — (9,86¢€)
Other investing activitie 12,74¢ (11,467 362
Net cash provided by investing activiti 64,73¢ 200,92! 48,18¢
Financing activities:
Distributions paid on common stock and common (101,789 (101,48 (101,64
Dividends paid on preferred sto (17,069 (27,239 (30,857
Distributions paid to minority interest partr (737) — —
Net proceeds from the sale of common si 42,80t 1,65( 3,27:
Repurchases of common ur (26,487) (12,319 (1,165
Redemptions of preferred sto (50,000 (130,000 —
Borrowings on revolving credit facilit 662,00( 152,50( 403,50(
Repayments of revolving credit facili (479,000 (132,000 (288,500
Borrowings on mortgages and notes payi 68,62¢ 38,28 15,49(
Repayments of mortgages and notes pay (289,189 (167,07 (140,379
Payments on financing obligatio (863) (77%) (63,187
Additions to deferred financing cos (3,855 (621) (2,067
Contributions from minority interest partn 76C — —
Payments on debt extinguishme — (255) (12,457
Net cash used in financing activiti (194,78) (378,329 (217,989
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equis. 15,47¢ (23,270) 2,78¢
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the 1,21z 24,48: 21,69¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the $ 16,69( $ 1,212 $ 24,48:

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgdsients.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows—Continued
(in thousands)
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Cash paid for interest, net of amounts capitalizedludes cash distributions to owners of sold progs
accounted for as financings of $1,614, $3,454 &d&5 for 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectiv $96,28¢ $100,76. $106,44!

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing anéhfincing activities:

The following table summarizes the net asset aitipns and dispositions subject to mortgage nots&ple and other non-cash
transactions:

Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Assets:
Net real estate asst $34,85.  $(20,674) $(147,20))
Restricted cas (1,865 2,50( —
Accounts receivabl 10z 10 —
Notes receivabl — — 1,05t
Accrued straigt-line rents receivabl 962 (439 —
Investment in unconsolidated affiliat (1,939 1,55 11,13
Deferred leasing costs, r 287 (61) 26C
Prepaid and othe — (26¢) (109
$32,400  $(17,379) $(134,86()
Liabilities:
Mortgages and notes payal $31,07¢ $ 7,33C $(135,81Y
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheiitied (1,652 12,271 95t
Financing obligatior 1,04¢ (30,219 —
$30,47: $(10,617) $(134,86()
Minority Interest and Stockholders’ Equity: $192¢ $ (6,769 $ —

See accompanying notes to consolidated financitdsients.
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HI GHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per shre data)

1. DESCRIPTION OF B USINESS ANDS IGNIFICANT A CCOUNTING P OLICIES
Description of Business

Highwoods Properties, Inc., together with its cdigdsded subsidiaries (the "Company"), is a fullyeigrated, self-administered and self-
managed equity real estate investment trust ("REH&t operates in the southeastern and midwebkeited States. The Company conducts
substantially all of its activities through HighwasRealty Limited Partnership (the “Operating Penship”). Other than 22.4 acres of
undeveloped land, 13 rental residential units &ard@ompany’s interest in the Kessinger/Hunter, ldod 4600 Madison Associates, LLC
joint ventures (see Note 2 to the Consolidated iz Statements), all of the Comp/’s assets are owned directly or indirectly by the
Operating Partnership.

The Company is the sole general partner of the &iper Partnership. At December 31, 2006, the Compamed all of the preferred
partnership interests (“Preferred Units”) and 92 @he common partnership interests ("Common Unitsthe Operating Partnership.
Limited partners (including certain officers andeditors of the Company) own the remaining CommoitsJBach Common Unit is
redeemable for the cash value of one share of timep@ny's common stock, $.01 par value (the "Com8tonk"), or, at the Company's
option, one share of Common Stock. In 2006, the @om redeemed 716,888 Common Units in cash, whioieased the percentage of
Common Units owned by the Company from 90.8% ateldduer 31, 2005 to 92.2% at December 31, 2006. 05,20e Company redeemed
395,148 Common Units in cash and 256,508 Commotslimconnection with the sale of property (seeeN&)t which increased the
percentage of Common Units owned by the Company 86.8% at December 31, 2004 to 90.8% at Decenthe2(®5. Preferred Units in
the Operating Partnership were issued to the Coynipaconnection with the Company’s Preferred Stoffkrings in 1997 and 1998 (the
“Preferred Stock”). The net proceeds raised froohe# the Preferred Stock issuances were contgbioyethe Company to the Operating
Partnership in exchange for the Preferred Unite fBhms of each series of Preferred Units partdiketerms of the respective Preferred Stock
as to dividends, liquidation and redemption rigkganore fully described in Note 9.

As of December 31, 2006, the Company directly antthiaugh the Operating Partnership wholly owne2R Bservice office, industri
and retail properties; 109 rental residential ynit® acres of undeveloped land suitable for futleneelopment, of which 435 acres are
considered core holdings; and an additional 16 gntegs under development. In addition, the Compamyged interests (50.0% or less) in 70
in-service office and industrial properties and 4I8akresidential units, 50% interests in an officeperty developed in 2006 that had nol
achieved stabilized occupancy and a for-rent resialeproject comprising 332 units. Five of theservice office properties are consolidate
December 31, 2006 as more fully described belowimiNbte 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Basis of Presentation

The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Compag prepared in accordance with U.S. Generallsefated Accounting Principles
(“GAAP"). As more fully described below and in Netéd and 12, as required by SFAS No. 144, “Accognfiim the Impairment or Disposal
of Long-Lived Assets,” (“SFAS No. 144”), the Conislsited Balance Sheet at December 31, 2005 andahsoGdated Statements of Income
for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 eelessified from previously reported amountsetitect in real estate and other assets
held for sale and in discontinued operations tisetasand operations for those properties sold Idrfbesale in 2006 which qualified for
discontinued operations presentation.

The Consolidated Financial Statements include ticeunts of the Company, the Operating Partnershdptfzeir majority and wholly
owned subsidiaries. In accordance with EITF Issae(4-5, “Determining Whether a General PartngherGeneral Partners as a Group,
Controls a Limited Partnership or Similar Entity @hthe Limited Partners Have Certain Rights” (“EId4=5"), the Company also
consolidates less than majority-owned partnershgpos, ventures and limited liability companies whie Company controls the major
operating and financial policies of the entity tis ¢apacity as general partner or managing menttuethe limited partners or non-managing
members do not have substantive rights. In additten Company consolidates those entities, if amgre the Company is deemed to be the
primary beneficiary in a variable interest entitg @efined by FASB Interpretation No. 46 (revisest@nber 2003) “Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities” (“FIN 46(R)")). All imrcompany transactions and accounts have beematai.
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1. DESCRIPTION OF B USINESS ANDS IGNIFICANT A CCOUNTING P OLICIES —C ONTINUED
Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accacdamith GAAP requires management to make estinmtdsassumptions that affect
the amounts reported in the financial statemendsaaeompanying notes. Actual results could diffenf those estimates.

Real Estate and Related Assets

Real estate and related assets are recorded armbstated at cost less accumulated depreci®Emovations, replacements and other
expenditures that improve or extend the life obtsare capitalized and depreciated over theimastid useful lives. Expenditures for
ordinary maintenance and repairs are charged t@bpg expense as incurred. Depreciation is contpusing the straight-line method over
the estimated useful life of 40 years for builditagsl depreciable land infrastructure costs, 15syfarbuilding improvements and five to
seven years for furniture, fixtures and equipm&ahant improvements are amortized using the stirdiighh method over initial fixed terms of
the respective leases, which generally are froeetio 10 years.

Expenditures directly related to the developmenlt @nstruction of real estate assets are includeeti real estate assets and are stated
at cost in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Thep@ows capitalization policy on development projesris in accordance with SFAS
No. 67,“Accounting for Costs and the Initial Rental Op@as of Real Estate Properties,” SFAS No. 34, “Gdization of Interest Costs,”
and SFAS No. 58, “Capitalization of Interest CasFinancial Statements That Include InvestmentAoted for by the Equity Method.”
Development expenditures include pre-constructmstscessential to the development of propertiesggldpment and construction costs,
interest costs, real estate taxes, salaries aattdetosts and other costs incurred during thegef development. Interest and other carrying
costs are capitalized until the building is reaglyifs intended use. The Company considers a agi&in project as substantially completed
and held available for occupancy upon the compiatiotenant improvements, but no later than one frean cessation of major construction
activity. The Company ceases capitalization onpibréion substantially completed and occupied od lagtailable for occupancy and
capitalizes only those costs associated with tiequounder construction.

Expenditures directly related to the leasing ofperties are included in deferred leasing costsamadtated at cost in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets. The Company capitalizes initi@adicosts related to its leasing efforts in accocdavith SFAS No. 91 “Accounting for
Nonrefundable Fees and Costs Associated with Gaiigig or Acquiring Loans and Initial Direct Cosfsl@ases” All leasing commissions
paid to third parties for new leases or lease rafeare capitalized. Internal leasing costs incloid@arily compensation, benefits and other
costs, such as legal fees related to leasing fietiythat are incurred in connection with sucadisfecuring leases on the properties.
Capitalized leasing costs are amortized on a $trdiige basis over the initial fixed terms of thespective leases, which generally are from
three to 10 years. At December 31, 2006 and 20@Ssgleferred leasing costs were $95.8 million%8&l7 million, respectively, and
accumulated amortization was $37.0 million and 434illion, respectively. Estimated costs relatedisuccessful activities are expensed as
incurred. If the Company’s assumptions regardimgsiiccessful efforts of leasing are incorrectyéselting adjustments could impact
earnings.

The Company records liabilities under FASB Intetatien No. 47 “Accounting for Conditional Asset Retent Obligations, an
interpretation of SFAS No. 143" (“FIN 47"), for tiperformance of asset retirement activities whendthligation to perform such activities is
unconditional, whether or not the timing or metloddettlement of the obligation may be conditioniala future event.

Upon the acquisition of real estate, the Compasgsses the fair value of acquired tangible assets&s land, buildings and tenant
improvements, intangible assets such as aboveeod lmarket leases, acquired in-place leases dmt mtentified intangible assets and
assumed liabilities in accordance with SFAS No., 1Blisiness Combinations.” The Company allocatesphrchase price to the acquired
assets and assumed liabilities based on theiiveltir values. The Company assesses and condaiexalue based on estimated cash flow
projections that utilize appropriate discount andépitalization rates as well as available maikitrmation. The fair value of the tangible
assets of an acquired property considers the vdltiee property as if it were vacant.
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1. DESCRIPTION OF B USINESS ANDS IGNIFICANT A CCOUNTING P oLiciEs —Continued

Above and below market leases acquired are recandetther assets at their fair value. Fair valueaisulated as the present value of
difference between (1) the contractual amountstpdid pursuant to each in-place lease and (2) geament’s estimate of fair market lease
rates for each corresponding in-place lease, wsifigcount rate that reflects the risks assochattidthe leases acquired and measured over a
period equal to the remaining term of the leaseabmve-market leases and the initial term plugehm of any below-market fixed rate
renewal options for below-market leases. The chpéd above-market lease values are amortized@duetion of base rental revenue over
the remaining term of the respective leases andap#alized below-market lease values are amattizean increase to base rental revenue
over the remaining term of the respective leasdsaaly below market option periods. If a tenant ¥eE#s space prior to its contractual
expiration date, any unamortized balance is adjugteugh rental revenue.

In-place leases acquired are recorded at their faieva real estate and related assets and areiaetbtd depreciation and amortizat
expense over the remaining term of the respectiasd. The value of in-place leases is based adbdhmpany’s evaluation of the specific
characteristics of each tenant’s lease. Factorsidered include estimates of carrying costs duniygpthetical expected lease-up periods,
current market conditions and costs to executel@in@ases. In estimating carrying costs, the Comjiecludes real estate taxes, insurance
and other operating expenses and estimates aflatstls at market rates during the expected lepgeetiods, depending on local market
conditions. In estimating costs to execute sinldases, the Company considers tenant improveneating commissions and legal and o
related expenses. If a tenant vacates its spagetprits contractual expiration date, any unarzedibalance of its related asset is expensed.

The value of a tenant relationship is based orCibrpany’s overall relationship with the respectimeant. Factors considered include
the tenant’s credit quality and expectations o$ée@newals. The value of a tenant relationsh@misrtized to depreciation and amortization
expense over the initial term and any renewal periefined in the respective leases. Based ondhg@ny’s acquisitions since the adoption
of SFAS No. 141 and SFAS No. 142, the Company kased tenant relationships to be immaterial andhbtallocated any amounts to this
intangible asset. The Company will evaluate thesag in future transactions.

Real estate and leasehold improvements are cksifi long-lived assets held for sale or as lorgglassets to be held for use. Real
estate is classified as held for sale when thergiiset forth in SFAS No. 144 are satisfied; tlégermination requires management to make
estimates and assumptions, including assessing tfability that potential sales transactions masnay not occur. Actual results could
differ from those assumptions. In accordance witAS No. 144, the Company records assets held ferasaéhe lower of the carrying amot
or estimated fair value. Fair value of assets Fmidale is equal to the estimated or contractésbgaice with a potential buyer, less costs to
sell. The impairment loss is the amount by whiaghahrrying amount exceeds the estimated fair v&llith respect to assets classified as held
for use, if events or changes in circumstanced) as@ significant decline in occupancy and chamgee, indicate that the carrying value
may be impaired, an impairment analysis is perfatn®ich analysis consists of determining whetheaset’s carrying amount will be
recovered from its undiscounted estimated futuerating cash flows, including estimated residuahddows. These cash flows are estims
based on a number of assumptions that are subjecbnhomic and market uncertainties including, aynathers, demand for space,
competition for tenants, changes in market remiiEs and costs to operate each property. If thgingramount of a held for use asset exct
the sum of its undiscounted future operating asital cash flows, an impairment loss is recoraedie difference between estimated fair
value of the asset and the net carrying amount.Cdrepany generally estimates the fair value oftagseld for use by using discounted cash
flow analysis; in some instances, appraisal infdiomamay be available and is used in addition ®discounted cash flow analysis. As the
factors used in generating these cash flows afiewifto predict and are subject to future evahtt may alter the Company’s assumptions,
the discounted and/or undiscounted future operaimresidual cash flows estimated by the Compauiitg impairment analyses or those
established by appraisal may not be achieved an@timpany may be required to recognize future impait losses on its properties held
sale and held for use.
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1. DESCRIPTION OF B USINESS ANDS IGNIFICANT A CCOUNTING P oLiciEs —Continued
Sales of Real Estate

The Company accounts for sales of real estatedordance with SFAS No. 66, “Accounting for SaleRefl Estate” (“SFAS No. 66”).
For sales transactions meeting the requiremers81S No. 66 for full profit recognition, the reldtassets and liabilities are removed from
the balance sheet and the resultant gain or lassdsded in the period the transaction closessklas transactions that do not meet the
criteria for full profit recognition, the Compang@ounts for the transactions in accordance withmbthods specified in SFAS No. 66. For
sales transactions with continuing involvementratte sale, if the continuing involvement with f@perty is limited by the terms of the s:
contract, profit is recognized at the time of saié is reduced by the maximum exposure to losgeceta the nature of the continuing
involvement. Sales to entities in which the Comphay or receives an interest are accounted fardardance with partial sale accounting
provisions as set forth in SFAS No. 66.

For sales transactions that do not meet saleierisrset forth in SFAS No. 66, the Company evahiiie nature of the continuing
involvement, including put and call provisionspiesent, and accounts for the transaction as ading arrangement, profit-sharing
arrangement, leasing arrangement or other altematikod of accounting, rather than as a sale, basélte nature and extent of the
continuing involvement. Some transactions may haweerous forms of continuing involvement. In thoases, the Company determines
which method is most appropriate based on the anbstof the transaction.

If the Company has an obligation to repurchaseptbperty at a higher price or at a future indeteable value (such as fair market
value), or it guarantees the return of the buyievestment or a return on that investment for aemded period, the Company accounts for
such transaction as a financing transaction. 1{Gbhepany has an option to repurchase the propeayhiggher price and it is likely it will
exercise this option, the transaction is accoufdeds a financing transaction. For transactioeaterd as financings, the Company records the
amounts received from the buyer as a financinggalibn and continues to keep the property andaglatcounts recorded on its books. The
results of operations of the property, net of exasrother than depreciation (net operating incoare)reflected as “interest expense” on the
financing obligation. If the transaction includesabligation or option to repurchase the assetragjlaer price, additional interest is recorded
to accrete the liability to the repurchase priaa. dptions or obligations to repurchase the addairamarket value at the end of each repor
period, the balance of the liability is adjustedtpal the current fair value to the extent falueaexceeds the original financing obligation.
The corresponding debit or credit will be recortied related discount account and the reviseddisbbunt is amortized over the expected
term until termination of the option or obligatidfit is unlikely such option will be exercisedhe transaction is accounted for under the
deposit method or profit-sharing method. If the @amy has an obligation or option to repurchaselaivar price, the transaction is
accounted for as a leasing arrangement. At suahdisrthese repurchase obligations expire, a slilbaniecorded and gain recognized.

If the Company retains an interest in the buyer@odides certain rent guarantees or other formmupport where the maximum
exposure to loss exceeds the gain, the Companyatcfor such transaction as a profit-sharing ayeament. For transactions treated as profit-
sharing arrangements, the Company records a @tudittng obligation for the amount of equity conitdd by the other partner and continues
to keep the property and related accounts recardets books. The results of operations of the priyp net of expenses other than
depreciation (net operating income), are allocédatie other partner for its percentage interedtraflected as “co-venture expense” in the
Company'’s Consolidated Financial Statements. laréuperiods, a sale is recorded and profit is reizegl when the remaining maximum
exposure to loss is reduced below the amount of deferred.
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Lease Incentives

The Company accounts for lease incentive costg;iwdnie payments made to or on behalf of a tenaau &scentive to sign the lease, in
accordance with FASB Technical Bulletin (FTB) 884%sues Relating to Accounting for Leases.” Thessts are capitalized in deferred
leasing costs and amortized on a straight-lineshaser the respective lease terms as a reductimmtdl revenues.

Discontinued Operations

Properties that are sold or classified as heldgdte are classified as discontinued operationsdordance with SFAS No. 144 and EITF
Issue No. 03-13, “Applying the Conditions of Paeggr 42 of FASB Statement No. 144 in Determining Waeto Report Discontinued
Operations,” (effective beginning in 2005) providédt (1) the operations and cash flows of the @rypwill be eliminated from the ongoing
operations of the Company and (2) the Companynweillhave any significant continuing involvementhie operations of the property after it
is sold. Interest expense is included in discortthaperations if the related loan securing the podgerty is paid off or assumed by the buyer
in connection with the sale. If the property isdstl a joint venture in which the Company retainsrderest, the property will not be
accounted for as a discontinued operation dueet@thmpany’s significant ongoing interest in theratiens through its joint venture interest.
If the Company is retained to provide property nggamaent, leasing and/or other services for the ptpsvner after the sale, the property
generally will be accounted for as discontinuedrafiens because the expected cash flows relatéses® management and leasing activities
will generally not be significant in comparisonthe cash flows from the property prior to sale.

Minority Interest

Minority interest in the accompanying Consolidafédancial Statements relates primarily to the owhigr by various individuals and
entities other than the Company of Common UnithéOperating Partnership and, beginning Janua2®d6 as described below, the 50.0%
interest in a consolidated affiliate, Highwoods-kkrAssociates, LLC (“Markel”), and the 7.0% equityerest in two consolidated ventures
formed during 2006 with Real Estate Exchange SesvW(tREES”) as described below. As of Decembe2B0S, the minority interest in the
Operating Partnership consisted of approximatetyndillion Common Units. Minority interest in thetnacome of the Operating Partnership
is computed by applying the weighted average péagenof Common Units not owned by the Company dyittie period (as a percent of the
total number of outstanding Common Units) to thee@fing Partnership’s net income after deductisgyithutions on Preferred Units. The
result is the amount of minority interest experaeirfcome) recorded for the period. In additiongwta minority unitholder redeems a
Common Unit for a share of Common Stock or cashntinority interest is reduced and the Companyégesin the Operating Partnership is
increased. At the end of each reporting periodQbmpany determines the amount that representsitiaity unitholders’ share of the net
assets (at book value) of the Operating Partnewstiippcompares this amount to the minority intepasince that resulted from transactions
during the period involving minority interest. TRB@mpany adjusts the minority interest liabilitythe computed share of net assets with an
offsetting adjustment to the Company’s paid in tpi

Beginning January 1, 2006, the Company began trdeuinority interest upon consolidation of Mark&l50.0% owned affiliate, as a
result of the Company’s adoption of EITF Issue Q5. Accordingly, the Consolidated Balance Shedaauary 1, 2006 included
approximately $44 million of real estate assetsof@ccumulated depreciation, and other assetsapproximately $39 million in mortgages
and notes payable and other liabilities, with #maining effects primarily to investments in unaditsated affiliates and to minority interest.
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The organizational documents of Markel requireghtty to be liquidated through the sale of itse&ssipon reaching
December 31, 2100. As controlling partner, the Canyphas an obligation to cause this property-oweintity to distribute proceeds of
liquidation to the minority interest partner in seepartially owned properties only if the net pextereceived by the entity from the sale of its
assets warrant a distribution as determined bwagineement. In accordance with the disclosure pimngsof SFAS No. 150, “Accounting for
Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristitboth Liabilities and Equity” (“*SFAS No. 150")hé Company estimates the value of
minority interest distributions would have beenmapimately $12.1 million had the entity been liqaied as of December 31, 2006. This
estimated settlement value is based on estimaietphrty consideration realizable by the entitpn@ hypothetical disposition of the
properties and is net of all other assets andliligisi The amount of any actual distributionstie minority interest holder in this entity is
difficult to predict due to many factors, includitfte inherent uncertainty of real estate salehefentity’s underlying assets are worth less
than the underlying liabilities on the date of slighidation, the Company would have no obligatiomemit any consideration to the minority
interest holder.

In the fourth quarter of 2006, the Company entémémlan agreement with REES to ground lease cedielopment land to special
purpose entities owned by REES. Under the agreeR&ES will contribute 7% of the costs of constingtproperties on this land not to
exceed $4.0 million outstanding at any time. REHRSgenerally earn an agreed fixed return for it®momic investment in these entities. The
balance of development costs will be funded bydtharty construction loans. Until such third paronstruction loans are obtained, the
remaining 93% of costs are being loaned by the Gammpo the entities. Subject to the exercise afiralase option, it is expected that the
properties will be acquired by the Company in tieife at an amount generally equal to the actuatldpment costs incurred plus the fixed
return earned by REES for its economic investmethése entities. As the Company is consideregtingary beneficiary, the Company
consolidates these entities in accordance with48(R). These entities will be re-evaluated for @ignbeneficiary status when the entities
undertake additional activity, such as placingdbeelopment projects in-service. REES'’s investntrettie entities is included in minority
interest as shown in the tables below. All costotm the entities and other related fees have ke&pensed as incurred.

Following is minority interest as reflected in t@empany’s Consolidated Statements of Income and@ilated Balance Sheets:

Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Amount shown as minority interest in continuing @imns® $(2,22¢) $ 47t $1,02¢
Amount related to income from discontinued opereat (333 (1,229 (2,049
Amount related to gain on sale of discontinued afiens (1,229  (2,52%) (329

Total minority interes $(3,787)  $(3,287)  $(1,34%)

(1) 2006 includes $0.6 million related to the consdbdeentities other than the Operating Partner:

December 31,

2006 2005
Minority interest in the Operating Partners $76,84¢ $94,13:
Minority interest in Marke 2,11¢ —
Minority interest in REES 76C —
Total minority interes $79,72¢ $94,13¢
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Investments in Joint Ventures

The Company accounts for its investments in leas thajority owned joint ventures, partnerships lémied liability companies under
the equity method of accounting when, in accordavite EITF 04-5, the Company’s interests represegéneral partnership interest but
substantive participating rights or substantiveklaat rights have been granted to the limited gagmr when the Company’s interests do not
represent a general partnership interest and theg@oy does not control the major operating anchfirea policies of the entity. These
investments are initially recorded at cost, as stiments in unconsolidated affiliates, and are sylsetly adjusted for the Company’s share of
earnings and cash contributions and distributidosthe extent the Company’s cost basis at formatfche joint venture is different than the
basis reflected at the joint venture level, theddgference is amortized over the life of theatel asset and included in the Company’s share
of equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates.

From time to time, the Company contributes realtesassets to a joint venture in exchange for abewation of cash and an equity
interest in the venture. The Company assesses @arétias continuing involvement in the joint veretas defined in SFAS No. 66 and
accounts for the transaction according to the eratnd extent of such involvement. If substantiallythe risks and rewards of ownership have
transferred and there are no other activities whiohld represent continuing involvement with theperty, a gain is recognized to the extent
of the third party investor’s interest and the Campaccounts for its interest in the joint ventuneler the equity method of accounting as an
unconsolidated affiliate as described in the praggdaragraph. If substantially all the risks aadiards of ownership of the property have not
transferred or there are activities which wouldrespnt continuing involvement with the propertyg thansaction is accounted for as a
financing or profit-sharing arrangement, leasinguagement or other alternate method of accountingrdhan as a sale, as required by SFAS
No. 66. See als“Sales of Real Estate” above.

Additionally, the joint ventures will frequently mw money on their own behalf to finance the asijin of, and/or leverage the return
upon, the properties being acquired by the joimtwees or to build or acquire additional buildin§sich borrowings are typically on a non-
recourse or limited recourse basis. The Compangradiy is not liable for the debts of its joint vares, except to the extent of the Company’
equity investment, unless the Company has diregthranteed any of that debt (see Note 15 for fudlseussion). In most cases, the
Company and/or its joint venture partners are reguio guarantee customary limited exceptions arrecourse loans.

Rental and Other Revenues

In accordance with GAAP, rental revenue is recagphian a straight-line basis over the terms of #spective leases. This means that,
with respect to a particular lease, actual amobitied in accordance with the lease during any gigeriod may be higher or lower than the
amount of rental revenue recognized for the pe&tdhight-line rental revenue is commenced whendhant assumes possession of the
leased premises. Accrued straight-line rents ratéévrepresents the amount by which straight-imgal revenue exceeds rents currently
billed in accordance with lease agreements. Tertioimdees are recognized as revenue when the foipfour conditions are met: a fully
executed lease termination agreement has beeredalivthe tenant has vacated the space; the ambting fee is determinable; and
collectibility of the fee is reasonably assured.

Property operating cost recoveries from tenantsdget reimbursements) are determined on a leadeasg-basis. The most common
types of cost reimbursements in the Company’s s2asecommon area maintenance (“CAM”) and reatestxes, where the tenant pays its
pro-rata share of operating and administrative egps and real estate taxes.
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The computation of property operating cost recowecpme from tenants is complex and involves numejadgments, including the
interpretation of terms and other tenant leaseipiavs. Leases are not uniform in dealing with sca$t reimbursements and there are many
variations in the computation. Many tenants makettmy fixed payments of CAM, real estate taxes atibr cost reimbursement items. The
Company records these payments as income each midmiCompany makes adjustments, positive or negat cost recovery income to
adjust the recorded amounts to the Company’s Iséisha@e of the final amounts to be billed and ai#éd with respect to the cost
reimbursements. After the end of the calendar yharCompany computes each tenant’s final costtreisements and, after considering
amounts paid by the tenants during the year, issiél or credit for the appropriate amount to teeant. The differences between the
amounts billed less previously received paymentstha accrual adjustment are recorded as increastescreases to cost recovery income
when the final bills are prepared, usually begigrimMarch and completed by mid-year.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable are reduced by an allowancarfaunts that may become uncollectible in the &utlihe Company’s receivable
balance is comprised primarily of rents and opegatiost recoveries due from tenants as well asiadastraight-line rents receivable. The
Company regularly evaluates the adequacy of itsvalhce for doubtful accounts. The evaluation prilpaonsists of reviewing past due
account balances and considering such factorseas it quality of the tenant, historical trendshe tenant and/or other debtor, current
economic conditions and changes in customer payteans. Additionally, with respect to tenants imkaiptcy, the Company estimates the
expected recovery through bankruptcy claims anceases the allowance for amounts deemed uncoliectilthe Company’s assumptions
regarding the collectibility of accounts receivahtel accrued straight-line rents receivable pragerrect, the Company could experience
write-offs of accounts receivable or accrued shilme rents receivable in excess of its allowafocedoubtful accounts.

Cash Equivalents

The Company considers highly liquid investmentswih original maturity of three months or less whparchased to be cash
equivalents.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash includes security deposits foCtbmpany’s commercial properties and constructidated escrows. In addition, the
Company maintains escrows and reserves, debt eereal estate taxes and property insurance edtellipursuant to certain mortgage
financing arrangements and to un-encumber a seq@uogerty.

Income Taxes

The Company has elected and expects to contingeaiify as a REIT under Sections 856 through 86thefinternal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended (the “Code”). A corporate REH lmgal entity that holds real estate assets anal gh the payment of dividends to
stockholders, is generally permitted to reducevoidaithe payment of federal and state income taxéise corporate level. To maintain
qualification as a REIT, the Company is requiredisiribute to its stockholders at least 90.0%®finnual REIT taxable income, excluding
capital gains. The minimum dividend per share oin@mn Stock required for the Company to maintaiiREST status (excluding any net
capital gains) was $0.24 per share in 2005. Agdeegji@idends paid on Preferred Stock exceeded R&{dble income (excluding capital
gains) in 2006, which resulted in no required dévid on Common Stock in 2006 for REIT qualificatpmposes. Continued qualification &
REIT depends on the Company'’s ability to satisg dividend distribution tests, stock ownership iegents and various other qualification
tests prescribed in the Code. The Company condectain business activities through a taxable Rétifsidiary, as permitted under the Ci
The taxable REIT subsidiary is subject to fedenal state income taxes on its net taxable incomal@m@ompany records provisions for s
taxes, to the extent required, based on its inc@oegnized for financial statement purposes, inolyithe effects of temporary differences
between such income and the amount recognizedXgrurposes.
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The tax basis of the Company's assets (net of adeted tax depreciation and amortization) and liiéés was approximately $2.2
billion and $1.6 billion, respectively, at Decemi3dr, 2006 and was approximately $2.2 billion and $illion, respectively, at
December 31, 2005.

No provision has been made pursuant to SFAS Na.“2@@ounting for Income Taxes” (“SFAS No. 109")rftederal and state income
taxes during the years ended December 31, 2006, &) 2004 because the Company qualified as a Risffibuted the necessary amount
of taxable income and, therefore, incurred no inedax expense during the periods. The taxable REbBEBidiary has operated at a cumula
taxable loss through December 31, 2006 of appraein&9.3 million and has paid no income taxesesiite formation. In addition to the $:
million deferred tax asset for these cumulativeltess carryforwards, the taxable REIT subsidiaspdlad net deferred tax liabilities of
approximately $1.0 million comprised primarily @itversus book basis differences in certain inveatsand depreciable assets held by the
taxable REIT subsidiary. Because the future taefieaf all of the cumulative losses is not assutbed approximate $2.6 million net deferred
tax asset position of the taxable REIT subsidiary been fully reserved as management does novédliat it is more likely than not that the
net deferred tax asset will be recognized. Accaylgfimo tax benefit has been recognized in the mpamying Consolidated Financial
Statements. The tax benefit of the cumulative Iosseild be recognized for financial reporting pwgmin future periods to the extent the
taxable REIT subsidiary generates sufficient tagafstome. If the Company decided to sell certagpprties acquired in prior years, the
Company would incur a corporate-level tax undetti8ec 374 of the Internal Revenue Code on the {iitfain relating to such properties
unless such properties were sold in a tax-freean@d under Section 1031 of the Internal Revenue @odnother tax-free or tax-deferred
transaction. This situation only applies to aseeitsinally acquired through the merger with J.CciiNils Company in July 1998 or from like-
kind exchanges of those assets. The tax undero®&elii74 will not apply to any of such assets stithed by the Company after July 2008.

See Impact of Newly Adopted and Issued Accountitaj@ards below for discussion of the effect of FAStrpretation No. 48 (“FIN
48"), “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxesi the Company’s future accounting for income taxes

Concentration of Credit Risk

Management of the Company performs ongoing cregiiations of its tenants. As of December 31, 2606 properties (excluding
residential units) to which the Company and/or@perating Partnership directly or indirectly hotdle and has all of the ownership rights
(the “Wholly Owned Properties”) were leased to 8,8&nants in 12 geographic locations. The Compdegants engage in a wide variety of
businesses. No single tenant of the Company’s Wliined Properties generated more than 6.8% dftmpany’s consolidated revenues
during 2006. In addition, as described in Noteid®0nnection with various real estate sales tretitmas, the Company has guaranteed to the
buyers the rental income during various futureqesidue from Capital One Services, Inc., a subsidibCapital One Financial Services, |
The maximum exposure under these guarantees reétat@apital One Services, Inc. aggregated $4.JIianitit December 31, 2006.
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Employee Benefit Plans and Stock-Based Compensation

On January 1, 2003, the Company adopted the faievaethod of accounting for stock-based compemsainder SFAS No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.” Priottat time, the Company followed Accounting PrihegpBoard Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB"2&nd related interpretations.

Under SFAS No. 123, the fair value of a stock api®estimated using an option-pricing model th&es into account as of the grant
date the exercise price and expected life of th®opthe current price of the underlying stock #sdexpected volatility, expected dividends
on the stock and the risk-free interest rate fergkpected term of the option. SFAS No. 123 pravieleamples of possible pricing models and
includes the Black-Scholes pricing model, which @mnmpany has elected to use. The Black-Scholes Ina@dedeveloped for use in
estimating the fair value of traded options thatéhao vesting restrictions and are fully transfégahther than for use in estimating the fair
value of employee stock options subject to vesding transferability restrictions. The Company aggplihe prospective method of accounting
and expenses all employee stock options (and siaWards) issued on or after January 1, 2003 dweveésting period based on the fair value
of the award on the date of grant using the Blachke®s valuation model.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123@jare-Based Payment,” which revised SFAS No. 123.
SFAS No. 123(R) requires compensation costs retatstlare-based payment transactions to be recmjimizhe financial statements and
forfeitures to be estimated at the grant date rdtien as they occur. The Company based its esthfatfeiture rate on historical forfeitures
of all stock option grants. The Company adopted SR®. 123(R) effective January 1, 2006 using thdifiem-prospective method and
applies the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R) to alirehbased compensation. The adoption of
SFAS No. 123(R) did not have any material effectshe Compar’s results of operations for the year ended Dece®be2006

Had the compensation cost for options issued befaneary 1, 2003 accounted for under APB 25 betirdaned based on the fair
values at the grant dates for awards granted betdasuary 1, 1995 and December 31, 2002, consistinthe provisions of SFAS No. 123
(R), the Company's net income and net income pedor 2005 and 2004 would have decreased torthéopma amounts indicated below.
Because options issued prior to January 1, 2002 wested and fully expensed by December 31, 20@bbacause options issued in 2002
were granted on March 1 and had only two monthexpénse in 2006, the impact on 2006 net incomeapbting this aspect of SFAS No. 123
(R) is not material.

Years Ended December 31,

2005 2004
Net income available for common stockhold- as reportes $ 30,94¢ $ 10,72¢
Add: Stock option expense included in reportedimetme 484 3410
Deduct: Total stock option expense determined ufaievalue recognition method for all awards (727) (784) @
Pro forma net income available for common stockérd $ 30,70¢ $ 10,28:
Basic net income per common sh- as reportel $ 0.5¢ $ 0.2
Basic net income per common sh- pro forma $ 057 $ 0.1¢
Diluted net income per common shi- as reportel $ 0.5¢ $ 0.2
Diluted net income per common shi- pro forma $ 057 $ 0.1¢

(1) Amounts include the effects of accounting for dend equivalent right:

Dividends paid on all outstanding restricted stack nonforfeitable to the recipient and are paid at theeaate and on the same dat
on shares of Common Stock, whether or not vestadd@&hds on shares that are forfeited are accouiotesls compensation expense with a
corresponding credit to retained earnings.
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1. DESCRIPTION OF B USINESS ANDS IGNIFICANT A CCOUNTING P oLiciEs —Continued

Awards denominated in cash amounts granted in pgars under the Company’s Shareholder Value Rlenaccounted for as liability
awards.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Companys interest rate risk management objectives arienibthe impact of interest rate changes on easamy cash flows and
lower overall borrowing costs. To achieve thesedijes, from time to time the Company may entt&y interest rate hedge contracts such as
collars, swaps, caps and treasury lock agreemeiotgler to mitigate its interest rate risk withpest to various debt instruments. The
Company does not hold these derivatives for tradimgpeculative purposes.

SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instrumemind Hedging Activities” (“SFAS No. 133"), as arded by SFAS No. 149,
“Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruteemd Hedging Activities,” requires the Companydoognize all derivatives on the
balance sheet at fair value. Derivatives that athedges must be adjusted to fair value througbnre. If the derivative is a hedge,
depending on the nature of the hedge, changeg ifathvalue of the derivative will either be offsgainst the change in fair value of the
hedged assets, liabilities or firm commitments tigto earnings or will be recognized in Accumulatede® Comprehensive Loss (“AOCL")
until the hedged item is recognized in earning® ifleffective portion of a derivative’s change dir fvalue is recognized in earnings.

To determine the fair value of derivative instrunsetthe Company uses a variety of methods and gggma that are based on market
conditions and risks existing at each balance gsteget For the majority of financial instruments;luding most derivatives, standard market
conventions and techniques such as discountedfloashnalysis, option pricing models, replacemesgt@and termination cost are used to
determine fair value. All methods of assessingValue result in a general approximation of vakre] such value may never actually be
realized.

On the date that the Company enters into a devivatntract, the Company designates the derivasvd) a hedge of the variability of
cash flows that are to be received or paid in cotioie with a recognized liability (a “cash flow” tige), (2) a hedge of changes in the fair
value of an asset or a liability attributable tpaaticular risk (a “fair value” hedge) or (3) arsirument that is held as a non-hedge derivative.
Changes in the fair value of highly effective clskv hedges, to the extent that the hedges aretafée are recorded in AOCL, until earnings
are affected by the hedged transaction (i.e., petilodic settlements of a variable-rate liabilitg recorded in earnings). Any hedge
ineffectiveness (which represents the amount bylwiiie changes in the fair value of the derivagixeeed the variability in the cash flows of
the transaction) is recorded in current-period i@ For derivatives designated as fair value Bedghanges in the fair value of the
derivative and the hedged item related to the he:digk are recognized in current-period earnindgriges in the fair value of non-hedging
instruments are reported in current-period earnings

The Company formally documents all relationshipsveen hedging instruments and hedged items asawdi$ risk-management
objective and strategy for undertaking various leetlgnsactions. This process includes linking ethatives that are designated as cash flow
hedges to (1) specific assets and liabilities endhlance sheet or (2) forecasted transactionsCohgany also assesses and documents, botl
at the hedging instrumestinception and on an ongoing basis, whether thgat®res that are used in hedging transactionhayely effective
in offsetting changes in cash flows associated thithhedged items. When the Company determinesttiativative is not (or has ceased to
be) highly effective as a hedge, the Company discoes hedge accounting prospectively.

The Company is exposed to certain losses in thet@fenonperformance by the counter party underaurgtanding hedge contracts.
The Company expects the counter parties, whiclnagjer financial institutions, to perform fully undany such contracts. However, if any
counter party was to default on its obligation urale interest rate hedge contract, the Companyddmeirequired to pay the full rates on its
debt, even if such rates were in excess of theimatee contract.
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Earnings Per Share

The Company computes earnings per share in acamedeith SFAS No. 128, “Earnings per Share” (“SFA& 128”). Basic earnings
per share is computed by dividing net income albléor common stockholders by the weighted averageber of shares of Common Stock
outstanding. Diluted earnings per share is compgedividing net income available for common stozklers plus minority interest in the
Operating Partnership by the weighted average nupftehares of Common Stock plus the dilutive dffefcoptions, warrants and convertil
securities outstanding, including Common Unitsngghe "treasury stock” method. Earnings per statea is required for all periods for
which an income statement or summary of earningseaisented, including summaries outside the basadial statements.

Impact of Newly Adopted and Issued Accounting Stanards

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, “AccinmntChanges and Error Corrections” (SFAS No. 154 Statement replaces
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 20, “Acctimg Changes” (APB Opinion No. 20) and Statemerfiofincial Accounting Standard
No. 3,“Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Finan@S#&htementsand changes the requirements for the accountingrfdreporting of
change in accounting principle. APB Opinion No.@6viously required that most voluntary changesdoounting principle be recognized by
including in net income of the period of the chatige cumulative effect of changing to the new aatioig principle. This Statement requires
retrospective application to prior periods’ finaatatements of changes in accounting principiieas it is impracticable to determine either
the period-specific effects or the cumulative effgicthe change. The Statement was effective fgramtounting changes and corrections of
errors made on or after January 1, 2006 and hadfact on the Company’s 2006 Consolidated Finargiatements.

In June 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation48 (“FIN 48”), “Accounting for Uncertainty in btbme Taxes, an interpretation
of SFAS No. 109,” which clarifies the accounting €émcertainty in income taxes recognized in anrpnige’s financial statements in
accordance with SFAS No. 109. FIN 48 prescribesmaprehensive model for how companies should reeegnieasure, present and discl
in their financial statements uncertain tax posgitaken or expected to be taken in an incomestaxr. For those benefits recognized, a tax
position must be more-likely-than-not to be sustdibased solely upon the technical merits of theitipa. Such tax positions shall initially
and subsequently be measured as the largest awftantbenefit that, on a cumulative basis, is tethan 50% likely of being realized up
ultimate settlement with the tax authority assunthmag the taxing authority has full knowledge of thosition and all relevant facts. FIN 48 is
effective for the Company’s fiscal year beginnimgdary 1, 2007. The Company has preliminarily asskthe effect of adopting FIN 48 and
expects to record a liability for approximately 4inillion as of January 1, 2007 with an offsettougnulative effect adjustment recorded to
the beginning balance of retained earnings, whictubject to revision as management completesalysis.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154ir Value Measurements” (“SFAS No. 157"). SFAS N7 defines fair value,
establishes a framework for measuring fair valw expands disclosures about fair value measuren®RfsS No. 157 becomes effective for
the Company on January 1, 2008. The Company igmilyrevaluating the impact SFAS No. 157 may havé®ofinancial condition and
results of operations.

In September 2006, the SEC released Staff Accogiidletin No. 108 (“SAB 108”), which addresses hthe effects of prior year
uncorrected misstatements should be considered gdremtifying misstatements in current year finahsiatements. SAB 108 requires
companies to quantify misstatements using botlo#i@nce sheet and income statement approaches awudltiate whether either approach is
material. If, in transition, in evaluating misstaients following an approach not previously usedhgyCompany, the effect of initial adoption
is determined to be material, SAB 108 allows congmato record that effect as a cumulative effegigtchent to beginning retained earnings.
The requirements of initially applying this guiderare effective for annual financial statementseciog the first fiscal year ending after
November 15, 2006. The adoption of SAB 108 in 2@i@gbnot have an effect on the Comp’s financial condition and results of operations.
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In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159¢"FFhir Value Option for Financial Assets and Finalndabilities” (“SFAS
No. 15¢"), which permits all entities to choose to measeligible items at fair value at specified electaates. SFAS No. 159 becomes
effective for the Company on January 1, 2008. Tam@any is currently evaluating the impact SFAS Mg may have on its financial
condition and results of operations.

2. | NVESTMENTS IN U NCONSOLIDATED AND O THER A FFILIATES

The Company has various joint ventures with uneelahvestors and has retained minority equity @gts ranging from 12.5% to 50.0%
in these joint ventures. The Company generally actofor its unconsolidated joint ventures usirg éluity method of accounting. As a
result, the assets and liabilities of the jointtuees for which the Company uses the equity metifi@tcounting are not included on the
Company’s consolidated balance sheet.

The Company has had four consolidated joint vestus&-HIW Harborview Plaza, LP is accounted foa dimancing arrangement
pursuant to SFAS No. 66, as described in Note 3;MI®, LLC was accounted for as a financing arrangetpursuant to SFAS No. 66 as
described in Note 3; The Vinings at University Gent.LC was consolidated pursuant to FIN 46(R) escdbed further below until late 2006
upon the sale of the venture’s assets and disimibof its net cash assets to its partners; anckdlds consolidated beginning January 1, 2006
pursuant to EITF 04-5, as discussed in Note 1.

Investments in unconsolidated affiliates consistethe following as of December 31, 2006:

Ownership
Total Rentable
Joint Venture Location of Properties Square Feet (00C Interest

Board of Trade Investment Compa Kansas City, MC 16€ 49.(%
Dallas County Partners I, L Des Moines, IA 641 50.(%
Dallas County Partners Il, L Des Moines, IA 272 50.(%
Dallas County Partners 1ll, L Des Moines, IA 7 50.(%
Fountain Thret Des Moines, IA 78% 50.(%
RRHWoods, LLC Des Moines, IA 80C 50.(%
Kessinger/Hunter, LLC Kansas City, MC — 26.504
4600 Madison Associates, LL Kansas City, MC 262 12.5%
Plaza Colonnade, LL! Kansas City, MC 29C 50.(%
Highwoods DLF 98/29, LP Atlanta, GA; Charlotte, NC; Greensboro, N

Raleigh, NC; Orlando, FL; Baltimore, M 1,19¢ 22.8%
Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32, L Atlanta, GA; Greensboro, NC; Orlando, 822 42.9%
Highwoods KC Glenridge Office, L Atlanta, GA 18t 40.(%
Highwoods KC Glenridge Land, L Atlanta, GA — 40.(%
HIW-KC Orlando LLC Orlando, FL 1,27: 40.(%
Concourse Center Associates, L Greensboro, N( 11¢€ 50.(%
Weston Lakeside, LLC Raleigh, NC —® 50.(%
Total 6,82(®

(1) This joint venture also owns 418 rental residentiats.

(2) This joint venture provides property managemeifsiltey, construction and brokerage services to Wi@ined Propertie:

(3) This joint venture was constructing 332 renésidential units at December 31, 2006. These @ss®e sold in February 2007 as
described below

(4) Excludes properties held by consolidated joint uegd totaling 618,000 square fe
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Combined summarized financial information for thenpany’s unconsolidated joint ventures is as fodpw

December 31,

2006 2005
Balance Sheets
Assets:
Real estate, net of accumulated depreciz $672,86¢ $710,43:
Other asset 103,97( 106,38:
Total asset $776,83¢ $816,81:
Liabilities and Partners’ and Shareholders’ Equity:
Mortgage deb) $575,45. $573,42!
Other liabilities 29,43( 34,518
Partner’ and sharehold€’ equity 171,95  208,87!
Total Liabilities and Partne’ and Shareholde’ Equity Assets $776,83¢ $816,81:
The Compan’s share of historical partn’ and shareholde’ equity $ 43,047 $ 58,40(
Net excess of cost of investments over the net vadle of underlying net assets (net of accumuldegtteciation o
$2,049 and $1,814, respectiveR)) 10,787 10,847
Carrying value of investments in unconsolidatedtjoentures® $ 53,83¢ $ 69,24°
The Company’s share of unconsolidated non-recaurs¢égage debt) $244,97¢ $243,24°
(1) The Compan's share of the mortgage debt through maturity &eaember 31, 2006 is as follov
2007 $ 3,81i
2008 4,717
2009 8,34z
2010 23,517
2011 6,117
Thereafte 198,46!
$244,97!

()

(3)

The Company generally is not liable for any of ttébt, except to the extent of its investment, ssithe Company has directly
guaranteed any of the debt (see Note 15). In nas®ts; the Company and/or its strategic partnenegtered to guarantee customary
limited exceptions on non-recourse loans.

This amount represents the aggregate differbateeen the Company’s historical cost basis aad#sis reflected at the joint venture
level, which is typically amortized over the liféthe related asset. In addition, certain acquisjtiransaction and other costs may nc
reflected in net assets at the joint venture le

During the third quarter of 2006, three of @@mpany’s joint ventures located in Des Moines,danade cash distributions aggregating
$17.0 million in connection with a debt refinancifidhe Company received 50.0% of such distributidwssa result of these
distributions, the Company’s investment accourthese joint ventures became negative. Althougméwve debt is non- recourse, the
Company and its partner have guaranteed otherashebihave contractual obligations to support thet jeéntures, which are included in
the Guarantees and Other Obligations table in Wbteherefore, in accordance with SOP 78-9 “Accimgntor Investments in Real
Estate Ventures,” the Company recorded the digtahs as a reduction of the investment accountiacidded the resulting negative
investment balances of $6.5 million in accountsaidg, accrued expenses and other liabilities irCihiesolidated Balance Sheet at
December 31, 200!
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Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Income Statements:
Revenues $139,51. $141,77¢ $115,82¢
Expenses:
Operating expenst 60,63¢ 58,69: 48,01¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 29,00% 29,73t 24,357
Interest expense and loan cost amortize 33,76¢ 34,68: 27,76¢
Loss on debt extinguishme 1,44¢ — —
Total expense 124,86. 123,11. 100,13¢
Net income $ 14,65( $ 18,66: $ 15,68¢
The Company's share of:
Net income $ 6841 $ 9,30 $ 7,39¢
Depreciation and amortization (real estate rele $ 11,197 $ 10,98¢ $ 9,044
Interest expense and loan cost amortize $ 14,17 $ 14,57: $ 11,46¢
Loss on debt extinguishme $ 724 $ — $ —

The following summarizes the formation and printiectivities of the Company’s unconsolidated joiettures.

Board of Trade Investment Company; Kessinger/Huntey LLC; 4600 Madison Associates, LP

The Company has a 49.0% interest in Board of Thadestment Company, a 26.5% interest in Kessingerfét, LLC and a 12.5%
interest in 4600 Madison Associates, L.P. The Comipgaithe property manager for the Board of Tradestment Company and 4600
Madison Associates, L.P. joint ventures, for whialeceives property management fees. In addi@ssinger/Hunter, LLC, which is
managed by the Company’s partner, provides propeatyagement, leasing and brokerage services amilpsocertain construction related
services to certain Wholly Owned Properties of@oenpany. Kessinger/Hunter, LLC received $2.3 milli$1.2 million and $3.7 million
from the Company for these related services in 22065, and 2004, respectively.

Des Moines Joint Ventures

The Company has a 50.0% ownership interest iniassef joint ventures with R&R Investors (the “Ddsines Joint Ventureselating
to properties in Des Moines, lowa.

Highwoods DLF 98/29, L.P.

The Company has a 22.81% interest in a joint ventilre “DLF | Joint Venture”) with Schweiz-Deutsahtd-USA Dreilander
Beteiligung Objekt DLF 98/29-Walker Fink-KG ("DLE"The Company is the property manager and leagjagtaf the DLF | Joint
Venture's properties and receives customary manageamd leasing fees. At the formation of thist@enture, the amount DLF contributed
in cash to the venture was determined to be inssxokthe amount required based on its ownersképdast and on the final agreed-upon value
of the real estate assets. The Company agreegag teis amount to DLF over 14 years. The paymef$¥.2 million were discounted to net
present value of $3.8 million using a discount @&t8.62% specified in the agreement. Payment®df fillion were made in each of the
years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004,ichw0.3 million in each year represented imputedrest expense. The balanc
December 31, 2006 is $2.6 million, which is incldde other liabilities.

Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32, L.P.

The Company has a 42.93% interest in a joint ventitre “DLF Il Joint Venture”) with Dreilander-Fos®7/26 and 99/32 ("DLF I1I").
The Company is the property manager and leasingt af¢he DLF 1l Joint Venture’s properties ande®es customary management and
leasing fees.
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Concourse Center Associates, LLC and Plaza ColonnadLLC

The Company has 50.0% interests in Concourse CAssaciates, LLC and Plaza Colonnade, LLC. Unrdlaigestors own the
remaining 50.0% ownership interest in the jointtueds. The Company is the manager and leasing éethe properties and receives
customary management fees and leasing commissions.

MG-HIW Development Joint Ventures

On July 29, 2003, the Company entered into an o@greement with its joint venture partner, Mili&iobal, to acquire Miller Global’'s
50.0% interest in the assets encompassing 87,8B2esfpet of property and 7.0 acres of develophast (zoned for the development of
90,000 square feet of office space) of MG-HIW Metest |, LLC and MG-HIW Metrowest II, LLC for $3.2illion. On March 2, 2004, the
Company exercised its option to acquire its pai$red.0% equity interest in the assets of MG-HIWtideest |, LLC and MG-HIW
Metrowest II, LLC for $3.2 million, to bring its avership interest in these entities to 100.0%. At time, the Company consolidated the
assets and liabilities and recorded revenues anehses of these entities on a consolidated bas$g.4AAmillion construction loan to fund the
development of this property, of which $7.3 millivas outstanding at December 31, 2003, was pdidlihy the Company at closing.

Highwoods KC Glenridge Office, LP and Highwoods KCGlenridge Land, LP

On February 25, 2004, the Company and Kapital-ClorsEuropean investment firm, formed these twotwees, which on
February 26, 2004 acquired from a third party Gtige Point Office Park, consisting of two officeildings aggregating 185,100 square feet
and 2.9 acres of development land, located in #&@l Perimeter sub-market of Atlanta. The Compaomtributed $10.0 million to the joint
ventures in return for 40.0% equity interests ithbaentures and Kapital-Consult contributed $14iion for 60.0% equity interests. In 2004
Highwoods KC Glenridge Office, LP entered into &$lmillion ten-year secured loan on the officegenties, and upon funding of the loan,
the venture distributed cash of $6.5 million and%#8illion to the Company and to Kapital-Consudtspectively. The Company is the
manager and leasing agent for the office propeatigsreceives customary management fees and leamimgissions. At December 31, 2006,
the buildings were 96.6% occupied.

HIW -KC Orlando, LLC

On June 28, 2004, Kapital-Consult, a European invest firm, bought a 60.0% interest in HIW-KC Ortm LLC. The Company owns
the remaining 40.0% interest. HIW-KC Orlando, LL®ns five in-service office properties, encompasdirgmillion rentable square feet,
located in the central business district of Orlgrfelorida, which were valued under the joint veatagreement at $212.0 million. The joint
venture borrowed $143.0 million under a ten-yegedirate mortgage loan from a third party lendehattime of its formation. In connection
with this transaction, the Company agreed to guagarent to the joint venture for 3,248 rentablgasq feet commencing in August 2004 and
expiring in April 2011. In connection with this gaatee, as of June 30, 2004, the Company inclu@egirsillion in other liabilities and
reduced the total amount of gain to be recognizethé same amount. Additionally, the Company agteegliarantee re-tenanting costs for
approximately 11% of the joint venture’s total squfootage. The Company recorded a $4.1 milliortingent liability with respect to such
guarantee as of June 30, 2004 and reduced theatotaint of gain to be recognized by the same amdbuitite three year period ended
December 31, 2006, the Company paid $3.7 millioreitenanting costs related to this guarantee.cbhéribution was accounted for as a
partial sale as defined by SFAS No. 66 and the Gmypecognized a $16.3 million gain in June 200dc&the Company has an ongoing
40.0% financial interest in the joint venture amite the Company is engaged by the joint ventuprdside management and leasing sen
for the joint venture, for which it receives custmymanagement fees and leasing commissions, gratigms of these properties were not
reflected as discontinued operations consisteitit 8 AS No. 144 and the related gain on sale wasded in continuing operations in the
second quarter of 2004.
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Weston Lakeside, LLC

On September 27, 2004, the Company and an affofa@rosland, Inc. (“Crosland”) formed Weston Lakies LLC, in which the
Company has a 50.0% ownership interest. On Jun2@®%, the Company contributed 22.4 acres of larmethagreed upon value of $3.9
million to this joint venture, and Crosland contried approximately $2.0 million in cash. Immedigtidereafter, the joint venture distributed
approximately $1.9 million to the Company and tlwmpany recorded a gain of $0.5 million. Croslandhatged and operated this joint
venture, which constructed approximately 332 remgsidential units in three buildings, at a totstireated cost of approximately $33 million.
Crosland received 3.25% of all project costs othan land as a development fee and 3.5% of thes ges®nue of the joint venture in
management fees. The joint venture financed theldpment with a $28.4 million construction loan gardeed by Crosland. The Company
provided certain development services for the ptaj@d received a fee equal to 1.0% of all projests excluding land. The Company has
accounted for this joint venture using the equitimod of accounting. On February 22, 2007, thet jp@émture sold the 332 rental residential
units to a third party for gross proceeds of $4Billion. Mortgage debt in the amount of $27.1 noifliwas paid off and various development
related costs were paid. The Company received disigibution of $6.1 million and may receive ather small and final distribution. A gain
of approximately $5 million will be recognized byet Company in the first quarter of 2007 relatethis sale. As of February 28, 2007, the
joint venture is dormant pending the final disttiba to the partner:

Consolidated Joint Ventures:
The following summarizes the formation and printipetivities of the Company’s consolidated joinhugres.

Highwoods-Markel Associates, LLC

In 1999 and 2003, the Company contributed to thi®% owned joint venture a total of four in-servidéice properties located in
Richmond, Virginia aggregating approximately 418 @@uare feet. Our partner, Markel Corporationupées substantially all of this space
for its own use. The Company is the manager argingagent for the properties and receives custpmanagement fees and leasing
commissions. As further described in Note 1, thenBany began consolidating the Markel joint venfarg@anuary 2006 under the provisions
of EITF No. 04-5.

SF-HIW Harborview Plaza, LP and MG-HIW, LLC

As further described in Note 3, the Company contgl assets to these joint ventures which wereusmted for as financing
arrangements under SFAS No. 66. Accordingly, tlsetaswvere or continue to be consolidated in the iamy's consolidated financial
statements.

The Vinings at University Center, LLC

On December 22, 2004, the Company and Easlan meestGroup, Inc. (“Easlan”) formed The Vinings atitkrsity Center, LLC. The
Company contributed 7.8 acres of land at an aguped value of $1.6 million to the joint ventureDecember 2004 in return for a 50.0%
equity interest. Easlan contributed $1.1 milliorthe form of non-interest bearing promissory nd¢es 50.0% equity interest in the joint
venture. Upon formation, the joint venture entered a $9.7 million secured construction loan tonptete the construction of 156 residential
units on the 7.8 acres of land. Easlan guarantés@dnstruction loan. The construction of thedestial units was completed in the first
quarter of 2006. Easlan was the manager and leagiewgt for these residential units and receivetbousry management fees and leasing
commissions. The Company has received developraestthroughout the construction project. The Compgansolidated this joint venture
from inception under the provisions of FIN 46(Raese Easlan had nor&k equity and the Company would absorb the mgjafi the joint
ventures expected losses. On November 1, 2006, the jeintuve sold the residential units to a third p&tygross proceeds of $14.3 millic
paid off the construction note payable and madh dagributions to the partners. The Company resiv distribution of $2.9 million and
recorded a gain of $1.4 million in the fourth qeanf 2006.

81



Table of Contents

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per shre data)

2. | NVESTMENTS IN U NCONSOLIDATED AND O THER A FFILIATES —Continued
Development, Leasing and Management Fees

As discussed above, the Company receives develdpmanagement and leasing fees for services prdvmeertain of its joint
ventures. These fees are recognized as income &xtknt of the other joint venture partner’s ias¢and are shown in rental and other
revenues, as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Development fee $ 98 $ 42 $ 171
Management and leasing fe 1,92 1,96: 1,631

Total fees $2,01¢ $2,008 $1,80:2

3. FINANCING A RRANGEMENTS

The following summarizes sale transactions in 2800 2002 that were or continue to be accountedddinancing arrangements under
paragraphs 25 through 29 of SFAS No. 66 during/éfees ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004.

SF-HIW Harborview Plaza, LP

On September 11, 2002, the Company contributeddteigw Plaza, an office building located in Tamphkrida, to SF-HIW
Harborview Plaza, LP (“Harborview LP"), a newly foed entity, in exchange for a 20.0% limited parshgr interest and $35.4 million in
cash. The other partner contributed $12.6 milliboash and a new loan was obtained by the partipefeh$22.8 million. In connection with
this disposition, the Company entered into a mdsteye agreement with Harborview LP for five yearghe then vacant space in the builc
(approximately 20% of the building); occupancy Wa%% at December 31, 2006. The Company also gugs@to Harborview LP the
payment of tenant improvements and lease commissibfil.2 million. The Company’s maximum exposwréoss under the master lease
agreement was $2.1 million at September 11, 2082nas $0.3 million at December 31, 2006. Additionehe Company’s partner in
Harborview LP was granted the right to put its 80.€quity interest in Harborview LP to the Compamgxchange for cash at any time du
the one-year period commencing September 11, Z0ielvalue of the 80.0% equity interest will be det@ed at the time that such partner
elects to exercise its put right, if ever, basedrughe then fair market value of Harborview LP’sets and liabilities less 3.0%, which amount
was intended to cover the normal costs of a sales#sction.

Because of the put option and the master leasemgm, this transaction is accounted for as a gimantransaction as described in Note
1. Accordingly, the assets, liabilities and openagi related to Harborview Plaza, the property owmetiarborview LP, including any new
financing by the partnership, remain in the comaikd financial statements of the Company. As alttedhe Company has established a
financing obligation equal to the net equity cdmited by the other partner. At the end of eachnteygpperiod, the balance of the financing
obligation is adjusted to equal the greater ofdtiginal financing obligation or the current faizlue of the put option discussed above. The
value of the put option was $20.0 million at Decem®1, 2006. This amount is offset by a relatedaliat account, which is being amortized
prospectively through September 2014 as intergstrese on financing obligation. The amount of tharficing obligation, net of the discount
amount, related to Harborview LP was $16.2 mill@mecember 31, 2006. Additionally, the net incdnoen the operations before
depreciation of Harborview Plaza allocable to tAeD8 partner is recorded as interest expense anding obligation. The Company
continues to depreciate the property and recordfdlie depreciation on its books. Any payments enatdder the master lease agreement:
expensed as incurred ($0.1 million was expenseidgleach of the years ended December 31, 2006, 2002004) and any amounts paid
under the tenant improvement and lease commissiaragtee are capitalized and amortized to experesetioe remaining lease term. At st
time as the put option expires or is otherwise teated, the Company will record the transactioa aale and recognize gain on sale.
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3. FINANCING A RRANGEMENTS —Continued
Eastshore

On November 26, 2002, the Company sold three mgkllocated in Richmond, Virginia (the “Eastshare@hsaction) for a total price
$28.5 million in cash, which was paid in full byetbuyer at closing. Each of the sold properties avsisgle tenant building leased on a triple-
net basis to Capital One Services, Inc., a subrgidiaCapital One Financial Services, Inc. In cortion with the sale, the Company entered
into a rental guarantee agreement for each builinthe benefit of the buyer to guarantee any téhits that may be incurred in the payment
of rent and re-tenanting costs for a five-yearqubfrom the date of sale (through November 200/ Tompanys maximum exposure to Ic
under the rental guarantee agreements was $18i@mat the date of sale and was $4.1 million aBetember 31, 2006. No payments were
made by the Company during 2003 and 2002 in reggebese rent guarantees. However, in June 28@4Cbmpany began to make monthly
payments to the buyer at an annual rate of $0.lomihs a result of the existing tenant renewirigeae in one building at a lower rental rate.
The Company began to make additional paymentsria 2006 of approximately $0.1 million per month dmi¢he tenant vacating space in
one of the three buildings as of May 31, 2006. Eh@esyments will continue until the earlier of thelef the guarantee period or until
replacement tenants are in place and paying ameqgntd to or more than the current tenant.

These rent guarantees are a form of continuinghieweent as discussed in paragraph 28 of SFAS NdBé€ause the guarantees cover
the entire space occupied by a single tenant umtigule-net lease arrangement, the Company’s gteea were considered a guaranteed
return on the buyer’s investment for an extendedgef time. Therefore, through July 2005 the saction had been accounted for as a
financing transaction, following the accounting hraat described in Note 1. Accordingly, through 20Q5 the assets, liabilities and
operations were included in these Consolidatedri€iah Statements, and a financing obligation of.828illion was recorded, which
represented the amount received from the buyeustatj for subsequent activity. The income fromaperations of the properties, other than
depreciation, was allocated 100.0% to the ownéntasest expense on financing obligations. Paymeaide under the rent guarantees were
charged to expense as incurred. This transactisrearded as a completed sale transaction in2D@$ when the maximum exposure to
under the guarantees became less than the relsfierded] gain; accordingly, $1.7 million in gain wasognized in the last six months of
2005, $3.6 million in gain was recognized in 2006 additional gain will be recognized in 2007 as thaximum exposure under the
guarantees is reduced. Payments made under raaingees after July 2005 are recorded as a reduatithe deferred gain.

MG-HIW, LLC

On December 19, 2000, the Company formed M@/, LLC, a joint venture with Miller Global. As dbecember 31, 2003, the asset
this joint venture consisted of five properties@npassing 1.3 million square feet located in there¢ business district of Orlando. The
Company assumed obligations to make improvemeriteetassets as well as master lease obligationgwardntees on certain vacant space.
Additionally, the Company guaranteed a leveragsetial rate of return (“IRR”) of 20.0% on Miller @&bal’s equity. The contribution in 20t
of these Orlando properties was accounted forfamacing arrangement under SFAS No. 66. Conseljy¢he assets, liabilities and
operations related to the properties remained emtoks of the Company and a financing obligatias established for the amount of equity
contributed by Miller Global related to the Orlan@iy Group. The income from operations of the grdies, excluding depreciation, was
allocated 80.0% to Miller Global and reported agéfest on financing obligations.” This financingligation was also adjusted each period
by accreting the obligation up to the 20.0% guaradtinternal rate of return by a charge to intezgpense, such that the financing obligation
equaled at the end of each period the amount diviiler Global including the 20.0% guaranteed ratufhe Company recorded interest
expense on financing obligations in 2004 of $3.2iom, which includes amounts related to this IRERagantee and payments made under the
rental guarantees. The Company continued to degtecttie Orlando properties and record all of th@retdation in its financial statements.
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3. FINANCING A RRANGEMENTS —Continued

On July 29, 2003, the Company also entered intopgion agreement to acquire Miller Global's 80.0%erest in the Orlando City
Group. On March 2, 2004, the Company exerciseggt®n and acquired its partner’'s 80.0% equityriegein the Orlando City Group of MG-
HIW, LLC. At the closing of the transaction, ther@pany paid its partner, Miller Global, $62.5 mitlicassumed the existing $136.2 million
loan and a $7.5 million letter of credit previousdlglivered to the seller in connection with theioptwvas cancelled. Since the initial
contribution of these assets was accounted forfiasuacing arrangement and since the financinggatbilbn was adjusted each period for the
IRR guarantee, no gain or loss was recognized timextinguishment of the financing obligationJume 2004, the Company contributed
these assets to HIW-KC Orlando, LLC as describeddte 2.

4. A sseTD ISPOSITIONS

Gains and impairments on disposition of properties, included in continuing operations (excludimgairments of assets held for use
which are recorded in operating expenses as deskcibNote 12 consisted of the following:

Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Gains on disposition of lar $12,04: $ 8,60/ $ 4,72¢
Impairments on lan — (2,129 (1,972
Gains on disposition of depreciable proper 4,11¢ 7,692 18,88(

Total $16,157 $14,17. $21,63¢

Net gains on sale and impairments of discontinystations, net of minority interest, consistedhaf tollowing:

Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Gains on sales of depreciable proper $15,08: $34,12¢ $ 9,38(
Impairments of depreciable propert — (8,379 (6,279
Allocable minority interes (1,224 (2,528 (329
Total $13,85¢ $23,22¢ $2,78¢

2007 Dispositions

In January 2007, the Company sold six office prioperencompassing 69,000 rentable square feethwiére no longer in-service in
Atlanta, Georgia for gross proceeds of approxinya#8L5 million and a gain of approximately $5.6lmil. In February 2007, the Company
sold four office properties encompassing 256,00@atele square feet in Raleigh, North Carolina farsg proceeds of approximately $30.4
million and a gain of approximately $14.0 millichhese 10 properties were classified as discontiopedations in the fourth quarter of 2006.
In January 2007, the Company sold 42 acres ofilaiKénsas City, Missouri for gross proceeds of agnately $16.5 million and a gain of
approximately $12.4 million. The land and propertieere classified as held for sale at Decembe2@06.

2006 Dispositions

During 2006, the Company sold approximately 3.Qiamisquare feet of office and industrial propesti#7 rental residential units and
the Vinings residential project for aggregate gmmsxeeds of approximately $241 million. The remuiitgains, including recognition of cert
gains deferred in prior years, are shown in thegating table. The significant 2006 transactionsdaxseribed below, all of which except land
sales were recorded as discontinued operationgiGether properties and development land weie @issified as held for sale as of
December 31, 2006.
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In the first quarter of 2006, the Company solda&fand industrial properties encompassing 1,86 7@0@ble square feet located in
Atlanta, Georgia, Columbia, South Carolina and Tanfjorida in a single transaction for gross prdsea approximately $141 million.
These properties were classified as held for satef ®ecember 31, 2005 and an impairment loss af §ifllion was recorded in the fourth
quarter of 2005. The properties subject to this sadre recorded as discontinued operations inaineH quarter of 2005. Also, in the first
quarter of 2006, the Company sold an office prgpencompassing 132,000 rentable square feet lotatedleigh, North Carolina for gross
proceeds of approximately $12.9 million. A gairepproximately $1.4 million was recorded in thetfggarter of 2006. This property was
classified as discontinued operations in the €tsirter of 2006.

In the third quarter of 2006, the Company sold fifiice and industrial properties aggregating 200,8entable square feet located in
Raleigh, North Carolina for gross proceeds of apipnately $22.8 million. A gain of approximately $2million was recorded in the third
quarter of 2006. This property was classified asalitinued operations in the third quarter of 2006.

In the fourth quarter of 2006, the Company soldftlewing assets: a retail property aggregating,000 rentable square feet located in
Kansas City, Missouri for gross proceeds of appnately $10.5 million, with a gain of approximat&¥.5 million; two office properties and
12 industrial properties aggregating 393,000 rdatauare feet in Winston-Salem and GreensborahNoarolina for gross proceeds of
approximately $16.5 million, with a gain of appnmétely $3.5 million; and three office propertiegeggating 193,000 rentable square feet in
Tampa, Florida for gross proceeds of approxime&@® million, with a gain of approximately $3.7 rrofh.

During 2006, the Company also sold 220.7 acre®ofgore land for gross sale proceeds of $34.5anillind gains of $12.0 million.

2005 Dispositions

During 2005, the Company sold approximately 4.9iamisquare feet of office and industrial propesténd 29 residential units for gre
proceeds of approximately $386 million (includimg tEastshore transaction recognized as a compatedn 2005 — see Note 3) and also
sold or contributed to a joint venture approximat00 acres of development land for gross proce€885.1 million. The resultant gains and
impairments, including recognition of certain gadteferred in prior years, are shown in the preggthible. The significant 2005 transactions
are described below, all of which except the Eastsktransaction were recorded as discontinued tpesa Certain other properties and
development land were also classified as helddts as of December 31, 2005.

In the first quarter of 2005, the Company sold Hit® building in Raleigh, North Carolina to an ognfuser for gross proceeds of
approximately $27.3 million. In the first and sedajuarters, the Company sold industrial buildimg®inston-Salem, North Carolina for
gross proceeds of approximately $27.0 million, asenfully described in Note 8. In the second quattee Company sold two vacant
buildings in Highwoods Preserve, Tampa, Floridan@mwner/user for gross proceeds of approximat@ySpmillion. In the third quarter, the
Company sold all of its operating properties andaie vacant land in Charlotte, North Carolina @edtain operating properties in Tampa,
Florida in a single transaction for gross procesfdspproximately $228 million. In connection withig sale, the Company closed its division
office in Charlotte and incurred employee severanusts of approximately $0.6 million, which wereanied to general and administrative
expenses during the second and third quarterbelthird quarter of 2005, the Company also recaghas a completed sale the disposition of
three office buildings in Richmond, Virginia (the&ishore transaction); Eastshore had been accdiantasl a financing due to a significant
guarantee of rent under leases in the sold pregsettiat was made by the Company when the saleredcur2002, as more fully described in
Note 3.
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2004 Dispositions

During 2004, the Company sold approximately 1.3iomirentable square feet of office, industrial asthil properties and 88 residen
units for gross proceeds of $96.5 million and aislol 213.7 acres of development land for grossgads of $35.7 million. The Company also
contributed approximately 1.3 million square fekeboildings and land to joint ventures. The resatiigains and impairments, including
recognition of certain gains deferred in prior y®are shown in the preceding table. The large# 2@hsactions are described below, all of
which except the HIW-KC Orlando, LLC transactionrereecorded as discontinued operations. Certaier gtitoperties and development land
were also classified as held for sale as of Decel@be2004.

Late in the second quarter 2004, the Company sbldlding located in Highwoods Preserve, Tampariéoto an owner/user for
approximate gross proceeds of $20.2 million. Then@any recognized an impairment loss of $3.0 milllodiscontinued operations in April
2004 when the planned sale met the criteria tddssified as held for sale. As more fully describelote 2, in the second quarter of 2004,
the Company sold a 60% interest in HIW-KC OrlandoC, which owns five office buildings in Orlandoldfida. The contribution was
accounted for as a partial sale, and the Compamgrézed a $16.3 million gain in June 2004. Theratiens of these properties were not
reflected as discontinued operations consisterit 8#AS No. 144, and the related gain on sale wagded in continuing operations in the
second quarter of 2004. In the fourth quarter &4@he Company sold office and industrial buildirig four of its markets and one 88 unit
residential building in Kansas City, Missouri farogs proceeds of $37.5 million. In the fourth qeiadf 2004, the Company also sold a
building located in Orlando, Florida for gross preds of approximately $6.8 million, and an impaintiess of approximately $3.2 million
was recognized in the fourth quarter 2004 prightoclosing of the sale. During 2004, the Compdsy eontributed 7.8 acres of land to The
Vinings at University Center, LLC in which the Coany had a 50.0% equity interest. See Note 2 fahéurdiscussion of this joint venture.

5. M ORTGAGES, N OTES P AYABLE AND F INANCING O BLIGATIONS
The Company'’s consolidated mortgages and notesbfmgansisted of the following at December 31, 28068 2005:

December 31 December 31

2006 2005

Mortgage loans payable:
8.17% mortgage loan due 20 $ 61,42t $ 63,40(
7.77% mortgage loan due 20 82,62 84,67!
7.87% mortgage loan due 20 52,12¢ 65,17¢
7.05% mortgage loan due 2042 190,00( 135,22¢
6.03% mortgage loan due 20 137,81( 139,89°
5.68% mortgage loan due 20 123,27: 125,44¢
5.74% to 9.00% mortgage loans due between 2002@hd?): 4 83,477 53,31%
Variable rate mortgage loan due 2( — 3,47¢
Variable rate construction loans due 2007 10,89 50,49¢
741,62¢ 721,11¢

Unsecured indebtedness
7.00% notes due 20( — 110,00(
7.13% notes due 20( 100,00( 100,00(
8.13% notes due 20( 50,00( 50,00(
7.50% notes due 20: 200,00( 200,00(
Term loan due 2006 — 100,00(
Revolving credit facility due 2008 — 190,50(

Revolving credit facility due 200 373,50( —

723,50( 750,50(
Total $1,465,12' $1,471,61

(1) In December 2006, the Company and the lender agoegdiban modification pursuant to which an additil approximate $57 million
loan proceeds were provided to the Company, tleednt rate was reduced from 7.79% to 7.05% antkthaining term was increased
by approximately one yee
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()
(3)

(4)
(5)

Amount at both December 31, 2006 and 2005 dedu$22.8 million of mortgage debt related to SWHHarborview Plaza, LP. See
Note 3.

Amount at December 31, 2005 includes a $7.Hanitonstruction loan held by The Vinings at Unsigy Center, LLC, a consolidated
50.0% owned joint venture. During the fourth quad&20086, this joint venture sold its assets aaid pff the related mortgage debt. .
Note 2.

Amount at December 31, 2006 includes $38.1 milbbmortgage debt related to Markel, a consolid&@®% owned joint venture. S
Notes 1 and 2z

In May, July, August and September 2005 and i@l 2006, the Company obtained waivers from éinelérs under its previous $250
million unsecured revolving credit facility and itarious bank term loans related to timely repgrtimthe lenders of annual and
quarterly financial statements and to covenanttiohs that could arise from future redemptionBiaferred Stock due to the
reclassification of the Preferred Stock from equitya liability during the period of time from tls@nouncement of the redemption until
the redemption is completed. The aforementionedifications did not change the economic terms ofitfams. In connection with the
modifications, the Company incurred certain loastsdhat were capitalized and amortized over thehaing term of the loans. In
November 2005, the Company amended its previou8 $iilion bank term loan to extend the maturityedtd July 17, 2006 and redu
the spread over the LIBOR interest rate from 13lsbpoints to 100 basis points. These loans weategsain May 2006 in connection
with the closing of the Compa’s new revolving credit facility described belc

The following table sets forth the principal payrgincluding amortization, due on the Company’stageges and notes payable as of

December 31, 2006:

Amounts due during years ending December 31,

Total 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011  Thereafter
Fixed Rate Debt:
Unsecured? :
Notes $ 350,000 $ — $100,00¢ $50,000 $ — $ — $200,00(
Secured
Mortgage loans payabf@ 730,73: 75,81: 10,34: 141,15¢ 9,057 9,811 484,55!
Total Fixed Rate Det 1,080,73; 75,81: 110,34: 191,15t 9,057 9,811 684,55!
Variable Rate Debit:
Unsecured
Revolving credit facility 373,50( — — 373,50( — — —
Secured
Construction loan 10,897 10,89 — — — — —
Total Variable Rate Del 384,39° 10,89 — 373,50( — — —

Total Mortgages and Notes Payable $1,465,12' $86,70¢ $110,34. $564,65¢ $9,057 $9,811 $684,55!

1)

()

The $350 million of unsecured notes bear irsteaé rates ranging from 7.125% to 8.125% withregepayable semi-annually in arrears.
Any premium and discount related to the issuandbefinsecured notes, together with other issuemsts, is being amortized to
interest expense over the life of the respectiiesias an adjustment to interest expense. All@fitisecured notes are redeemable at
any time prior to maturity at the Company’s optisnbject to certain conditions including the paytr@mmake-whole amounts. Under
the indenture, the notes may be accelerated iftistee or 25% of the holders provide written not€ a default and such default
remains uncured after 60 days. The Operating Raftigeis in compliance with all covenants underittdenture and is current on all
payments required thereund

The mortgage loans payable are secured bestaie assets with an aggregate undepreciatedvabakof approximately $1.2 billion at
December 31, 2006. The Company'’s fixed rate mogdagns generally are either locked out to prepayroe all or a portion of their
term or are prepayable subject to certain conditionluding prepayment penaltic
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On May 1, 2006, the Company obtained a new $35omjlthree-year unsecured revolving credit fagifiom Bank of America, N.A.
The Company used $273 million of proceeds fromniiw revolving credit facility, together with avédila cash, to pay off the remaining
outstanding balance of $178 million under its poegi revolving credit facility and a $100 millionrdaterm loan, both of which were
terminated. Loss on debt extinguishments of appnately $0.5 million was recorded in the second guarf 2006.

On August 8, 2006, the Company’s revolving creaidilfty was amended and restated as part of a egtidn with a group of 15 banks.
The revolving credit facility was also upsized fré350 million to $450 million. The Company’s revinly credit facility is initially scheduled
to mature on May 1, 2009. Assuming no default existe Company has an option to extend the matdisity by one additional year and, at
any time prior to May 1, 2008, may request increasdhe borrowing availability under the creditifdy by up to an additional $50 million.
The interest rate is LIBOR plus 80 basis points tiedannual base facility fee is 20 basis poinke fevolving credit facility had $74.3
million of availability at December 31, 2006 andit$88.3 million of availability as of February 1%)07.

On January 31 2007, the Company obtained a $150 million unsetamn-revolving credit facility. This facility ham initial term of
six months and can be extended at the Companyisrofar two additional three-month periods providkd Company is not in default. This
facility has identical interest rate terms and ficial covenants as the Company’s revolving creditlity. The Company currently intends to
repay all amounts outstanding under the non-remglfacility with proceeds from newly issued secuoedinsecured debt. As of
February 15, 2007, there was $60.0 million borrowedhis non-revolving facility.

Other Information

The Company'’s credit facilities and the indentdna fgoverns the Company’s outstanding notes redguivecomply with customary
operating covenants and various financial and dipgraatios. The Company is currently in compliamgth all such requirements.

In 1997, the Operating Partnership issued $100ldombf Exercisable Put Option Notes due June2lB,1 (the “Put Option Notes”).
The Put Option Notes bore an interest rate of 7.&1@¥ the date of issuance through June 15, 20@ér Bune 15, 2004, the interest rate to
maturity on the Put Option Notes was required t® 138% plus the applicable spread determined daré 10, 2004. In connection with the
initial issuance of the Put Option Notes, a couptaty was granted an option to purchase the Ptib@plotes on June 15, 2004 at 100.0% of
the principal amount. The counter party exercisésldption and acquired the Put Option Notes ore Jify 2004. On that same date, the
Company exercised its option to acquire the Putddptiotes from the counter party for a purchaseepeiqual to the sum of the present value
of the remaining scheduled payments of principdliaterest (assuming an interest rate of 6.39%herPut Option Notes, or $112.3 million.
The difference between the $112.3 million and thed0 million was charged to loss on extinguishneértebt in the quarter ended
June 30, 2004. The Company borrowed funds fromeitslving credit facility to make the $112.3 miligpayment.

Total interest capitalized to development projeas $5.0 million, $2.9 million and $1.1 million ftre years ended December 31, 2
2005 and 2004, respectively.

88



Table of Contents

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per shre data)

5. M orRTGAGES, N OTES P AYABLE AND F INANCING O BLIGATIONS —Continued
Deferred Financing Costs

As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, deferred financosts were $11.7 million and $12.5 million, redpeely, and related accumulat
amortization was $4.2 million and $5.8 million, pestively. Deferred financing costs include loaesfdoan closing costs, premium and
discounts on bonds, notes payable and debt isseaste® Amortization of bond premiums and discoimiscluded in contractual interest
expense. All other amortization is shown as amatitin of deferred financing costs. The schedulédréuamortization of these deferred
financings costs will be as follows:

Contractual
Deferred
Interest Financing Total
2007 $ 111 $ 2,04( $2,151
2008 70 1,84 1,917
2009 37 977 1,014
2010 36 44t 481
2011 36 442 47¢
Thereatftel 227 1,27( 1,497

$ 517 $ 7,021 $7,53¢

Financing Obligations
The Company'’s financing obligations consisted effibllowing at December 31, 2006 and 2005:

December 31 December 31
2006 2005
SF-HIW Harborview Plaza, LP financing obligati®h $ 16,157 $ 14,98
Tax increment financing obligatich 18,30¢ 19,17:
Capitalized ground lease obligatiSh 1,06¢ —
Total $ 35,53( $ 34,15¢

(1) See Note 3 for further discussion of this finananjgation.

(2) In connection with tax increment financing tmmstruction of a public garage related to an efficilding constructed by the Company
in 2000, the Company is obligated to pay fixed sdexssessments over a 20-year period. The netmrealue of these assessments,
discounted at 6.93% at the inception of the ohilgatwhich represents the interest rate on the nyidg bond financing, is shown as a
financing obligation in the Consolidated Balance&hThe Company also receives special tax reveaneproperty tax rebates
recorded in interest and other income, which atenitled, but not guaranteed, to provide funds tatlpagpecial assessmer

(3) Represents a capitalized lease obligationgdebsor of land on which the Company is constngcti new building. The Company is
obligated to make fixed payments to the lessorutinoOctober 2022 and the lease provides for fixezkgpurchase options in the ninth
and tenth years of the lease. The Company intendsercise the purchase option in order to prerrgconomic penalty related to
conveying the building to the lessor at the exprabf the lease. The net present value of thedfremtal payments and purchase option
through the ninth year was calculated using a distoate of 7.1%. The assets and liabilities urtkdercapital lease are recorded at the
lower of the present value of minimum lease paysenthe fair value. The liability accretes eachnthdor the difference between the
interest rate on the financing obligation and iked payments. The accretion will continue unté thability equals the purchase option
of the land in the ninth year of the lea
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6. EMPLOYEE B ENEFIT P LANS
Officer, Management and Director Compensation Progams

The Company's officers participate in an annualeguity incentive program whereby they are eligfioleincentive payments based on
a percentage of their annual base salary. In additi considering the pay practices of the Compapger group in determining each officer’s
incentive payment percentage, the officer’s abtlitynfluence the Company’s performance is alscsim®red. Each officer has a target annual
non-equity incentive payment percentage that rafrges 25.0% to 85.0% of base salary depending erofficer’s position. The officer’s
actual incentive payment for the year is the prodfithe target annual incentive payment percentiages a performance ‘factor,” which can
range from zero to 200.0%. This performance fad&gends upon the relationship between how varied®mmnance criteria compare with
predetermined goals. For an officer who has divisesponsibilities, goals for certain performandggeda are based partly on the division’s
actual performance relative to that division’s bished goals for each criteria and partly on ddintal Company performance relative to the
same criteria. Incentive payments are accrued gpensed in the year earned and are generally paieifirst quarter of the following year.

Certain other members of management participaé® iannual non-equity incentive program wherebygeteannual cash incentive
payment is established based upon the job resplitiessbof their position. Incentive payment eligity ranges from 10.0% to 40.0% of ann
base salary. The actual incentive payment is détedrby the overall performance of the Companytaedndividual’s performance during
each year. These incentive payments are also atantgeexpensed in the year earned and are genpaadlyn the first quarter of the
following year.

The Companys officers generally receive annual grants of stmations and restricted stock on March 1 of eadr yader the Amend:
and Restated 1994 Stock Option Plan (the “Stocko@Rlan”). Stock options have also been granteédCompany’s directors; however,
directors currently do not receive annual stockaspgrants. Restricted stock grants are also madeadly to directors and certain non-officer
employees. Stock options issued prior to 2005 ratably over four years and remain outstandingdlfyears. Stock options issued in 2005
and 2006 continue to vest ratably over a four-yeaiod, but remain outstanding for seven years.VEthge of all options as of the date of
grant is calculated using the Black-Scholes oppidoing model, as described below.

The Company generally makes annual grants of based restricted Common Stock under its Stock @flan to its directors, office
and other employees. Shares of tib@sed restricted stock issued prior to 2005 gegerasts 50.0% three years from the date of gradtthe
remaining 50.0% five years from date of grant. 8haf time-based restricted stock that were istmefficers and employees in 2005 will
vest one-third on the third anniversary, one-toindhe fourth anniversary and one-third on thé fifbniversary of the date of grant. Shares of
time-based restricted stock that were issued ioevff and employees in 2006 will vest 25% on thst,fsecond, third and fourth anniversary
dates, respectively. Shares of time-based resiritteck issued to directors generally vest 25%ammudry 1 of each successive year after the
grant date. The value of grants of time-basediotstt stock is based on the market value of Com8tonk as of the date of grant and is
amortized to expense over the respective vestimgmice periods.
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6. EmPLOYEE B ENEFIT P LANS —Continued

During 2005 and 2006, the Company also issued stodinestricted stock to officers under its Stogii@n Plan that will vest if the
Company’s total shareholder return exceeds theageeiotal returns of a selected group of peer corepaver a three-year period. If the
Company’s total shareholder return does not equakceed such average total returns, none of taérieturn-based restricted stock will vest.
The 2006 grants also contain a provision allowimggfartial vesting if the annual total return iryajiven year of the thregear period excee
9% on an absolute basis. The Company’s total reinr@ommon Stock was 50.6% in 2006, and accordid@y3 previously issued shares of
total returnbased restricted stock vested as of December 886, 2@t of shares surrendered for withholding taXbe grant date fair values
each such share of total returased restricted stock were determined by an autsidsultant to be approximately 76% and 87% ofibeke
value of a share of Common Stock as of the gratetsdar the 2005 and 2006 grants, respectively.graat date fair value of these shares of
total-return based restricted stock is being amedtito expense on a straight-line method overtiteetyear period.

During 2005 and 2006, the Company also issued studigerformance-based restricted stock to officader its Stock Option Plan that
will vest pursuant to performance-based criterlze Pperformance-based criteria are based on whetht the Company meets or exceeds
four operating and financial goals established uitdeStrategic Management Plan by the end of 20072008, respectively. To the extent
actual performance equals or exceeds thresholdmpeasihce goals, the portion of shares of performdnased restricted stock that vest can
range from 50% to 100%. If actual performance dussmeet such threshold goals, none of the perfocerdased restricted stock will vest.
The fair value of performance-based restrictedeshaants is based on the market value of CommorkSte of the date of grant and the
estimated performance to be achieved at the etttedhree-year period. Such fair value is being rtizexl to expense during the period from
grant date to December 31, 2007 and 2008, respégctadjusting for the expected level of vestingttwill occur at those dates.

Up to 100% of additional total return-based resddcstock and up to 50% of additional performanasell restricted stock may be
issued at the end of the three-year periods ifehqerformance exceeds certain levels of performaBach additional shares, if any, would be
fully vested when issued. The Company will alsorae@nd record expense for additional performaraseth shares during the three-year
period to the extent issuance of the additionateshs expected based on the Company’s currenprajected actual performance. In
accordance with SFAS No. 123(R), no expense igdecofor additional shares of total return-basetricted stock that may be issued at the
end of the three-year period since that possitiditgiready reflected in the grant date fair value.

In 1997, the Company adopted the 1997 Performamegd\Plan under which 349,990 nonqualified stockomis granted to certain
executive officers were accompanied by a dividequdwalent right ("DER"). No other options granteglthe Company since 1997 have been
accompanied by a DER. The plan provided that itétal return on a share of Common Stock exceedddin thresholds during the fiyear
vesting period ending in 2002, the exercise pricguch options with a DER would be reduced undermula based on dividends and other
distributions made with respect to such a sharmguhe period beginning on the date of grant amirey upon exercise of such stock option.
At the end of the five-year vesting period, thaltoeturn performance resulted in a reduction edption exercise price of $6.098 per share.
The exercise price per option share was furtharaed by $2.96 as of December 31, 2004 as a refsthié @ividend payments on Common
Stock from January 1, 2003 through December 314 2BBcause of the exercise price reduction feathesstock options accompanied by a
DER were accounted for using variable accountingregided in FASB Interpretation No. 44A¢counting for Certain Transactions Involvi
Stock Compensation.” In December 2004, the Comeagred into an agreement with the participantetse the additional reduction in the
option exercise price, which fixed the exercise@per share reduction at $9.06. As a result, bkriaccounting is no longer required after
December 31, 2004 as both the number of optiongl@dmount required to exercise is known. The Gomipecorded compensation
expense of $0.06 million for the year ended Decerithe2004. Because the exercise price was notesbafter December 31, 2004, no
expense was required to be recognized in the yeatsd December 31, 2006 and 2005. As of Decemh&0B8, there were 67,021
outstanding options whose exercise price had begurced in prior periods as a result of the DERSs.

91



Table of Contents

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per shre data)

6. EmPLOYEE B ENEFIT P LANS —Continued

During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2002604, the Company recognized approximately $3.¥anjl$2.9 million and $4.7
million, respectively, of stock-based compensatgpense. Stock-based compensation expense fori2€lades $2.3 million related to the
accelerated vesting of stock options and restriskedtes for the Company’s former Chief ExecutivBa®f who retired on June 30, 2004. As
of December 31, 2006, there was $5.9 million dditahrecognized stodkased compensation costs, which will be recognized a weighte:
average remaining contractual term of 2.1 years.

The compensation and governance committee of thhep@oy’s board of directors has retained the authtmigrant non-equity
incentive and equity incentive awards at its diore

Using the Black-Scholes option valuation modelwegghted average fair values of options granteihdu2006, 2005 and 2004 were
$4.00, $1.89 and $1.28, respectively, per optidre fair values of the options granted were detezthit the grant dates using the following
weighted average assumptions:

2006 2005 2004
Risk free interest rat® 4.62% 4.1% 2.9%
Common stock dividend yiel@ 5.2(% 6.45% 6.5¢%
Expected volatility® 18.9(% 16.3(% 17.51%
Average expected option life (yeaf8) 4.7t 7.C 9.2
Options grante: 243,61( 662,32! 834,07¢

(1) Represents interest rate on US treasury bonds dndwinsame life as the estimated life of the opgjaamts.

(2) The dividend yield is calculated utilizing tH&ridends paid for the previous ogear period and the per share price of Common Sio
the date of gran

(3) Based on the historical volatility of Common Stamler a period relevant to the related stock opgiant.

(4) The average expected option life for the 20@6hts is based on an analysis of historical compiatg. The average expected option life
for the 2005 and 2004 grants is a weighted avesateeir respective contractual tern

The following table summarizes information abolis&bck options outstanding at December 31, 2006:

Options Outstanding
Weighted Average

Number

of Shares Exercise Price
Balances at December 31, 2( 5,153,64! $ 24.2:
Options grante: 243,61( 32.4C
Options forfeitec (18,267) 27.1¢
Options cancelle (54,55%) 26.51
Options exercise (2,349,36) 24.4¢
Balances at December 31, 2( 2,975,07. $ 24.61

Cash received or receivable from options exeroreas $43.3 million, $2.7 million and $3.2 millionrfthe years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectivelytdtakintrinsic value of options exercised durthg years ended December 31, 20086,
2005 and 2004 was $30.5 million, $1.0 million arid0®million, respectively. The total intrinsic valof options outstanding at
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $47.9 mil#aa,3 million and $18.9 million, respectively. TBempany generally does not permit
the net cash settlement of exercised stock optlmrtsjoes permit net share settlement for certaalified exercises. The Company has a
policy of issuing new shares to satisfy stock apgaercises.
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The following table sets forth information at Dedmm 31, 2006 about (a) the outstanding number stiedestock options and those
expected to vest and (b) the number of those optioat are exercisable.

Weighted Aggregate Weighted

Average
Average Intrinsic Remaining
Number Exercise Value
of Shares Price (in 000s) Life (years)
Outstanding 2,855,94. $24.6¢ $46,03: 4.7¢
Exercisable 1,902,03: $23.32 $33,16¢ 4.1¢
The following table summarizes activity in the yeaded December 31, 2006 for all time-based réstristock grants:
Weighted
Average
Grant Date
Number
of Shares Fair Value
Nonvested shares outstanding at December 31, 268,401 $ 24.7¢
Awarded and issue@ 72,90¢ 32.5(
Vested® (43,909 24.2z
Forfeited (18,590 25.6¢
Surrendered for payment of withholding taxes upesting® (23,709 23.82
Nonvested shares outstanding at December 31, 255,12 $ 27.1:

(1) Amountincludes the grant of 20,396 share®sfricted stock in 2005, which were not issued @006, and are included in the
Consolidated Statement of Stockhol¢ Equity at December 31, 20C

(2) The weighted average fair value at grant datame-based restricted shares issued during thesyended December 31, 2006, 2005 and
2004 was $2.4 million, $2.5 million and $3.0 mifliocrespectively

(3) The vesting date fair value of time-based fetstd shares that vested during the years endedrlesr 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was
$2.2 million, $2.4 million and $3.2 million, respiaely.

The following table summarizes activity in the yeaded December 31, 2006 for all performance-basddotal return-based restricted
stock grants:

Weighted
Average
Grant Date

Number
of Shares Fair Value
Nonvested shares outstanding at December 31, 62,57¢ $ 26.82
Awarded and issue@ 52,93¢ 30.62
Vested® (2,377) 28.52
Forfeited (4,54¢ 28.1¢
Surrendered for payment of withholding taxes upesting® (1,949 28.52
Nonvested shares outstanding at December 31, 106,64t $ 28.5¢

(1) The weighted average fair value at grant dafgedormance and total return-based restrictedeshiasued during the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005 was $1.6 million an8 §illion, respectively. There were no performabesed and total return-based
restricted shares issued during the year endednitesre31, 2004

(2) The vesting date fair value of return-basedricted shares that vested during the year endegmber 31, 2006 was $0.2 million. No
performance-based or return-based restricted shastsd during 2005 and no performance-based umrbiased restricted shares were
granted in 2004
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1999 Shareholder Value Plan

Grants under the 1999 Shareholder Value Plan wégaded to reward the executive officers of the Gany when the total shareholder
returns measured by increases in the market vdlGemmon Stock plus dividends exceeded a compaiatiéex of the Compang’peers ove
a three-year period. Annual grants under this Bfato 2004 would result in cash payments basett@Company’s percentage change in
shareholder return compared to the composite infiés peer group. If the Company’s performanceasat least 100% of the peer group, no
payout is made. To the extent performance excdwdgder group, the payout increases. No new gwaeres made under the 1999 Sharehc
Value Plan in 2006 and 2005. There were no casbytayor grants under this plan for the years erglecember 31, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. For the grants issued in early 20@#hahose three-year performance period ended oerbieer 31, 2006, payments of
approximately $0.9 million were made in early 200@e 1999 Shareholder Value Plan is accountedsferl&bility award and, accordingly,
at each period-end, a liability equal to the cureamputed fair value under the plan for all outdiag plan units, adjusted for the three-year
vesting period, is recorded with corresponding gharor credits to compensation expense. No comfi@ngxpense was required to be
recognized during 2005 and 2004 for grants undsmilan; approximately $0.9 million was recognizesdexpense in 2006.

Retirement Plan

Effective for 2006, the Company adopted a retirenpéan applicable to all employees, including exaeuofficers, who, at the time of
retirement, have at least 30 years of continuoadified service or are at least 55 years old anc:lz least 10 years of continuous qualified
service. Subject to advance retirement notice andwgion of a non-compete agreement with the Compaligible retirees would be entitled
to receive a pro rata amount of the annual incergayment earned during the year of retirementkStptions and timéased restricted sto
granted by the Company to such eligible retireéndpinis or her employment would be non-forfeitadshel become exercisable according to
the terms of their original grants. Eligible reésawould also be entitled to receive a pro ratauarnof any performance-based and total
returnbased restricted stock originally granted to suichibde retiree during his or her employment thalbsequently vests after the retirem
date according to the terms of their original gsaithe benefits of this retirement plan apply dolyestricted stock and stock option grants
beginning in 2006 and will be phased in 25% on Marc2006 and 25% on each anniversary thereofefmloyees eligible for these bene
as of the date of grant after March 1, 2006, 25%heir grants were fully expensed at the grant,daléch increased compensation expens
approximately $0.2 million in the year ended Decentil, 2006. Grants made prior to 2006 are unaftect
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Deferred Compensation

The Company has a deferred compensation plan purguahich each executive officer and director efct to defer a portion of base
salary and/or annual incentive payments (or direfetes) for investment in various unrelated mutuatls. Prior to January 1, 2006, executive
officers and directors also could elect to defathceompensation for investment in units of phantemmon stock of the Company. At the
end of each calendar quarter, any executive ofioérdirector who deferred compensation into phargtock was credited with units of
phantom stock at a 15.0% discount. Dividends orptietom units are assumed to be issued in adadlitionts of phantom stock at a 15.0%
discount. If an officer that deferred compensatioder this plan leaves the Company’s employ volilgtar for cause within two years after
the end of the year in which such officer deferrethpensation for units of phantom stock, at a mimmthe 15.0% discount and any deemed
dividends are forfeited. Over the two-year vestiegiod, the Company records additional compensatipense equal to the 15.0% discount,
the accrued dividends and any changes in the maaket of Common Stock from the date of the defewhich aggregated $1.6 million, $(
million and $0.5 million for the years ended DecemB1, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Cash patgrfrom the plan for the years
ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 were $0i8m$0.02 million and $0.9 million, respectivelyransfers made from the phantom
stock investment to other investments in the detecompensation plan for the year ended Decemh&@0®B was $1.1 million. There were
no transfers made for the years ended Decemb&085, and 2004.

401(k) Savings Plan

The Company has a 401(k) savings plan coveringtaotially all employees who meet certain age angleyment criteria. The
Company contributes amounts for each participaatrate of 75% of the employee’s contribution (@6% of each employee’s salary).
During 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company contrib8ted million, $1.1 million and $1.2 million, resgévely, to the 401(k) savings plan.
Administrative expenses of the plan are paid byGbmpany.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company has an Employee Stock Purchase Plati fiotive employees under which employees caet &decontribute up to 25.0%
of their base and annual incentive compensatiothipurchase of Common Stock. At the end of elaketmonth offering period, the
contributions in each participant's account balandech includes accrued dividends, are applieacquire shares of Common Stock at a cost
that is calculated at 85.0% of the lower of therage closing price on the New York Stock Exchangé¢he five consecutive days preceding
the first day of the quarter or the five days pdiag the last day of the quarter. During the yeatesl December 31, 2004, the Company
issued 33,693 new shares of Common Stock unddrtioyee Stock Purchase Plan. SEC rules prohitli€€ompany from issuing shares
of Common Stock pursuant to the plan under the Gmyis Form S-8 registration statement during mé&085 because of the delay in the
filing of the Company’s SEC reports. As a result,shares were issued during 2005 under the planthenfunds were held by a trustee. In
2006, the Company issued 60,471 shares of Comnumik 8hder the Employee Stock Purchase Plan, whidbded shares purchased using
the funds held by such trustee. The discount onynssued shares is expensed by the Company aicaddicompensation and aggregated
$0.2 million in each of the years ended DecembefB@6, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

95



Table of Contents

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per shre data)

7. RENTAL AND O THER R EVENUES; R ENTAL P ROPERTY A ND O THER E XPENSES

The Company's real estate assets are leased tademaler operating leases, substantially all aElvkxpire over the next 10 years. 1
minimum rental amounts under the leases are gdyeitiler subject to scheduled fixed increasesdfwsiments based on the Consumer Price
Index. Generally, the leases also require thatehants reimburse the Company for increases inioerbsts above the base-year costs. Renta
and other revenues from continuing operations sbusithe following:

Contractual rent

Straigh-line rental income ne

Lease incentive amortizatic

Property operating cost recovery inco
Lease termination fee

Fee income

Other miscellaneous operating inco

Rental property and other expenses from continapeyations consist of the following:

Maintenance, cleaning and general builc

Utilities, insurance and real estate ta

Division and allocated administrative expen

Other miscellaneous operating exper

Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
$355,00¢ $338,44. $336,56
8,04 6,65( 6,601
(796) (86€) (727)
40,32:  34,36¢  31,24¢
2,79: 5,87t 3,471
6,001 4,95( 4,63¢
4,43t 6,65 7,78¢

$416,79¢ $396,07¢ $389,58°

Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004

$ 53,52¢ $ 50,127 $ 49,04
81,97¢ 74,01: 72,52¢
12,257 10,44( 9,08(

5,831 7,001 7,22¢

$153,59: $141,57¢ $137,87!

Expected future minimum base rents to be received the next five years and thereafter from tenfortteases in effect at
December 31, 2006 for the Wholly Owned Properiiesl{ding properties held for sale) are as follows:

2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
Thereaftel

96

$ 358,82
332,84«
286,71¢
238,44!
190,92:
657,75(

$2,065,50:
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8. RELATED P ARTY T RANSACTIONS

The Company had a contract to acquire developraeutih the Bluegrass Valley office developmentg@cofrom GAPI, Inc., a
corporation controlled by Gene H. Anderson, an etee officer and director of the Company. Under thrms of the contract, the
development land was purchased in phases, anditbkgse price for each phase or parcel was séttigaish and/or Common Units. The
price for the various parcels was based on aralnitilue for each parcel, adjusted for an intefastbr, applied up to the closing date and also
for changes in the value of the Common Units. Quudsy 17, 2003, the Company acquired an additidBal acres of this land from GAPI,
Inc. for 85,520 shares of Common Stock and $384ii0@ash for total consideration of $2.3 million.May 2003, 4.0 acres of the remaining
acres not yet acquired by the Company was takehégeorgia Department of Transportation to devalopadway interchange for
consideration of $1.8 million. The Department oaiisportation took possession and title of the ptgpe June 2003. As part of the terms of
the contract between the Company and GAPI, Ine.Qbmpany was entitled to and received in 200%1h& million proceeds from the
condemnation. In July 2003, the Company appealedahdemnation and is currently seeking additipagiment from the state; the
recognition of any gain has been deferred pendisglution of the appeal process. In April 2005,Gmenpany acquired for cash an additic
12.1 acres of the Bluegrass Valley land from GARd, and also settled for cash the final purchagm pvith GAPI, Inc. on the 4.0 acres that
were taken by the Georgia Department of Transportaivhich aggregated approximately $2.7 milliohwhich $0.7 million was recorded as
a payable to GAPI, Inc. on the Company’s finanstatements as of December 31, 2004. In August 2885Zompany acquired 12.7 acres,
representing the last parcel of land to be acquimrdcash of $3.2 million. The Company believesttiine purchase price with respect to each
land parcel was at or below market value based arkeh data and on the subsequent sale of the tamdignificant gain, as discussed below.
These transactions were unanimously approved bfuthBoard of Directors with Mr. Anderson abstaigifrom the vote. The contract
provided that the land parcels could be paid in @@m Units or in cash, at the option of the selldiis feature constituted an embedded
derivative pursuant to SFAS No. 133, “Accounting Beerivative Instruments and Hedging Activitieslidf embedded derivative feature was
accounted for separately and adjusted based omgesam the fair value of the Common Units. Thisules] in decreases to other income of
$0.4 million and $0.2 million in 2004 and 2005, pestively. The embedded derivative expired uporcthsing of the final land transaction in
August 2005.

The majority of the Bluegrass land that the Compaeuired from GAPI, Inc. was sold in the fourttager of 2006 to a third party for
a gain of approximately $7.0 million. In connectiwith the sale, it was determined that a portiothefBluegrass land that was acquired from
GAPI, Inc. pursuant to this staged land take-dowargement was not usable or saleable for futuveldpment. The original purchase
contract requires GAPI, Inc. to reimburse the Comyfar the value of any unusable acreage. Basemioent estimates, GAPI, Inc. may be
required to reimburse the Company for up to $75D nding final resolution of the matter in accor@@mwith and in the manner required by
the original contract.

On February 28, 2005 and April 15, 2005, the Compzaid through a third party broker three non-dadristrial buildings in Winston-
Salem, North Carolina to John L. Turner and certdihis affiliates for a gross sales price of apmrately $27.0 million, of which $20.3
million was paid in cash and the remainder fromsheender of 256,508 Common Units. The Compangroea a gain of approximately $
million upon the closing of these sales. Mr. Turnveino was a director at the time of these transastiretired from the Board of Directors
effective December 31, 2005. The Company beligvasthe purchase price paid for these assets bifiiner and his affiliates was equal to
their fair market value based on extensive marfgatiithe properties prior to this sale. The salesamwnanimously approved by the full Bo
of Directors with Mr. Turner not being present teadiss or vote on the matter.

9. STOCKHOLDERS ’ E QuITY
Common Stock Dividends

Dividends declared and paid per share of Commook3tggregated $1.70 for each of the years endedrbleer 31, 2006, 2005 and
2004.
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9. STOCKHOLDERS ' E Quity —Continued
The following table summarizes the estimated tditgluif dividends paid for federal income tax puses:

2006 2005 2004

Per share
Ordinary income $0.04 $0.6€  $0.3C
Capital gains 0.6¢ 0.9¢ 0.1C
Return of capita 0.97 0.0t 1.3C
Total $1.7C  $1.7C $1.7C

The Company's tax returns have not been examind¢ldebfRS and, therefore, the taxability of dividensl subject to change.

On January 31, 2007, the Board of Directors dedlareash dividend of $0.425 per shar€ommon Stock payable on March 2, 200
stockholders of record on February 12, 2007.

Preferred Stock
Below is a tabular presentation of the Company&fd?red Stock as of December 31, 2006 and 2005:

Annual
Number Liquidation Dividends
of Shares Number Optional
Issue Issued of Shares Carrying Preference Redemption Payable
Preferred Stock Issuances Date Originally Outstanding Value Per Share Date Per Share

(in thousands'  (in thousands

December 31, 2006

8 5/ 8% Series A Cumulative Redeemable 2/12/199 12& 105 $104,94' $ 1,00C 02/12/202° $ 86.2F
8% Series B Cumulative Redeema 9/25/199 6,90( 3,70 $92,50( $ 25 09/25/200. $ 2.0C
December 31, 2005

8 5/ 8% Series A Cumulative Redeemable 2/12/199 12E 105 $104,94' $ 1,00C 02/12/202° $ 86.2¢
8% Series B Cumulative Redeema 9/25/199 6,90( 5,70C $142,50( $ 25 09/25/200. $ 2.0C

The net proceeds raised from Preferred Stock isssamere contributed by the Company to the Opeyd&artnership in exchange for
Preferred Units in the Operating Partnership. Bnms$ of each series of Preferred Units generaliglighthe terms of the respective Prefer
Stock as to distributions, liquidation and redemptiights.

Of the $86.25 dividend paid per Series A PrefeBhdre in 2006, $5.00 was taxable as ordinary incamae$81.25 was taxable as
capital gain. Of the $2.00 dividend paid per SeBe3referred Share in 2006, $0.12 was taxabledinany income and $1.88 was taxable as
capital gain.

The Company used some of the proceeds from it®siipn activities described in Note 4 to redeemAugust 2005, all of the
Companys outstanding Series D Preferred Shares and 1lipmmilf its outstanding Series B Preferred Shaaggregating $130.0 million ph
accrued dividends and, in February 2006, 2.0 milobits outstanding Series B Preferred Shareseagging $50.0 million plus accrued
dividends. In connection with these redemptionBrafferred Stock, the excess of the redemptionmastthe net carrying amount of the
redeemed shares was recorded as a reduction ittcoate available for common shareholders in acearéavith EITF Topic D-42. These
reductions amounted to $4.3 million and $1.8 millfor the third quarter 2005 and first quarter 20@8pectively.
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9. STOCKHOLDERS ' E QuitTy —Continued
Stockholder Rights Plan

The Company has a stockholder rights plan, whicuisently scheduled to expire on October 6, 2@@ifsuant to which existing
stockholders would have the ability to acquire #ddal Common Stock at a significant discount ia #vent a person or group attempts to
acquire the Company on terms that the Company’sdbid@es not approve. These rights are designeétér d hostile takeover by increasing
the takeover cost. As a result, such rights coiddadirage offers for the Company or make an adiisodf the Company more difficult, even
when an acquisition is in the best interest ofGoenpany’s stockholders. The rights plan shouldimetfere with any merger or other
business combination the board of directors apmrsirce the Company may generally terminate the gii@ny time at nominal cost.

Dividend Reinvestment Plan

The Company has instituted a Dividend ReinvestraadtStock Purchase Plan under which holders of Gomfatock may elect to
automatically reinvest their dividends in additibslares of Common Stock and may make optional pagments for additional shares of
Common Stock. The administrator of the DividendriRestment and Stock Purchase Plan has been irstrogtthe Company to purchase
Common Stock in the open market for purposes ddfgatg the Company’s obligations thereunder. Hoarethe Company may in the future
elect to satisfy such obligations by issuing additl shares of Common Stock.

10. DERIVATIVE F INANCIAL | NSTRUMENTS

The Company had no outstanding hedge or derivéitiaacial instruments during 2006. During 2004 tigh June 1, 2005 the Comp:
had an interest rate swap that effectively fixezl tBOR base rate on $20.0 million of floating rd&bt at 1.59%.

The Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss (“AOCldlabce at December 31, 2006 and 2005 was $1.madlnd $2.2 million,
respectively, and consisted of deferred gains asskls from past cash flow hedging instruments wietbeing recognized as interest
expense over the terms of the related debt (see Nt The Company expects that the portion ottireulative loss recorded in AOCL at
December 31, 2006 associated with these derivatstauments, which will be recognized as interegtemse within the next 12 months, will
be approximately $0.7 million.

As described in Note 8, the land purchase agreemiémGAPI, Inc. included an embedded derivativatiee due to the price for the
land parcels being determined by the fair valu€a@imon Units, which was accounted for in accordawite SFAS No. 133.

11. OTHER C OMPREHENSIVE | NCOME

Other comprehensive income represents net incousetipé changes in certain amounts deferred in adeted other comprehensive
income/(loss) related to hedging activities noteated in the Consolidated Statements of Income.ddmponents of other comprehensive
income are as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Net income $53,74¢  $62,45¢  $41,57]
Other comprehensive incorr

Realized derivative gains/(losses) on «flow hedges — (207 79

Amortization as interest expense of hedging gaimklasses included in other comprehensive inc 697 708 757

Total other comprehensive incor 697 602 83€

Total comprehensive incon $54,44. $63,06( $42,41:
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12. DISCONTINUED O PERATIONS AND THE | MPAIRMENT OF L ONG -L IVED A SSETS

As part of its business strategy, the Companyfwith time to time selectively dispose of non-coreperties in order to use the net
proceeds for investments or other purposes. THe badlow sets forth the net operating results atctarrying value of those assets classified
as discontinued operations in the Company’s Codatdd Financial Statements. These assets clasaffidiscontinued operations comprise
8.9 million square feet of office and industriabperties and 290 residential units sold during 2@085 and 2004 and 0.3 million square feet
of property held for sale at December 31, 2006 s€Heng-lived assets relate to disposal activitias were initiated subsequent to the
effective date of SFAS No. 144, or that met certdipulations prescribed by SFAS No. 144. The djmna of these assets have been
reclassified from the ongoing operations of the @any to discontinued operations, and the Compatiyat have any significant continuir
involvement in the operations after the disposaidactions:

Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Rental and other revenues $ 12,97¢ $ 54,61! $ 83,69¢
Operating expenses
Rental property and other expen 5,25¢ 23,15¢ 34,96:
Depreciation and amortizatic 3,38¢ 16,84: 25,33¢
Impairment of assets held for L — — 1,77C
General and administratiy 87 85¢ 49¢
Total operating expens 8,72 40,85¢ 62,56¢
Interest expense 56C 1,21¢ 1,561
Other income 65 19t 23C
Income before minority interest and gains, net ofmpairments, on sales of discontinued operatior 3,75¢ 12,73 19,79¢
Minority interest in discontinued operatic (339 (1,22%) (2,049
Income from discontinued operations before net gagon sales and impairment of discontinued
operations 3,421 11,50 17,75(
Net gains on sales and impairment of discontinyetations 15,08: 25,75¢ 3,10¢
Minority interest in discontinued operatic (1,224 (2,528 (323)
Gains on sales and impairment of discontinued opetians, net of minority interest 13,85¢ 23,22¢ 2,78:
Total discontinued operations $ 17,27¢  $ 34,73 $ 20,53:
Carrying value of assets held for sale and assé&dsgdsiring the yea $228,61¢ $523,30: $623,17(

SFAS No. 144 also requires that a long-lived aslsssified as held for sale be measured at therlofiae carrying value or fair value
less cost to sell. As a result, the Company recbmhpairments with respect to certain propertidd so held for sale aggregating $8.4 million
and $6.3 million during the years ended DecembePB@5 and 2004, respectively. These impairments ineluded in discontinued
operations. There were no such impairments recardée year ended December 31, 2006.

At December 31, 2006, the Company had 0.3 millemwtable square feet of properties and 108 acrdewalopment land classified as
held for sale. As of February 15, 2007, most o$¢hassets had been sold.
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The following table includes the major classesssfets and liabilities of the properties held fde s of December 31, 2006 and 2005:

December 31,

2006 2005
Land $ 3,462 $ 28,71¢
Land held for developme! 14,21( 19,65:
Buildings and tenant improvemet 21,94¢ 165,96:
Development in proces — (28)
Accumulated depreciatic (6,829 (42,296
Net real estate ass¢ 32,79 172,00¢
Deferred leasing costs, r 43¢ 2,50z
Accrued straight line rents receival 727 2,67¢
Prepaid expenses and otl 212 52
Total asset $34,16¢ $177,23!
Tenant security deposits, deferred rents and adarasts?) $ 528 § 1,24
Mortgages payabl@ $ — § 187

@ Included in accounts payable, accrued expensesthnd liabilities.
@ Included in mortgages and notes payable.

SFAS No. 144 also requires that if indicators op@inment exist, the carrying value of a long-livaes$et classified as held for use be
compared to the sum of its estimated undiscouniead cash flows. If the carrying value is gredtan the sum of its undiscounted future
cash flows, an impairment loss should be recogriiaethe excess of the carrying amount of the asget its estimated fair value. During
2006, one office property which was classified elsltior use had indicators of impairment wheredagying value exceeded the sum of
undiscounted future cash flows. Accordingly, therany recognized an impairment loss of $2.6 millidrich was included in impairment
of assets held for use for the year ended DeceBthe?006. During 2005, one land parcel and one®fiiroperty which were classified as
held for use had indicators of impairment wheredfeying value exceeded the sum of undiscounteddicash flows. Accordingly, the
Company recognized impairment losses of $7.6 miNidich were included in impairment of assets Hetduse for the year ended
December 31, 2005. During 2004, there were two ¢ntggs held for use, one of which was later soldd04 and the other was sold in 2005,
with indicators of impairment where the carryindqueaexceeded the sum of undiscounted future casisflAccordingly impairment losses of
$1.6 million were recognized during the year enBedember 31, 2004. Since these properties substyuere sold, the impairment losses
have now been classified in income from discontihoperations.

101



Table of Contents

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per shre data)

13. EARNINGS P ER SHARE
The following table sets forth the computation asiz and diluted earnings per share:

Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Basic income/(loss) per share
Numerator:
Income from continuing operatiol $ 36,46¢ $ 27,72¢ $ 21,04«
Preferred Stock dividends (17,067) (27,239 (30,857)
Excess of Preferred Stock redemption costs oveyiogrvalue® (1,809 (4,277) =
Income/(loss) from continuing operations attriblgaio common stockholde 17,59¢ (3,782) (9,809¢)
Income from discontinued operatic 17,27¢ 34,73( 20,53
Net income attributable to common stockholc $ 34,87¢ $ 30,94¢ $10,72¢
Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per share — weightedage sharé3 54,48¢ 53,73: 53,32:
Basic earnings per shal
Income/(loss) from continuing operatic $ 0.32 $ (0.09) $ (0.19)
Income from discontinued operatic 0.32 0.6f 0.3¢
Net income $ 0.6¢ $ 0.5¢ $ 0.2
Diluted income/(loss) per share
Numerator:
Income from continuing operatiol $ 36,46¢ $ 27,72¢ $ 21,04«
Preferred Stock dividenc (17,069) (27,239 (30,85
Excess of Preferred Stock redemption costs oveyiogrvalue (1,809 (4,272) —
Minority interest in the Operating Partners 1,621 — —
Income/(loss) from continuing operations attriblgatio common stockholde 19,22( (3,782) (9,80¢)
Income from discontinued operatic 17,27¢ 34,73( 20,53
Minority interest in the Operating Partnership isantinued operatior 1,55 — —
Income from discontinued operatia 18,83¢ 34,73( 20,53
Net income attributable to common stockholc $ 38,05¢ $ 30,94¢ $ 10,72¢
Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per share — weighatedage sharé3 54,48¢ 53,73: 53,32:
Add:
Employee stock options and warrants 1,39¢ —® —®
Common Units 5,19: —® —®
Unvested restricted stock 28€ —® — O
Denominator for diluted earnings per share — adflisteighted average shares and assumed
conversions 61,364 53,73. 53,32¢
Diluted earnings per shaf:
Income/(loss) from continuing operatic $ 031 $ (0.0 $ (0.19)
Income from discontinued operatia 0.31 0.6 0.3¢
Net income $ 0.62 $ 0.5¢ $ 0.2

@ For additional disclosures regarding outstandirefd?red Stock, see Note 9 included herein.
@  Weighted average shares exclude shares of unvestieitted stock pursuant to SFAS 128.

@) Pursuant to SFAS No. 128, income from continuingrapons, after preferred dividends and prefertedksredemption charge, is the
amount used to determine whether potential comrhares are dilutive or antidilutive. Because sucteptial common shares would be
antidilutive to income from continuing operatioreaable to common shareholders, diluted earnirgsshare is the same as basic
earnings per share for the years ended Decemb@08%,and 2004. Potential common shares includg sfptions, warrants, shares
issuable upon conversion of Common Units and uedesstricted shares, and would have amountedpi@zmately 6.6 million shar

and 6.7 million shares for the years ended Dece®ibe?005 and 2004, respectively.
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13. EARNINGS P ER SHARE —Continued

(4) Options and warrants aggregating approximdetymillion shares were outstanding during 2006vieite not included in the
computation of diluted earnings per share becawesexercise prices of the options and warrants igteer than the average market
price of the common shares during the year. At Ddx 31, 2006 there were no options and warrarisganding with exercise prices
that are higher than the $40.76 price of the comsfames at that da.

The number of shares of Common Stock reservedifard issuance is as follows:

December 31 December 31

2006 2005
Outstanding warrani 35,00( 766,71!
Outstanding stock optior 2,975,07. 5,153,64
Possible future issuance under Stock Option 1,481,86- 1,731,83

4,491,93! 7,652,19!

As of December 31, 2006, the Company had 143,728@naining shares of Common Stock authorized tigdeed under its charter.

14. W ARRANTS
The following table sets forth information regamgliwarrants to acquire Common Stock that were oudistg as of December 31, 2006:

Number of Exercise
Date of Issuance Warrants Price
October 199° 25,00( $32.5(
December 199 10,00( $34.1:
Total 35,00(

All warrants were issued in connection with propextquisitions in 1999 and 1997 and are exercidabie the dates of issuance. The
warrants granted in December 1997 expire 10 yeans the respective dates of issuance. The wargaatged in October 1997 do not have
expiration date. In 2005, 35,000 warrants with xereise price of $21.00 per share were exercisddl20,000 warrants with an exercise p
of $28.00 per share were exercised. In 2006, 30)@0€ants with an exercise price of $28.00 pereshare exercised, 591,715 warrants with
an exercise price of $32.50 per share were exereisd 100,000 warrants with an exercise price df&Bwere exercised.

15. COMMITMENTS AND C ONTINGENCIES
Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company maintains its cash and cash equivaleestments and its restricted cash at financitititions. The combined account
balances at each institution typically exceed FiDi€lirance coverage and, as a result, there is@entmtion of credit risk related to amounts
on deposit in excess of FDIC insurance coverage.
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15. CoMMITMENTS AND C ONTINGENCIES —Continued
Land Leases

Certain properties in the Company’s wholly ownedtfotio are subject to land leases expiring thro2gB2. Rental payments on these
leases are adjusted annually based on either tieinwer price index (CPI) or on a predetermineddlee Land leases subject to increases
under a pre-determined schedule are accountedhftaruhe straight-line method. Total expense rembfdr land leases was $1.3 million,
$1.4 million and $1.6 million for the 2006, 2005da2004, respectively.

For three properties owned at December 31, 20@6Ctmpany has the option to purchase the leasddllaing the lease term at the
greater of 85.0% of appraised value or approxinge&8D,000 per acre. For one property owned at Dbeeil, 2006, the Company has the
option to purchase the leased land at an init&esdtpurchase price of $1.0 million, which incres2% per year beginning in year five thro
the ninety-ninth year of the lease.

As of December 31, 2006, the Company’s paymengatibins for future minimum payments on operatingllieases (which include
scheduled fixed increases, but exclude increassedban CPI) were as follows:

2007 $ 1,067
2008 1,07¢
2009 1,11¢
2010 1,137
2011 1,157
Thereaftel 45,63¢

$51,19

Environmental Matters

Substantially all of the Company’s in-service pndigs have been subjected to Phase | environmassalssments (and, in certain
instances, Phase Il environmental assessmentd).@88essments and/or updates have not revealed, management aware of, any
environmental liability that management believesilddhave a material adverse effect on the accompgrgonsolidated Financial
Statements.

Guarantees and Other Obligations
The following is a tabular presentation and relatisgdussion of various guarantees and other omigatis of December 31, 2006:

Amount

Recorded
Type of Date Guarantee
Entity or Transaction Guarantee or Other Obligation Deferred Expires
Des Moines Joint Venturés® Debt $ — Various throug
11/2015
RRHWoods, LLC?.() Indirect Debt® $ 40c 8/2010
Plaza Colonnad@:®) Indirect Debt @ $ 37 12/2009
SF-HIW Harborview Plaza, LP)® Rent and tenant improveme
@ $ — 9/2007
Eastshore (Capital On&)® Rent® $ 4,08/ 11/2007
Industrial® (10 Environmental costé $ 12 Until
Remediatet
Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32, L®.(1 Rent® $ 41¢ 6/2008
RRHWoods, LLC and Dallas County Partn@r§2 Indirect Debt® $ 49 6/2014
RRHWoods, LLC®.(14) Indirect Debt* $ 28 11/2009
HIW-KC Orlando, LLC®-13) Rent® $ 42C 4/2011
HIW-KC Orlando, LLC®:(3) Leasing Cost $ 35€ Until Paid
Capitalized Lease Obligatiofis) Debt $ 481 Various
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15. CoMMITMENTS AND C ONTINGENCIES —Continued

1)

(2)
(3)

(4)

()

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

Represents guarantees entered into prior tdaheary 1, 2003 effective date of FASB InterpretalNo. 45, “Guarantor's Accounting
and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Inatultidirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Oth&EN(45") for initial recognition
and measuremer

Represents guarantees that fall under the ing@gnition and measurement requirements of FIM

Represents guarantees that are excluded frerfaithvalue accounting and disclosure provisiohnsIN 45 because the existence of such
guarantees prevents sale treatment and/or themrigioogof profit from the sale transactic

The maximum potential amount of future paymeligslosed for these guarantees assumes the Comppgayhe maximum possible
liability under the guaranty with no offsets or uetions. With respect to the rent guarantee, ifsthace is leased, it assumes the existing
tenant defaults at December 31, 2006 and the spat&ins unleased through the remainder of the gtiatarm. If the space is vacant
assumes the space remains vacant through the tpioh the guaranty. Since it is assumed thatew tenant will occupy the space,
lease commissions, if applicable, are exclu

As more fully described in Note 3, in 2002 tempany granted its partner in SF-HIW Harborvieaz| LP a put option and entered
into a master lease arrangement for five yearsramy®acant space in the building owned by thetjsenture. The Company also
agreed to pay certain tenant improvement costsnidémum potential amount of future payments thenGany could be required to
make related to the rent guarantees and tenanbiraprents was $0.3 million as of December 31, 2

The Company has guaranteed certain loans inestion with the Des Moines joint ventures. The imaxn potential amount of future
payments that the Company could be required to maker the guarantees is $8.6 million at DecembeB06. This amount relates to
housing revenue bonds that require credit enhanusnmeaddition to the real estate mortgages. Tl bear a floating interest rate,
which at December 31, 2006 averaged 3.65%, andrenati2015. If the joint ventures are unable tcasethe outstanding balance under
these housing revenue bonds, the Company will dpgined to repay its maximum exposure under thesesloRecourse provisions exist
that enable the Company to recover some or alicf payments from the joint ventures’ assets. dh# yenture currently generates
sufficient cash flow to cover the debt service isggiby the loan. On July 31, 2006, $6.0 milliorother loans related to four office
buildings that had been previously guaranteed byGbmpany were refinanced with no guarantee. Aitiaddl guarantee of $5.4
million expired upon an industrial building becomif5% leased prior to the end of 20

In connection with the RRHWoods, LLC joint verg, the Company guaranteed $3.1 million relating tetter of credit and
corresponding master lease, which expires in AuB0$0. The guarantee requires the Company to pagruncontingent master leas
the cash flows from the building securing the lettiecredit do not cover at least 50% of the minimdebt service. The letter of credit
along with the building secure the industrial raveibonds used to finance the property. These boatisre in 2015. Recourse
provisions exist such that the Company could receusee or all of the payments made under the lefteredit guarantee from the joint
venture’s assets. At December 31, 2006, the Compaoorded a $0.4 million deferred charge includedther assets and liabilities on
its Consolidated Balance Sheet with respect togh@&antee. The Company’s maximum potential exgosnder this guarantee was
$3.1 million at December 31, 20C

The Plaza Colonnade, LLC joint venture has @$8lion non-recourse mortgage that bears a firéerest rate of 5.7%, requires
monthly principal and interest payments and mataredanuary 31, 2017. The Company and its jointurerpartner have signed a
contingent master lease limited to 30,772 squag ¥ehich expires in December 2009. The Compan@gimum exposure under this
master lease was $1.3 million at December 31, 286@ever, the current occupancy level of the baidss sufficient to cover all debt
service requirement

As more fully described in Note 3, in connentith the sale of three office buildings to a thiarty in 2002 (the “Eastshore”
transaction), the Company agreed to guaranteeshamtfalls and re-tenanting costs for a five-yesniqul of time from the date of sale
(through November 2007). The Company’s maximum sxpdto loss under these agreements as of Dec&hb2006 was $4.1

million. These three buildings were leased to glsitenant, Capital One Services, Inc., a subsidiaCapital One Financial Services,
Inc., under leases that expire from May 2006 todi&010. This transaction had been accounted farfi@sancing transaction and was
recorded as a completed sale transaction in the dgioiarter of 2005 when the maximum exposure t® lmsler these guarantees became
less than the related deferred gain; gain is beinggnized beginning in the third quarter of 208%h& maximum exposure under the
guarantees is reduce
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(10)

(11)

(12)

(13)

(14)

In December 2003, the Company sold 1.9 miliqnare feet of industrial property for $58.4 roifliin cash, a $5.0 million note
receivable that bore interest at 12.0% and a $1lliomnote receivable that bore interest at 8.08@ddition, the Company agreed to
guarantee, over various contingency periods thragtember 2006, any rent shortfalls on 16.3% ofd¢imable square feet of the
industrial property, which is occupied by two tetsaThe total gain as a result of the transactias $6.0 million. Because the terms of
the notes required only interest payments to beenbgdhe buyer until 2005, in accordance with SFS 66, the entire $6.0 million
gain was deferred and offset against the notevabks on the balance sheet and the cost recovetymh&as being used for this
transaction. On June 30, 2005, the Company ageeenbdify the note receivable to reduce the amouetlsyy $0.3 million. The
modified note balance and all accrued interestegaging $6.2 million, was paid in full on July @5. Because the maximum expos
to loss from the rent guarantee at July 1, 2005%@a8 million, that amount of gain was deferred &Ad million of the deferred gain
was recognized at that date. The Compaighntingent liability with respect to the rent garstee expired at December 31, 2006 and
$0.1 million of the remaining gain was recognizedhe fourth quarter of 2006. Additionally, as pafrthe sale, the Company agreed to
indemnify and hold the buyer harmless with respeenvironmental concerns on the property of upld million. As a result, $0.1
million of the gain was deferred at the time ofesahd will remain deferred until the environmem@hcerns are remediate

In the Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32, LP jounture, a single tenant currently leases aneehtilding under a lease scheduled to
expire on June 30, 2008. The tenant also leases spather buildings owned by the Company. In goofion with an overall
restructuring of the tenastleases with the Company and with this joint vemtthe Company agreed to certain changes to ase leitt
the joint venture in September 2003. The modifaatiincluded allowing the tenant to vacate the wesion January 1, 2006, reducing
the rent obligation by 50.0% and converting thet"tease to a “full service” lease with the tenéable for 50.0% of these costs at that
time. In turn, the Company agreed to compensatgtheventure for any economic losses incurred assult of these lease
modifications. As of December 31, 2006, the Compaary approximately $0.4 million in other liabilgiand $0.4 million as a deferred
charge in other assets recorded on its Consolidédéghce Sheet to account for the lease guararteeever, should new tenants
occupy the vacated space prior to the end of theagiee period, in June 2008, the Company’s lighilnder the guarantee would
diminish. The Compang’maximum potential amount of future payments wétard to this guarantee as of December 31, 2086b@/Z
million. No recourse provisions exist to enable @mmpany to recover any amounts paid to the jodmtwre under this lease guarantee
arrangement. During 2006, the Company expensedrillidn related to the lease guarant

RRHWoods, LLC and Dallas County Partners faghthe construction of two buildings with a $7.dlion ten-year loan. As an
inducement to make the loan at a 6.3% long-term the Company and its partner agreed to mastee @ vacant space and each
guaranteed $0.8 million of the debt with limitedaarse. As leasing improves, the guarantee obtigatinder the loan agreement
diminish. As of December 31, 2006, no master |gasenents were necessary. The Company currentlyelcasded $0.05 million in
other liabilities and $0.05 million as a deferrdrhge included in other assets on its ConsolidBt#dnce Sheet with respect to this
guarantee. The maximum potential amount of futagpents that the Company could be required to rhaked on the current lease:
place was approximately $2.2 million as of Decen81er2006. The likelihood of the Company payingter$0.8 million guarantee is
remote since the joint venture currently satisfresminimum debt coverage ratio and should the Gomhave to pay its portion of the
guarantee, it would be entitled to recover the $@il8on from other joint venture asse

As more fully described in Note 2, in connentivith the formation of HIW-KC Orlando, LLC, theo@pany agreed to guarantee rent to
the joint venture for 3,248 rentable square featrmencing in August 2004 and expiring in April 20The Company’s maximum
potential amount of future payments with regarth®guarantee is $0.4 million as of December 30628.dditionally, the Company
agreed to guarantee the initial leasing costsjraily estimated at $4.1 million, for approximatdl¥% of the total square feet of the
property owned by the joint venture. The Compary eid approximately $0.3 million in 2006 and $thillion in 2005 under this
guarantee, and approximately $0.4 million is estaddo remain under the guarantee at December0®5.

In connection with the RRHWoods, LLC joint vere, the Company and its partner each guarant2@&dndillion to a bank. This
guarantee expires in November 2009 and can be exhemthe joint venture’s option, through Novem®@t1. The bank provides a
letter of credit securing industrial revenue bomndsich mature in November 2015. The joint ventuietiustrial building secures the
bonds. The Company would be required to perforneutite guarantee should the joint venture be urtabiepay the bonds. The
Company has recourse provisions to recover fronjdineé venture’s assets. The property collateratizihe bonds generates sufficient
cash flow to cover the debt service required bybitred financing. In addition to the direct guarantde Company is committed to a
master lease for 50% of the debt service shoulddkh flow from the property not be able to paydabt service of the bonds. As a
result of this master lease, the Company has reddb.03 million in other liabilities and as a dedel charge in other assets on its
Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, :
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15. CoMMITMENTS AND C ONTINGENCIES —Continued

(15) Represents capitalized lease obligations d &0llion related to office equipment, which icinded in accounts payable, accrued
expenses and other liabilities on the Com|'s Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, !

Litigation, Claims and Assessments

The Company is from time to time a party to a \wgrad legal proceedings, claims and assessmerdis@iin the ordinary course of its
business. The Company regularly assesses thetlegbdnd contingencies in connection with thesétensibased on the latest information
available. For those matters where it is probaid¢ the Company has incurred or will incur a lasg e loss or range of loss can be
reasonably estimated, reserves are recorded @dhsolidated Financial Statements. In other ingsnlsecause of the uncertainties related to
both the probable outcome and amount or rangessf bbreasonable estimate of liability, if any,restrbe made. Based on the current
expected outcome of such matters, none of theseedings, claims or assessments is expected tcahmaeterial adverse effect on the
Company’s business, financial condition or resafteperations.

In June, August, September and October 2006, tingp@ny received assessments for state excise tadeglated interest amounting to
approximately $4.5 million, related to periods 2@Bbugh 2004. The Company believes that it issubiject to such taxes and has vigorously
disputed the assessment. Based on the advice néeloetoncerning the status of settlement discussiod on the Company’s analysis, the
Company currently believes it is probable thatallise tax assessments, including potential assegsifor 2005 and 2006, can be settled by
the payment of franchise taxes of approximatel $dillion, and in the fourth quarter of 2006 suchcant was accrued and charged to
operating expenses. Legal fees related to thissmattre nominal and were charged to operating esqgeas incurred in 2006.

As previously disclosed, the SEC’s Division of Emfement issued a confidential formal order of itigeadion in connection with the
Company’s previous restatement of its financialiltss In November 2006, the Company was informed the SEC’s Division of
Enforcement had closed its investigation and wadaking any action with respect to this matter.
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16. DiscLOSURE A BOUT F AIR V ALUE OF F INANCIAL | NSTRUMENTS

The following disclosures of estimated fair valueravdetermined by management using available maragtmation and appropriate
valuation methodologies. Considerable judgmenseduo interpret market data and develop estinfaiedalues. Accordingly, the estimates
presented herein are not necessarily indicatite@amounts that the Company could realize upgoditon of the financial instruments. 1
use of different market assumptions and/or estonatiethodologies may have a material effect orethienated fair values. The carrying
amounts and estimated fair values of the Compdimgacial instruments at December 31, 2006 and 208% as follows:

Carrying Fair

Amount Value

December 31, 2006

Cash and cash equivalel $ 16,69( $ 16,69(
Accounts and notes receival $ 31,21¢ $ 31,21¢
Mortgages and notes payal $1,465,12! $1,506,69:
Financing obligation $ 3553 $ 39,12
December 31, 2005

Cash and cash equivalel $ 1212 $ 121
Accounts and notes receival $ 33,43 $ 35,50¢
Mortgages and notes payal $1,471,611  $1,562,99
Financing obligation $ 34,15¢ $ 34,23t

The fair values of the Company's fixed rate moréggagnd notes payable and financing obligations wstienated using discounted cash
flow analysis based on the Company's estimate@inental borrowing rate at December 31, 2006 an8 &f0similar types of borrowing
arrangements. The carrying amounts of the Compaayiable rate borrowings approximate fair value.

Disclosures about the fair value of financial instents are based on relevant information avaitablee Company at
December 31, 2006. Although management is not aefaaiay factors that would have a material effectlee fair value amounts reported
herein, such amounts have not been revalued diatelate and current estimates of fair value mgwificantly differ from the amounts
presented herein.
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17. SEGMENT | NFORMATION

The sole business of the Company is the acquisitiemelopment and operation of rental real estaipgsties. The Company operate:
four segments: office, industrial, retail and resitial properties. Each segment has different custs and economic characteristics as to
rental rates and terms, cost per square foot ddibgs, the purposes for which customers use theespghe degree of maintenance and
customer support required and customer dependandifferent economic drivers, among others. Theeen® material inter-segment
transactions.

The accounting policies of the segments are thessthose described in Note 1 included hereirthEyrall operations are within the
United States and, at December 31, 2006, no texiahe Wholly Owned Properties comprised more &% of the Compang’consolidate
revenues.

The following table summarizes the rental inconmet,aperating income and assets for each reporsaglment for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004:

Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Rental and Other Revenues):
Office segmen $341,85. $329,16¢ $ 324,94
Industrial segmer 30,95¢ 26,58¢ 26,97
Retail segmer 42,76: 39,21: 36,60¢
Residential segmel 1,22 1,10¢ 1,06:
Total Rental and Other Revent $416,79¢ $396,07! $ 389,58
Net Operating Income® :
Office segmen $211,61( $207,20° $205,23:
Industrial segmer 23,36¢ 20,07¢ 20,84
Retail segmer 27,89: 26,70: 25,107
Residential segmel 33¢ 512 521
Total Net Operating Inconr 263,20t 254,50( 251,70t
Reconciliation to income before disposition of proerty, minority interest and equity in
earnings of unconsolidated affiliates
Depreciation and amortizatic (114,93) (109,616 (108,84
Impairment of assets held for L (2,600 (7,587 —
General and administrative expen (37,309 (33,069 (41,485
Interest expens (100,766  (107,08) (118,46
Interest and other incon 7,01( 7,07¢ 6,094
Settlement of tenant bankruptcy cla 1,581 — 14,43¢
Loss on debt extinguishme (494 (459 (12,457
Income before disposition of property, minorityergst and equity in earnings of unconsolidated
affiliates $ 1569 $ 3,77¢ $ (9,016
December 31,
2006 2005 2004
Total Assets@:
Office segmen $2,218,70! $2,245,59' $2,529,57
Industrial segmer 230,10: 226,19¢ 256,34(
Retail segmer 247,88 259,54 262,51!
Residential segmel 21,93: 21,12 12,201
Corporate and oth¢ 126,22! 156,51¢ 179,01¢
Total Assets $2,844,85. $2,908,97 $3,239,65!

(1) Excludes discontinued operatiol
(2) Real estate and other assets held for sale argintlin this table according to the segment t
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18. OTHER E VENTS
Retirement of Former Chief Executive Officer

The Company’s former Chief Executive Officer rediren June 30, 2004. In connection with his retinetnghe Company’s Board of
Directors approved a retirement package for himititiduded a lump sum cash payment, acceleratethgesf stock options and restricted
stock, extended lives of stock options and contineeverage under the Company’s health and liferarste plan for three years at the
Company’s expense. The total cost recognized uBéesP for the six months ended June 30, 2004 was $llion, comprised of a $2.2
million cash payment, $0.6 million related to thesting of stock options, $1.7 million related te thesting of restricted shares and about $0.1
million for continued insurance coverage.

Settlement of Tenant Bankruptcy Claims

On July 21, 2002, WorldCom filed a voluntary petitiwith the United States Bankruptcy Court seekeiligf under Chapter 11 of the
United States Bankruptcy Code. WorldCom emergeuh foankruptcy (now MCI, Inc.) on April 20, 2004. Gugust 27, 2004, the Company
and various MCI subsidiaries and affiliates (theCMEntities”) executed a settlement agreement @unisto which the MCI Entities paid the
Company $8.6 million in cash and transferred epjproximately 340,000 shares of new MCI, Inc. stocBeptember 2004. The Company
subsequently sold the stock for net proceeds afcegpately $5.8 million, and recorded the full satent of $14.4 million as Other Income
in the third quarter of 2004.

In the fourth quarter of 2006, the Company recesteares of Redback Networks, Inc., a public compangettlement of a bankruptcy
claim by the Company related to leases with thisnfr tenant that were terminated in 2003. The shasze sold for net cash proceeds of
million and recorded as Other Income.

Casualty from Hurricane and Related Insurance Claim

In the fourth quarter of 2005, one of the Comparoffice properties located in southeastern Flosiggtained damage in a hurricane.
damages are fully insured except for a $341,00Qictdzle, which was expensed in the fourth quart&0®95. The Company did not incur any
significant loss of rental income as a result & damages. In 2006, the Company received $2.4omilfiom the insurance company as
advances on the final settlement; these amounts prénarily for clean up costs and certain repdifee Company is in the process of
completing final permanent repairs. On Februar@0®7, the insurance company paid the Company aitiatad $5.0 million in settlement of
the claim. The Company currently estimates thatia gf approximately $4 million will be recordedder FASB Interpretation No. 30,
“Accounting for Involuntary Conversion of Non-Momey Assets to Monetary Assets” in the first quaaie2007.
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19. QUARTERLY F INANCIAL D ATA (Unaudited)

The following tables set forth quarterly finandialormation for the Company'’s fiscal years ended¢@&mnber 31, 2006 and 2005 and
have been adjusted to reflect the reporting remeres of discontinued operations under SFAS No: 144

Rental and other revenués

Income from continuing operatiof®
Income from discontinued operatiofs
Net income
Dividends on preferred stox
Excess of preferred stock redemption cost oveyayivalue
Net income available for common stockhold

Net income per shar-basic:
Income from continuing operatiol
Discontinued operatior
Net income

Net income per share-diluted:
Income from continuing operatiol
Discontinued operatior

Net income

Rental and other revenu@s

Income from continuing operatiof?
Income from discontinued operatio®s
Net income

Dividends on preferred stox
Excess of preferred stock redemption cost oveyirayivalue

Net income available for common stockhold

Net income per share-basic:
(Loss)/income from continuing operatic
Discontinued operatior
Net income

Net income per shar-diluted:
(Loss)/income from continuing operatia
Discontinued operatior

Net income

For the Year Ended December 31, 2006

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
$101,07¢ $102,88: $104,32¢ $108,50¢ $416,79¢
10,96¢ 5,332 5,53¢ 14,63( 36,46¢
3,181 941 3,371 9,78¢ 17,27¢
14,14¢ 6,27: 8,90¢ 24,41¢ 53,74«
(4,729 (4,119 (4,119 (4,119 (17,069
(1,809 — — — (1,809
$ 761¢ $ 216 $ 4,79¢ $ 20,300 $ 34,87¢
$ 00¢ $ 002 $ 00z $ 0.1¢ $ 0.3z
0.0€ 0.0z 0.0¢€ 0.17 0.3
$ 014 $ 004 $ 0.0 $ 0.3¢€ $ 0.64
$ 008 $ 00z $ 00z $ O0.1¢ $ 0.31
0.0€ 0.0z 0.0€ 0.17 0.31
$ 014 $ 004 $ 0.0 $ 0.3 $ 0.62
For the Year Ended December 31, 2005
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
$ 98,96¢ $ 98,20¢ $ 98,15¢ $100,73¢ $396,07!
3,44: 7,73( 10,36¢ 6,181 27,72¢
17,71: 3,70 12,50: 812 34,73(
21,15¢ 11,43 22,87: 6,99¢ 62,45¢
(7,719 (7,719 (6,699 (5,119 (27,239
— — (4,272) — (4,272)
$1344. $ 3,727 $1190C $ 1,88¢ $ 30,94¢
$ (009 $ — $ (0O1H $ 00z $ (0.07)
0.3: 0.07 0.2% 0.0z 0.6t
$ 028 $ 007 $ 02z $ 0.04 $ 0.5¢
$ (009 $ — $ (0OH $ 00z $ (0.07)
0.3: 0.07 0.2¢ 0.01 0.6t
$ 022 $ 007 $ 02z $ 0.02 $ 0.5¢

(1) The increase in net income available for comstockholders from the third quarter of 2006 tofiwerth quarter of 2006 was primarily
a result of the settlement of a $1.6 million tenamkruptcy claim received in the fourth quarteR006 related to leases with a former
tenant that were terminated in 2003 (see Note d8ifther discussion) and an increase of $11.5awnilin gains on disposed properties
in both continuing and discontinued operations ftomthird quarter of 2006 to the fourth quarte2006.
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19. QUARTERLY F INANCIAL D ATA (Unaudited)—Continued
(2) The amounts presented for the first three gusidre not equal to the same amounts previoystyrted in Form 10-Q for each period as
a result of discontinued operations. Below is anediation to the amounts previously reported ok 1(-Q:

For the Quarter Ended

September 3C
March 31, June 30,
2006 2006 2006

Total rental and other revenues previously repc $104,24¢ $105,80: $ 106,29:
Discontinued operatior (3,170 (2,920 (1,969)
Revised total rental and other reven $101,07¢ $102,88: $ 104,32¢
Income from continuing operations previously repd $ 11,75« $ 6,08 $  6,00¢
Discontinued operatior (789) (75€) (46E)
Revised income from continuing operatic $ 10,96 $ 533 $ 5,53t
Income from discontinued operations previously regut $ 2392 $ 18 $  2,90¢
Additional discontinued operations from properetd subsequent to the respective reporting pe 78¢ 75€ 465
Revised income from discontinued operati $ 3181 $ 941 $ 3,371

For the Quarter Ended
September 3C December 31

March 31, June 30,
2005 2005 2005 2005

Total rental and other revenues previously repc $102,16¢ $101,23¢ $ 100,05. $ 104,47
Discontinued operatior (3,199 (3,029 (1,899 (3,739
Revised total rental and other reven $98,96¢ ¢ 98,20¢ $ 98,15¢ $ 100,73t
Income from continuing operations previously repd $ 402 $ 854 $ 10,92¢ $ 7,18
Discontinued operatior (57§ (810 (560) (996
Revised income from continuing operatic $ 344z $ 773C $ 10,36¢ $ 6,18i
Income from discontinued operations previously regmt $17,13¢ $ 2892 $ 1194 $ (184)

Additional discontinued operations from propersesd subsequent to the respective
reporting perioc 57€ 81C 56( 99¢€
Revised income from discontinued operati $ 17,71 $ 3,704 $ 1250: $ 812
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SCHEDULE Il
(In Thousands)

For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 antl 200

A summary of activity for Valuation and Qualifyifgccounts and Reserves

Allowance for Doubtful Account- Straight Line Ren
Allowance for Doubtful Account- Accounts Receivabl
Allowance for Doubtful Account- Notes Receivabl
Disposition Reserv

Totals

Allowance for Doubtful Account- Straight Line Ren
Allowance for Doubtful Account- Accounts Receivabl
Allowance for Doubtful Account- Notes Receivabl
Disposition Reserv

Totals

Allowance for Doubtful Account- Straight Line Ren
Allowance for Doubtful Account- Accounts Receivabl
Allowance for Doubtful Account- Notes Receivabl
Disposition Reserv

Totals

(1) Amounts have been adjusted for duplicative ite

Balance at Additions: Deductions: Balance at
December 31 Charged to Adjustments and December 31
2005 Expense (2 Settlements 2006
$ 60¢ $ 91t $ (1,227) $ 301

1,61¢ 272 (637) 1,252

87¢€ 39 (129) 78€

10C — (25) 75

$ 3,208 $ 1,22¢ $ (2,019 $ 241t

Additions:
Balance at Charged to Deductions: Balance at

December 31 Adjustments and December 31

Expense (1)
2004 (2) Settlements (1) 2005

$ 1,42% $ 1,24(C $ (2,0579) $ 60¢

1,171 712 (26E) 1,61¢

122 832 (78) 87¢€

18C 34¢ (429) 10C

$ 289 $ 3,13¢ $ (2,829 $  3,20¢

Additions:
Balance at Charged to Deductions: Balance at

December 31 Adjustments and December 31

Expense (1)
2003 (2) Settlements (1) 2004

$ — $ 1,42 $ = $ 1,42%

1,23¢ 742 (80€) 1,171

— 122 — 122

75C 642 (1,217) 18C

$ 1,98t $ 2,92¢ $ (2,01¢) $ 2,89

(2) Total additions include $915,000, $1,240,000 &h,422,000 charged to Rental and other revema$@, $349,000 and $642,000
charged to Gains on disposition of property, nattlie years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and B&épectively
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(In Thousands)

As of December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004
A summary of activity for Real estate and accunadatepreciation is as follows

December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Real Estate
Balance at beginning of ye 3,201,721 3,529,201 3,782,35:
Additions
Acquisitions, Development and Improveme 137,72  152,81( 103,18
Previously Unconsolidated Affiliat 46,24
Cost of real estate sold and reti (313,355 (480,296 (356,33)
Balance at close of year ( 3,072,33! 3,201,721 3,529,20i
Accumulated Depreciatia
Balance at beginning of ye 579,62! 583,44¢ 535,36:
Depreciation expens 101,46. 108,21' 115,608
Previously Unconsolidated Affiliat 4,61(
Real estate sold and retir (90,567 (112,039 (67,51))
Balance at close of year ( 595,13t 579,62! 583,44¢
(@) Reconciliation of total cost to balance shoagtion at December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 (in
Thousands
2006 2005 2004
Total per schedule I 3,072,33! 3,201,721 3,529,20i
Construction in progress exclusive of land includedchedule | 101,89¢ 28,72] 26,43¢
Furniture, fixtures and equipme 23,69 22,46% 22,40:
Property held for sal (40,995 (219,53) (215,90
Reclassification adjustment for discontinued openat 1,041 3,33(
Total real estate assets at ¢ 3,156,93. 3,034,42. 3,365,47!
(b) Reconciliation of total Accumulated Depréitia to balance sheet caption at December 31, 20C
2005, and 2004 (in Thousan(
2006 2005 2004
Total per Schedule | 595,13t 579,62! 583,44¢
Accumulated Depreciatic- furniture, fixtures and equipme 20,30¢ 18,171 16,34:
Property held for sal (6,829) (42,29 (30,129
Total accumulated depreciati 608,61. 555,50t 569,66
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SCHEDULE IIl - REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIA TION

12/31/2006
(In Thousands)

Cost Capitalized
Subsqguent to

Gross Amount at which

Initial Costs Acquisition carried at close of period
Life on Which
Carrying Building Depreciation is
2006 Building and and Accumulated Date of

Description City Encumberance Land Improvements Improvements Costs Land Improvements Total Depreciation Construction Calculated On
Atlanta, GA
174(-90 Century Circle Atlante 1,117 3,16¢ — 608 1,117 3,77¢ 4,89: 1,11¢ 1972 5-40 yrs.
1700 Century Circle Atlante — 2,482 — 278 — 2,760 2,76( 31¢ 1983 5-40 yrs.
1800 Century Boulevard Atlante 1,44: 29,081 — 9,72¢ 1,44¢ 38,80t 40,24¢ 10,72¢ 1975 5-40 yrs.
1825 Century Cente Atlante 864 — 302 15,187 1,161 15,187 16,35¢ 2,15¢ 2002 5-40 yrs.
1875 Century Boulevard Atlante — 8,92¢ — 1,69: — 10,61710,61% 2,662 1976 5-40 yrs.
1900 Century Boulevard Atlante — 4,74 — 1,00 — 5,74% 5,74¢ 1,42 1971 5-40 yrs.
2200 Century Parkwa Atlante — 14,43: — 2,247 — 16,67¢16,67¢ 4,38¢ 1971 5-40 yrs.
2400 Century Center Atlante — — 40€ 15,40 40€ 15,40: 15,80¢ 3,914 1998 5-40 yrs.
2500 Century Center Atlante — — 326 14,22t 328 14,22¢ 14,55 597 2005 5-40 yrs.
2500/2635 Parking Garal Atlante — — — 6,24: — 6,24Z 6,247 169 2005 5-40 yrs.
2600 Century Parkway Atlante — 10,67¢ — 1,878 — 12,55¢12,55¢ 3,07C 1973 5-40 yrs.
2635 Century Parkway Atlante — 21,64 — 2,172 — 23,81¢23,81¢ 6,011 1980 5-40 yrs.
2800 Century Parkway Atlante — 20,44¢ — 424 — 20,87:20,87: 5,302 1983 5-40 yrs.
400 North Business Pa Atlante 97¢ 6,23¢ 979 (6,235 — — — — 1985 5-40 yrs.
50 Glenlake Atlante 2,50( 20,00¢ — 89t 2,50( 20,90: 23,401 4,64: 1997 5-40 yrs.
6348 Northeast Expressway Atlante 27¢ 1,65E — 18¢ 27t 1,84¢ 2,11¢ 463 1978 5-40 yrs.
6438 Northeast Expressw Atlante 18C 2,21¢ — 34¢  17¢ 2,56¢ 2,74: 59€ 1981 5-40 yrs.
Bluegrass Lakes | Atlante 81€ — 33€ 3,08¢ 1,157 3,08¢ 4,241 761 1999 5-40 yrs.
Bluegrass Place | Atlante 491 2,061 — 73 491 2,13¢ 2,62¢ 52¢ 1995 5-40 yrs.
Bluegrass Place Atlante 412 2,58: — 19 412 2,60z 3,014 61C 1996 5-40 yrs.
Bluegrass Valley Atlante 1,50( — 40¢ 3,98¢ 1,90¢ 3,98¢ 5,89t 1,262 2000 5-40 yrs.
Bluegrass Valley Land Atlante 19,711 — (14,889 —  4,82¢ —  4,82: — N/A N/A
Century Plaza Atlante 1,29( 8,567 — 1,79€ 1,29C 10,367 11,65 1,84% 1981 5-40 yrs.
Century Plaza Il Atlante 1,38( 7,737 — 1,40¢ 1,38( 9,13710,51% 1,74¢ 1984 5-40 yrs.
Chastain Place | Atlante 451 — 341 3,10¢ 792 3,10¢ 3,902 814 1997 5-40 yrs.
Chastain Place Il Atlante 59¢ — 194 1,50¢ 793 1,50¢ 2,29¢ 362 1998 5-40 yrs.
Chastain Place Il Atlante 53¢ — 173 1,10z 712 1,10 1,81¢ 232 1999 5-40 yrs.
Corporate Lakes Atlante 1,26¢ 7,242 — 491 1,26% 7,73¢ 8,99¢ 1,90¢ 1988 5-40 yrs.
Deerfield | Atlante 1,20¢ 3,90( (1,20¢9) (3,900 — — — — 1999 5-40 yrs.
Deerfield Il Atlante 1,70t 5,521 (1,708 (5,520 — — — — 1999 5-40 yrs.
Deerfield Il Atlante 1,01C — (1,010 — — — — — 2001 5-40 yrs.
EKA Chemical Atlante ) 60¢ 9,88¢ — — 609 9,88¢€ 10,49t 2,17t 1998 5-40 yrs.
Gwinnett Distribution Cente Atlante 1,11¢ 5,96( — 1,35¢ 1,11¢ 7,31¢ 8,437 1,80¢ 1991 5-40 yrs.
Henry County Land Atlante 3,01( — — —  3,01C —  3,01C — N/A N/A
Highwoods Center | at Tradeport Atlante 1) 307 — 13¢ 3,15¢ 44€ 3,15¢ 3,60( 1,34¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Center Il at Tradepc  Atlante ) 641 — 162 3,371 803 3,371 4,17¢ 1,02C 1999 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Center IIl at Tradeport Atlante 1) 40¢ — 13C 2,15¢ 53¢ 2,15¢ 2,697 28C 2001 5-40 yrs.
National Archives and Recor:

Administration Atlante 1,48¢ — — 17,762 1,48¢ 17,76219,24¢ 1,08¢ 2004 5-40 yrs.
Newpoint Place Atlante 81¢ — 35€ 3,18C 1,17¢ 3,18( 4,35¢ 673 1998 5-40 yrs.
Newpoint Place | Atlante 1,49¢ — 394 3,49t 1,89: 3,49t 5,38¢ 821 1999 5-40 yrs.
Newpoint Place Il Atlante 66¢ — 252 2,15C 921 2,15C 3,071 423 1998 5-40 yrs.
Newpoint Place I\ Atlante 98¢ — 40€ 4,53¢ 1,39¢ 4,53¢ 5,93¢ 791 2001 5-40 yrs.
Norcross | & Il Atlante 322 2,00( — 153 3223 2,15¢ 2,477 553 1970 5-40 yrs.
Nortel Atlante 3,34z 32,111 — 12 3,34: 32,12 35,46t 7,062 1998 5-40 yrs.
Oakbrook | Atlante 88C 4,99: (88C) (4,999 — — — — 1981 5-40 yrs.
Oakbrook Il Atlante 1,591 9,03( (2,59 (9,030 — — — — 1983 5-40 yrs.
Oakbrook Il Atlante 1,491 8,46 (1,497 (8,467 — — — — 1984 5-40 yrs.
Oakbrook IV Atlante 96C 5,44¢ 96C) (5,449 — — — — 1985 5-40 yrs.
Oakbrook Summit Atlante 943 6,63¢ — 45¢ 942 7,09t 8,037 1,79¢ 1981 5-40 yrs.
Oakbrook V Atlante 2,227 12,61 (2,227 (12,619) — — — — 1985 5-40 yrs.
Oxford Lake Business Cent Atlante 85¢% 7,15t (858) (7,155 — — — — 1985 5-40 yrs.
Peachtree Corners Il Atlante 1,928 7,992 (2,927 (7,992 — — — — 1999 5-40 yrs.
Peachtree Corners llI Atlante 88C 2,01¢ (880) (2,019 — — — — 2002 5-40 yrs.
South Park Residential Land Atlante 50 — 7 — 57 — 57 — N/A N/A
South Park Site Lan Atlante 1,20¢ — 752 — 1,95¢ —  1,95¢ — N/A N/A
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Cost Capitalized
Subsquent to
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Southside Distribution Centt  Atlanta 804 4,55¢ — 1,392 804 5,94t  6,74¢ 1,357 1988 5-40 yrs.
Tradeport | Atlanta 557 — 261 2,587  81¢& 2,587 3,40¢ 55C 1999 5-40 yrs.
Tradeport Il Atlanta 557 — 261 2,61¢  81€& 2,61¢ 3,43¢ 944 1999 5-40 yrs.
Tradeport 1l Atlanta 672 — 37C 2,35¢ 1,04: 2,35¢ 3,401 265 1999 5-40 yrs.
Tradeport IV Atlanta 667 — 365 2,80¢ 1,03 2,80¢ 3,83¢ 36C 2001 5-40 yrs.
Tradeport Land Atlanta 5,24: — (5) —  5,23¢ — 5,23¢ — N/A N/A
Tradeport V Atlanta 462 — 18C 2,491 643 2,491 3,13: 352 2002 5-40 yrs.
Two Point Roya Atlanta 1) 1,792 14,96¢ — 18C 1,79: 15,14« 16,937 3,267 1997 5-40 yrs.
Baltimore, MD
Sportsman Club Land Baltimore 24,93 — (13,319 — 11,61 — 11,61 — N/A N/A
Charlotte, NC
University Center Charlotte 1,24¢ — (1,24%) — — — — — 2001 5-40 yrs.
University Center - Land Charlotte 7,122 — (1,022) —  6,10C — 6,10(C — N/A N/A
Columbia, SC
Centerpoint | Columbia 1,32: 7,50¢ 1,329 (7,509 — — — — 1988 5-40 yrs.
Centerpoint Il Columbia 1,192 8,09¢ (1,192 (8,09¢ — — — — 1996 5-40 yrs.
Centerpoint v Columbia 26E — (265) — — — — — 1997 5-40 yrs.
Centerpoint VI Columbia 27¢€ — (27€) — — — — — N/A N/A
Fontaine | Columbia 1,22¢ 6,96( — (943) 1,22¢ 6,017 7,24¢ 2,492 1985 5-40 yrs.
Fontaine I Columbia 94¢ 5,37¢ — (784)  94¢ 4,59: 5,541 1,49z 1987 5-40 yrs.
Fontaine IlI Columbia 85¢ 4,86¢ — (1,14¢)  85¢ 3,72( 4,57¢ 1,372 1988 5-40 yrs.
Fontaine V Columbia 39¢ 2,257 — (131) 39¢ 2,12¢ 2,52¢ 59E 1990 5-40 yrs.
Greenville, SC
385 Building 1 Greenville 1,41 — — 3,611 1,41% 3,611 5,02¢ 1,257 1998 5-40 yrs.
385 Land Greenville 1,80( — 27 — 1,827 — 1,827 — N/A N/A
770 Pelham Road Greenville 70& 2,81z — 562 70E 3,37¢  4,07¢ 951 1989 5-40 yrs.
Brookfield Plaze Greenville ) 1,50( 8,51¢ — 251 1,50(C 8,765 10,26¢ 2,27¢ 1987 5-40 yrs.
Brookfield-Jacobs-Sirrine Greenville 3,05( 17,28( (23) 4,15¢ 3,027 21,43: 24,46( 4,72¢ 1990 5-40 yrs.
MetLife @ Brookfield Greenville 1,03¢ — 352 10,56¢ 1,391 10,56¢ 11,96! 2,34¢ 2001 5-40 yrs.
Patewood Business Cen Greenville 1,322 7,50¢ — (2,437 1,32 5,067 6,38¢ 1,997 1983 5-40 yrs.
Patewood | Greenville 94z 5,117 — 1,30¢ 942 6,42 7,361 1,597 1985 5-40 yrs.
Patewood Il Greenville 94z 5,17¢ — 95¢ 942 6,13t 7,07¢ 1,62¢ 1987 5-40 yrs.
Patewood I Greenville ) 841 4,77¢ — 1,94¢ 842 6,72t 7,561 1,411 1989 5-40 yrs.
Patewood IV Greenville 2) 1,21¢ 6,91¢ — 68C 1,21¢ 7,59¢ 8,81¢ 1,88t 1989 5-40 yrs.
Patewood V Greenville 2) 1,69( 9,58¢ — 2,03% 1,69C 11,62: 13,31: 2,84¢ 1990 5-40 yrs.
Patewood VI Greenville 2,36( — 321 7,380 2,681 7,38( 10,06 1,49¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Kansas City, MO
Country Club Plaza Kansas Cit Q)7 14,28¢ 146,87¢ 757 117,53( 15,04¢ 264,40¢279,45: 50,68f 1920-2002  5-40 yrs.
Colonial Shops Kansas Cit 141 657 — 10C 141 757 897 178 1907 5-40 yrs.
Corinth Executive Building Kansas Cit 52¢ 2,341 — 69C 52¢€ 3,03: 3,557 712 1973 5-40 yrs.
Corinth Office Building Kansas Cit 541 2,19¢ — 46€ 541 2,665 3,207 57€ 1960 5-40 yrs.
Corinth Shops South Kansas Cit 1,04: 4,447 — 592 1,04: 5,04( 6,08t 1,051 1953 5-40 yrs.
Corinth Square North Sho| Kansas Cit 2,75¢ 11,49( — 1,747 2,75¢ 13,237 15,99: 2,73¢ 1962 5-40 yrs.
Fairway North Kansas Cit 771 3,28: — 582 771 3,86¢ 4,63% 922 1985 5-40 yrs.
Fairway Shops Kansas Cit 68¢ 3,21¢ — 253 68¢ 3,46¢ 4,157 788 1940 5-40 yrs.
Fairway Wes Kansas Cit 871 3,527 — 421 871 3,94¢ 4,81¢ 87¢€ 1983 5-40 yrs.
Land - Hotel Land - Valencii Kansas Cit 97¢ — 111 — 1,08¢ — 1,08¢ — N/A N/A
Land - Lionsgate Kansas Cit 3,50¢ — 2 —  3,50¢ — 3,50¢ — N/A N/A
Neptune Apartment Kansas Cit 3,80¢ 1,09¢ 6,282 — 63€ 1,09¢ 6,91¢ 8,01¢ 1,43¢€ 1988 5-40 yrs.
Nichols Building Kansas Cit 50z 2,03( — 463 501 2,497 2,99 577 1978 5-40 yrs.
One Ward Parkway Kansas Cit 682 3,937 — 96€ 681 4,90 5,58¢ 1,10¢ 1980 5-40 yrs.
Park Plaza Kansas Cit 3) 1,38¢ 6,41( — 1,62¢ 1,38¢ 8,03¢ 9,42: 1,89t 1983 5-40 yrs.
Parkway Building Kansas Cit 404 2,04¢ — 412 404 2,45¢ 2,86( 508 190¢-1910 5-40 yrs.
Prairie Village Rest & Bank Kansas Cit 4) — — — 1,372 — 1,372 1,37z 307 1948 5-40 yrs.
Prairie Village Shops Kansas Cit 4) 3,36¢ 14,68¢ — 4,252 3,367 18,93¢ 22,30¢ 4,167 1948 5-40 yrs.
Rental House Kansas Cit — 764 113 (307) 113 457 57C 108 1960 5-40 yrs.
Residential - Land Kansas Cit 484 — 39€ — 88C — 88C — N/A N/A
Shannon Valley Shopping
Center Kansas Cit 1,93( 7,62t (1,930 (7,62 — — — — 1988 5-40 yrs.
Somerset Kansas Cit 31 12E — — 31 12t 15€ 26 1998 5-40 yrs.
Two Brush Creek Kansas Cit 984 4,40: — 411 984 4,81 5,797 94C 1983 5-40 yrs.
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Valencia Place Office Kansas City ?3) 1,57¢ — 97C 34,751 2,54¢ 34,75737,30¢ 8,20¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Memphis, TN
3400 Players Club Parkway  Memphis 2) 1,00% — 207 5,057 1,21z 5,057 6,27( 1,16¢ 1997 5-40 yrs.
6000 Poplar Ave Memphis 2,34( 11,38¢ — 2,157 2,34( 13,53¢15,87¢ 2,45( 1985 5-40 yrs.
6060 Poplar Ave Memphis 1,98( 8,677 — 1,21€ 1,98( 9,89:11,87: 1,76& 1987 5-40 yrs.
Atrium | & Il Memphis 1,57( 6,252 — 1,87: 1,57( 8,12¢ 9,69¢ 2,04t 1984 5-40 yrs.
Centrum Memphis 1,012 5,58( — 1,71 1,01z 7,297 8,307 1,462 1979 5-40 yrs.
International Place Il Memphis (5) 4,88¢ 27,78: — 3,36¢ 4,88¢ 31,15:36,03¢ 7,965 1988 5-40 yrs.
Shadow Creek Memphis 924 — 46€ 6,401 1,39(C 6,401 7,791 982 2000 5-40 yrs.
Shadow Creek II Memphis 734 — 467 7,502 1,201 7,50: 8,70¢ 1,04( 2001 5-40 yrs.
Southwind Office Center A Memphis 1,004 5,69¢ — 692 1,002 6,38¢ 7,38¢ 1,76( 1991 5-40 yrs.
Southwind Office Center | Memphis 1,36¢ 7,75¢ — 86C 1,36¢ 8,61¢ 9,98( 2,24¢ 1990 5-40 yrs.
Southwind Office Center C Memphis ) 1,07C — 221 5,787 1,291 5,78% 7,07¢ 1,87¢ 1998 5-40 yrs.
Southwind Office Center D Memphis 744 — 193 5,03 937 5,03Z 5,97( 1,01z 1999 5-40 yrs.
The Colonnad: Memphis 1,30C 6,481 267 698 1,567 7,17¢ 8,74¢ 2,13¢ 1998 5-40 yrs.
Nashville, TN
3322 West End Nashville ) 3,02t 27,49( — 1,65¢ 3,02t 29,14£32,17( 5,29: 1986 5-40 yrs.
3401 West En Nashville 5,86¢ 22,917 2 4,39¢ 5,862 27,31733,17¢ 7,252 1982 5-40 yrs.
5310 Maryland Way Nashville 1,862 7,201 — 249 1,862 7,45( 9,31< 2,11¢ 1994 5-40 yrs.
BNA Corporate Center Nashville — 18,50¢ — 7,28¢ — 25,79¢ 25,79« 7,122 1985 5-40 yrs.
Century City Plaza Nashville 903 6,91¢ — (2,524 903 4,395 5,29¢ 1,19¢ 1987 5-40 yrs.
Cool Springs | Nashville 1,582 — 15 12,507 1,59¢ 12,507 14,10¢ 2,78 1999 5-40 yrs.
Cool Springs Il Nashville 1,82¢ — 34€  21,92¢ 2,17(C 21,92¢24,09¢ 5,63( 1999 5-40 yrs.
Cool Springs Il Nashville 1,631 — — 14,75¢ 1,631 14,75¢16,38¢ 63 2006 5-40 yrs.
Cool Springs Lant Nashville 7,63¢ — (5,979 — 1,661 — 1,661 — N/A N/A
Eastpark I, II, & Il Nashville 2,84( 10,99: 1 2,72¢ 2,841 13,71¢16,56( 4,33¢ 1978 5-40 yrs.
Harpeth on the Green Il Nashville ) 1,41¢ 5,671 — 1,12C 1,41¢ 6,797 8,217 1,90¢ 1984 5-40 yrs.
Harpeth on the Green | Nashville 1) 1,66( 6,64¢ — 1,21¢ 1,66( 7,86¢ 9,52¢ 2,21C 1987 5-40 yrs.
Harpeth on the Green IV Nashville 1) 1,712 6,847 — 1,20¢ 1,71z 8,05( 9,76¢ 2,09¢ 1989 5-40 yrs.
Harpeth on The Green V Nashville 1) 662 — 197 4,15€ 85¢ 4,15¢ 5,01< 893 1998 5-40 yrs.
Hickory Trace Nashville (5) 1,16¢ — 164 4,84¢€ 1,32¢ 4,84¢ 6,17¢ 798 N/A N/A
Highwoods Plaza | Nashville 1) 1,552 — 307 7,04( 1,85¢ 7,04( 8,89¢ 1,67¢ 1996 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Plaza Il Nashville ) 1,44¢ — 307 6,65¢€ 1,75¢ 6,65¢ 8,411 1,87¢ 1997 5-40 yrs.
Lakeview Ridge Nashville 2,06¢ 7,261 — 231 2,06¢ 7,49¢ 9,567 2,02 1986 5-40 yrs.
Lakeview Ridge I Nashville 1) 605 — 187 4,10¢ 792 4,10¢ 4,90( 881 1998 5-40 yrs.
Lakeview Ridge Il Nashville 1) 1,07z — 40C  10,55¢ 1,47: 10,55¢12,03! 2,631 1999 5-40 yrs.
Seven Springs - Land Il Nashville 3,71¢ — (2,02%) —  2,69( —  2,69( — N/A N/A
Seven Spring- Land | Nashville 3,12 — 1,39¢ — 4,521 — 4,521 — N/A N/A
Seven Springs | Nashville 2,07¢ — 592 14,00 2,66¢ 14,00t 16,677 2,331 2002 5-40 yrs.
SouthPointe Nashville 1,65% — 31C 6,58¢ 1,96¢ 6,58¢ 8,54¢ 1,57 1998 5-40 yrs.
Southwind Lanc Nashville 3,662 — 352 —  4,01< — 4,01« — N/A N/A
Sparrow Building Nashville 1,262 5,047 — 791 1,262 5,83¢ 7,10C 1,61( 1982 5-40 yrs.
The Ramparts at Brentwooc  Nashville 2,39¢ 12,80¢ — 1,81( 2,39« 14,61¢17,01( 2,14¢ 1986 5-40 yrs.
Westwood Sout! Nashville 1) 2,10¢ — 382 9,627 2,48¢ 9,62712,11¢ 2,50¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Winners Circle Nashville ) 1,497 7,25¢ — 922 1,491 8,18( 9,67¢ 1,861 1987 5-40 yrs.
Orlando, FL
Capital Plaza Il Orlando 2,99¢ — 18 — 3,012 — 3,01: — N/A N/A
In Charge Institute Orlando 501 — 95 2,687 59€ 2,687 3,27¢ 874 2000 5-40 yrs.
MetroWest 1 Land Orlando 1,10C — 51 — 1,151 — 1,151 — N/A N/A
Metrowest Cente Orlando 1,35¢ 7,681 26¢ 1,82€ 1,62: 9,51:11,13¢ 2,50¢ 1988 5-40 yrs.
MetroWest Land Orlando 2,03¢ — (14¢€) — 1,88¢ — 1,88¢ — N/A N/A
Windsor at Metro Center Orlando — — 2,06( 9,422 2,06( 9,42:11,48: 1,01z 2002
Piedmont Triad, NC
101 Stratforc Piedmont Tria 1,20¢ 6,91¢ 1) 1,20C 1,20¢ 8,11¢ 9,321 1,891 1986 5-40 yrs.
150 Stratford Piedmont Tria ) 2,78¢ 11,511 — 924 2,78¢ 12,43t 15,22 3,72¢ 1991 5-40 yrs.
160 Stratford - Land Piedmont Tria 96€ — 1 12C 967 12C 1,087 2 N/A N/A
500 Radar Roa Piedmont Tria 202 1,507 (202) (1,507 — — — — 1981 5-40 yrs.
502 Radar Road Piedmont Tria 39 28E (39 (285) — — — — 1986 5-40 yrs.
504 Radar Road Piedmont Tria 39 292 (39 292) — — — — 1986 5-40 yrs.
506 Radar Roa Piedmont Tria 39 28E (39 (285) — — — — 1986 5-40 yrs.



Table of Contents

Cost Capitalized
Initial Costs Subsguent to Acquisitior

Gross Amount at which
carried at close of period

Life on Which
Building Carrying Building Accumulated Depreciation is
2006 and and Date of
Description City Encumberance Land Improvements Improvements  Costs  Land Improvements Total Depreciation Construction Calculated On
6348 Burnt Poplar Piedmont Tria 724 2,90( — 284 724 3,18¢ 3,90¢ 938 1990 5-40 yrs.
6350 Burnt Popla Piedmont Tria 34C 1,37¢ — 16 341 1,39C 1,731 417 1992 5-40 yrs.
7341 West Friendly Avenue Piedmont Tria 1132 841 — 238 113 1,07¢ 1,19: 31€ 1988 5-40 yrs.
7343 West Friendly Avenue Piedmont Tria 72 55E — 174 72 72¢ 801 26C 1988 5-40 yrs.
7345 West Friendly Aven. Piedmont Tria 66 492 — 73 66 565 631 161 1988 5-40 yrs.
7347 West Friendly Avenue Piedmont Tria 97 71¢ — 76 97 795 892 242 1988 5-40 yrs.
7349 West Friendly Avenue Piedmont Tria 53 393 — 49 53 442 49t 137 1988 5-40 yrs.
7351 West Friendly Avenue Piedmont Tria 10€ 788 — 14C 10€ 92€ 1,03¢ 29C 1988 5-40 yrs.
7353 West Friendly Aven. Piedmont Tria 123 912 — 56 123 96€ 1,091 292 1988 5-40 yrs.
7355 West Friendly Avenue Piedmont Tria 72 538 — 44 72 582 654 17C 1988 5-40 yrs.
7906 Industrial Village Roac Piedmont Tria 62 46C (62) 460 — — — — 1985 5-40 yrs.
7908 Industrial Village Roa Piedmont Tria 62 478 (62) 475 — — — — 1985 5-40 yrs.
7910 Industrial Village Roac Piedmont Tria 62 46C (62) (46C0) — — — — 1985 5-40 yrs.
Airpark East-Building 1 Piedmont Tria 37¢ 1,51¢ — 17¢  37¢ 1,69¢ 2,07¢ 505 1990 5-40 yrs.
Airpark Eas-Building 2 Piedmont Tria 463 1,84¢ — 197 462 2,04¢ 2,50¢ 681 1986 5-40 yrs.
Airpark East-Building 3 Piedmont Tria 322 1,29 — 11C 322 1,40% 1,72¢ 42¢ 1986 5-40 yrs.
Airpark East-Building A Piedmont Tria 50¢ 2,921 — 953 51C 3,87¢ 4,38¢ 1,242 1986 5-40 yrs.
Airpark Eas-Building B Piedmont Tria 73¢ 3,237 — 641 73¢ 3,87¢ 4,617 1,22¢ 1988 5-40 yrs.
Airpark East-Building C Piedmont Tria (5) 2,392 9,57¢ — 2,42F 2,39: 12,00: 14,39 3,92¢ 1990 5-40 yrs.
Airpark East-Building D Piedmont Tria (5) 85C — 69¢ 4,36€ 1,54¢ 4,36¢ 5,91¢ 1,267 1997 5-40 yrs.
Airpark East-Copier
Consultants Piedmont Tria 224 1,06¢ — 342 224 1,41C 1,63¢ 647 1990 5-40 yrs.
Airpark East-HewlettPackardPiedmont Tria 465 — 38C 1,13¢ 84t 1,13¢ 1,98: 458 1996 5-40 yrs.
Airpark East-Highland Piedmont Tria 14€ 1,081 — (3) 14t 1,077 1,22t 31C 1990 5-40 yrs.
Airpark Eas-lInacom Buildinc Piedmont Tria 26E — 27C 772 53t 772 1,301 227 1996 5-40 yrs.
Airpark EastService Center Piedmont Tria 237 1,102 — 151 237 1,25¢ 1,491 42€ 1985 5-40 yrs.
Airpark EastService Center Piedmont Tria 193 94¢€ — 303 192 1,24¢ 1,44z 608 1985 5-40 yrs.
Airpark Eas-Service Center Piedmont Tria 305 1,21¢ — 23S  30& 1,457 1,762 543 1985 5-40 yrs.
Airpark EastService Center Piedmont Tria 22E 928 — 152 22t 1,08C 1,30¢ 375 1985 5-40 yrs.
Airpark East-Service Court Piedmont Tria 171 777 — 43 171 82C 99C 25€ 1990 5-40 yrs.
Airpark Eas-Simplex Piedmont Tria 271 — 23¢ 72¢ 51C 72¢ 1,23¢ 197 1997 5-40 yrs.
Airpark East-Warehouse 1 Piedmont Tria 35E 1,61z — 352 356 1,965 2,321 61C 1985 5-40 yrs.
Airpark East-Warehouse 2 Piedmont Tria 373 1,52 — 203 374 1,72¢ 2,09¢ 54¢ 1985 5-40 yrs.
Airpark Eas-Warehouse Piedmont Tria 341 1,48¢ — 508 341 1,99 2,33t 723 1986 5-40 yrs.
Airpark East-Warehouse 4 Piedmont Tria 66C 2,67¢ — 23S  65¢ 2,91t 3,57¢ 904 1988 5-40 yrs.
Airpark North - DC1 Piedmont Tria 86C 2,91¢ — 584 86C 3,50¢ 4,36¢ 1,13¢ 1986 5-40 yrs.
Airpark North - DC2 Piedmont Tria 1,302 4,392 — 871 1,30z 5,26: 6,56¢ 1,50z 1987 5-40 yrs.
Airpark North- DC3 Piedmont Tria 44¢ 1,517 — 165 45C 1,68z 2,131 503 1988 5-40 yrs.
Airpark North - DC4 Piedmont Tria 451 1,51« — 124 452 1,63¢ 2,08¢ 515 1988 5-40 yrs.
Airpark South Warehouse 1 Piedmont Tria 54¢ — — 2,782 546 2,782 3,32¢ 798 1998 5-40 yrs.
Airpark South Warehouse Piedmont Tria 74¢ — — 2,491 74¢ 2,491 3,23¢ 468 1999 5-40 yrs.
Airpark South Warehouse 3 Piedmont Tria 603 — — 2,272 603 2,27% 2,87¢ 385 1999 5-40 yrs.
Airpark South Warehouse 4 Piedmont Tria 49¢ — — 1,997 49¢ 1,997 2,49¢ 405 1999 5-40 yrs.
Airpark South Warehouse Piedmont Tria 1,732 — — 5,561 1,73¢ 5,561 7,29 2,12¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Airpark West 1 Piedmont Tria 944 3,831 — 292 944 4,12% 5,067 1,19¢ 1984 5-40 yrs.
Airpark West 2 Piedmont Tria 887 3,55( — 404 887 3,952 4,841 1,182 1985 5-40 yrs.
Airpark West 4 Piedmont Tria 227 907 — 388 227 1,29¢ 1,521 387 1985 5-40 yrs.
Airpark West 5 Piedmont Tria 243 971 — 33¢ 243 1,31C 1,552 48C 1985 5-40 yrs.
Airpark West 6 Piedmont Tria 327 1,30¢ — 85 327 1,39¢ 1,72z 428 1985 5-40 yrs.
ALO Piedmont Tria 177 — 80 91¢ 257 91¢ 1,17¢ 15& 1998 5-40 yrs.
Brigham Roac- Land Piedmont Tria 7,05¢ — (3,720 —  3,33¢ —  3,33¢ — N/A N/A
Chesapeake Piedmont Tria 1,241 4,967 — 16 1,241 4,97¢ 6,22( 1,48( 1993 5-40 yrs.
Chimney Rock A/B Piedmont Tria 1,612 4,04t — 131 1,61¢ 4,177 5,79 877 1981 5-40 yrs.
Chimney Rock C Piedmont Tria 23€ 592 — 67 23€ 65¢ 89t 173 1983 5-40 yrs.
Chimney Rock D Piedmont Tria 60E 1,51« — 34 60tE 1,547 2,15z 287 1983 5-40 yrs.
Chimney Rock E Piedmont Tria 1,69¢ 4,26¢ — 244 1,69t 4,50¢ 6,20¢ 948 1985 5-40 yrs.
Chimney Rock F Piedmont Tria 1,43¢ 3,60¢ — 1 1,432 3,60¢ 5,042 771 1987 5-40 yrs.
Chimney Rock G Piedmont Tria 1,04% 2,622 — 40 1,04¢ 2,661 3,707 564 1987 5-40 yrs.
Consolidated Center/ Buildir
| Piedmont Tria 62E 2,182 — 1,381 62t& 3,564 4,18¢ 51¢ 1983 5-40 yrs.
Consolidated Center/ Buildit
Il Piedmont Tria 62E 4,43¢ — 588 62t 5,02: 5,64¢ 1,10z 1983 5-40 yrs.
Consolidated Center/ Buildi
1l Piedmont Tria 68C 3,572 — 225 68C 3,797 4,471 84C 1989 5-40 yrs.
Consolidated Center/ Buildit
\Y Piedmont Tria 37€ 1,65k — 317 37€ 1,972 2,34¢ 464 1989 5-40 yrs.
Deep River Corporate Cent Piedmont Tria 1,041 5,897 — 32€ 1,041 6,21¢ 7,25¢ 1,69¢ 1989 5-40 yrs.
Enterprise Warehouse | Piedmont Tria 453 — 36C 3,01€¢ 813 3,01€¢ 3,82¢ 62C 2002 5-40 yrs.
Enterprise Warehouse I Piedmont Tria 2,73% — 881 10,20¢ 3,61¢ 10,20¢ 13,82 12 2006 5-40 yrs.
Forsyth Corporate Cent Piedmont Tria ) 32¢ 1,867 — 801 32¢ 2,66¢ 2,997 694 1985 5-40 yrs.
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Highwoods Park
Building | Piedmont Triac 1,47¢ — - 8,581 1,47¢ 8,58110,05¢ 1,14¢ 2001 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Square CV Piedmont Triad 1,41¢ — 537 — 1,952 — 1,957 — N/A N/A
Highwoods Square Lar Piedmont Triad 1,811 — — — 1,811 — 1,811 — 2004
Highwoods Square
Shops Piedmont Triad 1,031 — 30 1,45¢ 1,061 1,45¢ 2,517 78 2005 5-40 yrs.
Jefferson Pilot Land Piedmont Triad 11,75¢ — (4,257) — 7,502 — 7,50z — N/A N/A
Madison Park Building
5620 Piedmont Triac 942 2,22( — — 942 2,221 3,16: 474 1983 5-40 yrs.
Madison Park Building
5630 Piedmont Triad 1,48¢ 3,507 — — 1,48¢ 3,507 4,99¢ 74¢ 1983 5-40 yrs.
Madison Park Building
5635 Piedmont Triad 894 2,10¢ — 20 894 2,30¢ 3,20 472 1986 5-40 yrs.
Madison Park Building
5640 Piedmont Triac 1,831 6,531 — 7 1,831 6,53¢ 8,37( 1,40¢ 1985 5-40 yrs.
Madison Park Building
5650 Piedmont Triad 1,082 2,551 — 31€ 1,08 2,867 3,94¢ 54¢ 1984 5-40 yrs.
Madison Park Building
5655 Piedmont Triad 1,947 7,12: — 293 1,947 7,417 9,36¢ 1,581 1987 5-40 yrs.
Madison Park Building
5660 Piedmont Triad 1,91z 4,50¢ — 19€ 1,912 4,70z 6,61< 97C 1984 5-40 yrs.
Madison Parking Dec  Piedmont Triac 5,75k 8,82 — 49€ 5,75¢ 9,31¢€15,07: 1,83¢ 1987 5-40 yrs.
Regency One-Piedmont
Center Piedmont Triad 51E — 383 1,96C  89¢ 1,96C 2,857 524 1996 5-40 yrs.
Regency Two-Piedmol
Center Piedmont Triad 435 — 28¢ 1,732 723 1,73z 2,45¢ 413 1996 5-40 yrs.
Sears Cenfact Piedmont Triad 1) 834 3,45¢ — 117 834 3,577 4,411 1,052 1989 5-40 yrs.
The Knollwood -380
Retail Piedmont Triad 2) — 1 — 178 — 17€ 17¢€ 96 1995 5-40 yrs.
The Knollwood-370 Piedmont Triad 2) 1,82¢ 7,498 — 69z 1,82¢ 8,18¢10,01¢ 2,66€ 1994 5-40 yrs.
The Knollwoo(-380 Piedmont Triac 2) 2,98¢ 12,02¢ — 2,55¢ 2,98¢ 14,58717,57¢ 4,04¢ 1990 5-40 yrs.
University
Commercial Center-
Archer 4 Piedmont Triac 51€ 2,06€ (51€) (2,066) — — — — 1986 5-40 yrs.
University
Commercial Centel
Landmark 3 Piedmont Triad 431 1,78¢ (431) (1,78Y) — — — (24) 1985 5-40 yrs.
University
Commercial Center-
Service Center 1 Piedmont Triad 277 1,15¢ 277 (1,159 — — — — 1983 5-40 yrs.
University
Commercial Centel
Service Center 2 Piedmont Triad 21€ 862 (21€) 862) — — — — 1983 5-40 yrs.
University
Commercial Center-
Service Center 3 Piedmont Triad 168 70z (16€) (702) — — — — 1984 5-40 yrs.
University Commercial
CenterWarehouse Piedmont Triad 204 81t (209 815 — — — — 1983 5-40 yrs.
University Commercial
CenterWarehouse Piedmont Triad 197 78¢ (197 (789 — — — — 1983 5-40 yrs.
US Airways Piedmont Triac 1,451 11,37 ) 1 1,45C 11,37€12,82¢ 2,598 197(-1987 5-40 yrs.
Westpoint Business
Park Land Piedmont Triad 868 — (464) — 404 — 404 — N/A 5-40 yrs.
Westpoint Business
Park-Luwabahnsor Piedmont Triad 347 1,38¢ — 46 347 1,43€¢ 1,78¢ 423 1990 5-40 yrs.
Research Triangle, NC
3600 Glenwood Avenu Research Triang — 10,99« — 26 — 11,02(11,02( 2,697 1986 5-40 yrs.
3645 Trust Drive - One
North Commerce
Center Research Triang 793 2,97¢ (793 (2,979 — — — — 1984 5-40 yrs.
3737 Glenwood Avenu Research Triang — — 31¢ 16,63¢ 31¢ 16,63¢ 16,957 4,25( 1999 5-40 yrs.
4101 Research
Commons Research Triang 1,34¢ 8,34¢ 22C (129) 1,56¢ 8,217 9,78¢ 1,677 1999 5-40 yrs.
4201 Research
Commons Research Triang 1,20¢ 11,85¢ — (44) 1,20¢ 11,81413,01¢ 4,837 1991 5-40 yrs.
4301 Research
Commons Research Triang 90C 8,231 — 96 90C 8,337 9,23¢ 2,371 1989 5-40 yrs.
4401 Research
Commons Research Triang 1,24¢ 9,381 — 2,65F 1,24¢ 12,042 13,29: 4,271 1987 5-40 yrs.
4501 Research
Commons Research Triang 785 5,85¢ — 2,46¢ 78E 8,321 9,10¢ 2,381 1985 5-40 yrs.
4800 North Park Research Triang 2,67¢ 17,63( — 4,521 2,67¢ 22,15124,83( 5,78¢ 1985 5-40 yrs.
4900 North Parl Research Triang 874 77C 1,982 — 56¢ 77C 2,551 3,321 82¢ 1984 5-40 yrs.
5000 North Park Research Triang ) 1,01C 4,61z — 2,00¢ 1,01C 6,621 7,631 2,262 1980 5-40 yrs.

5200 Greens Dairy-One



North Commerce Cent Research Triang
5220 Greens Dairy-On

North Commerce

Center Research Triang
801 Corporate Center Research Triang

Blue Ridge | Research Triang
Blue Ridge Il Research Triang
Cape Fear Research Triang
Catawba Research Triang
CentreGreen Five Lani

- Weston Research Triang

CentreGreen Four
CentreGreen One -
Weston
CentreGreen Three
Land- Weston
CentreGreen Two -

Research Triang
Research Triang

Research Triang

Weston Research Triang
Concourse Research Triang
Cottonwood Research Triang

Day Tract Residential Research Triang
Dogwood Research Triang
EPA Research Triang
GlenLake Land Research Triang
GlenLake Bldg | Research Triang
GlenLake Fou Research Triang
Global Software Research Triang

Healthsource Research Triang
Highwoods Centre-
Weston Research Triang

1)
@

©)
®)

®)

©)

(Y

17C

38E
722
462
131
128

3,062
1,77¢

1,52¢
1,87¢

1,65:

96€

2,18¢

4,60¢
1,41(C
1,63(
1,63%

(1,789
(394)

(379)
(384)

(399
(986)

(3,349

Q)
4,71
68€

27¢
54C

(267)

119

(968 —

@218y —
10,00: 1,10
1,20¢ 722
406 462
72 131
1,02:  12F

— 1,27i
12,68: 1,38t

9,07¢ 1,151
—  1,49:

9,66¢ 1,26(
(15129 —
1,145 60¢
— 4,32
468 76€
1,661 2,591
— 10,10t
22,270 1,61(
20,81( 1,65¢
5730 744
13,13¢ 1,84«

7,66 264

10,002 11,10z
5,81C 6,53
1,81€ 2,27¢
2,350 2,482
2,65¢ 2,78:

— 1,27
12,682 14,06¢

9,07€10,22:
— 1,492

9,66¢ 10,92¢
4,387 4,99¢

— 4,32
3,237 4,00z
1,661 4,25¢

— 10,10¢
22,27123,88:
20,81(22,46¢
5,73C 6,47
13,13€14,98(

7,66% 7,920

1,33(
1,82¢

8632
1,691
1,66¢

2,12¢

1,982

1,74¢
1,11

1,015
224

3,44(

15C
1,59(
2,87¢

2,05(

2001
1986
1983
N/A

1983
2003
N/A

2002
2006
1996
1996

1998

5-40 yrs.

5-40 yrs.
5-40 yrs.
5-40 yrs.
5-40 yrs.
5-40 yrs.
5-40 yrs.

N/A
5-40 yrs.

5-40 yrs.
N/A

5-40 yrs.
5-40 yrs.
5-40 yrs.
N/A
5-40 yrs.
5-40 yrs.
N/A
5-40 yrs.
5-40 yrs.
5-40 yrs.
5-40 yrs.

5-40 yrs.
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Cost Capitalized

Subsquent to Gross Amount at which

Initial Costs Acquisition carried at close of period
Life on Which
Carrying Building Depreciation is
2006 Building and and Accumulated Date of

Description City Encumberance Land Improvements Improvements Costs  Land Improvements Total Depreciation Construction Calculated On

Highwoods Office

Center North Land Research Triang 858 49 51 (490 40€ — 40€ — N/A N/A
Highwoods Tower OneResearch Triang 2) 203 16,74« — 1,58( 203 18,32¢ 18,52 7,37¢ 1991 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Tower Tw« Research Triang 365 — 503 22,38: 86¢ 22,38 23,25( 4,471 2001 5-40 yrs.
Holiday Inn

Reservations CenteResearch Triang 867 2,721 — 1,142 867 3,87( 4,737 1,09¢ 1984 5-40 yrs.
Inveresk Land Parcel z Research Triang 657 — 197 — 854 — 854 — N/A N/A
Inveresk Land Parcel Research Triang 548 — 30€ — 854 — 854 — N/A N/A
Laurel Research Triang 884 2,517 — 77E 884 3,292 4,17¢ 92€ 1982 5-40 yrs.
Magnolia Research Triang 133 3,57¢ — 79C 1332 4,36€ 4,49¢ 2,20: 1988 5-40 yrs.
Maplewood Research Triang ) 149 — 107 3,03t 25€ 3,03% 3,28¢ 428 N/A 5-40 yrs.
Northpark Lanc- Wake

Forest Research Triang 1,58¢ — (1,586€) — — — — — N/A N/A
Overlook Research Triang 398 — 293 9,64: 691 9,64210,33: 2,01¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Pamlico Research Triang 28¢ — — 11,94¢ 28¢ 11,94¢12,23¢ 6,56¢ 1980 5-40 yrs.
ParkWest One - Westc Research Triang 242 — — 3,947 242 3,947 4,18¢ 97€ 2001 5-40 yrs.
ParkWest Three - Land -

Weston Research Triang 30€ — — — 30€ — 30€ — N/A N/A
ParkWest Two Westor Research Triang 356 — — 4,317 35€ 4,317 4,672 65¢ 2001 5-40 yrs.
Phase | - One North

Commerce Cente Research Triang 774 4,49¢ (774 (44960 — — — — 1981 5-40 yrs.
Progress Center

Renovation Research Triang — — — 36z — 362 362 49 2003 5-40 yrs.
Raleigh Corp Center L

D Research Triang 1,211 — 8 — 1,21¢ —  1,21¢ — N/A N/A
Red Oak Research Triang 38¢ — 19& 4,78¢ 584 4,78¢ 5,36¢ 994 1999 5-40 yrs.
Rexwoods Center Research Triang 878 3,73( — 67¢ 87¢ 4,40¢ 5,28¢ 1,91¢ 1990 5-40 yrs.
Rexwoods Center Il  Research Triang 362 1,81¢ — 571 362 2,38¢ 2,751 721 1993 5-40 yrs.
Rexwoods Center [l Research Triang 91¢ 2,81¢ — 1,08( 91¢ 3,89¢ 4,81F 1,60¢ 1992 5-40 yrs.
Rexwoods Center ' Research Triang 58€ — — 3,23¢ 58€ 3,23¢ 3,82t 982 1995 5-40 yrs.
Rexwoods Center V. Research Triang ) 1,301 — 184 4,96¢ 1,48°F 4,96¢ 6,45¢ 1,10¢ 1998 5-40 yrs.
Riverbirch Research Triang ) 468 4,03¢ — 1,09¢ 46¢ 5,13¢ 5,60% 2,437 1987 5-40 yrs.
Situs | Research Triang 692 4,64¢ 17¢ (334 87C 4,312 5,182 1,54( 1996 5-40 yrs.
Situs Il Research Triang 718 6,25¢ 181 (18¢) 89¢ 6,065 6,96t 2,681 1998 5-40 yrs.
Situs 11l Research Triang 44C 4,07¢ 11¢ (53%) 55¢ 3,54t 4,10: 421 2000 5-40 yrs.
Six Forks Center | Research Triang 66€ 2,66¢ — 98¢t 66€ 3,65( 4,31¢ 1,08¢ 1982 5-40 yrs.
Six Forks Center | Research Triang 1,08¢ 4,53¢ — 1,02¢ 1,08¢ 5,565¢ 6,64: 1,692 1983 5-40 yrs.
Six Forks Center Il Research Triang ) 862 4,411 — 1,247 862 5,65¢ 6,52( 1,632 1987 5-40 yrs.
Smoketree Tower Research Triang 2,352 11,74 — 2,08t 2,352 13,82¢16,18! 4,511 1984 5-40 yrs.
Sycamore Research Triang ) 255 — 217 4,80z 472 4,80z 5,27¢ 1,23t 1997 5-40 yrs.
W Building - One North

Commerce Center Research Triang 1,172 6,86¢ 1,17 (6,86F) — — — — 1983 5-40 yrs.
Weston Lanc Research Triang 22,771 — (5,869 — 16,90 — 16,90: — N/A N/A
Willow Oak Research Triang 2) 458 — 268 5,41¢ 72€ 5,41¢ 6,142 1,611 1995 5-40 yrs.
Other Property Research Triang 47 9,49¢ (47) 11,59 (0) 21,09(21,09( 8,171 N/A N/A
Richmond, VA
4900 Cox Road Richmond 1,32¢ 5,311 — 55¢ 1,32« 5,87C 7,194 1,612 1991 5-40 yrs.
Colonade Building Richmond (5) 1,36¢ 6,10¢ — 138 1,36¢ 6,24( 7,604 78C 2003 5-40 yrs.
Dominion Place - Pitts

Parcel Richmond 1,101 — (163) — 93¢ — 938 — N/A N/A
Essex Plaza Richmond 11,68¢ 1,581 13,29¢ — 8 1,581 13,307 14,88¢ 3,39: 1999 5-40 yrs.
Grove Park | Richmond 713 — 31¢ 4,84¢ 1,03 4,84¢ 5,871 1,07z 1997 5-40 yrs.
Hamilton Beact Richmond 1,08¢ 4,34t — 57z 1,08¢ 4,91¢ 6,00 1,44( 1986 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Commons Richmond 521 — 44¢€ 3,29( 967 3,290 4,257 708 1999 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Five Richmond 783 — — 5,97¢ 7832 5,97¢ 6,75¢ 1,50¢ 1998 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods One Richmond ) 1,68¢ — — 9,987 1,68¢ 9,987 11,67¢ 2,532 1996 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Plaza Richmond 90¢ — 17€ 5,69 1,08t 5,697 6,77¢ 1,31¢ 2000 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Two Richmond (5) 786 — 213 6,11( 99¢ 6,11C 7,10¢ 1,75k 1997 5-40 yrs.
Innsbrooke Centr Richmond 5,531 1,30C 6,95¢ — (135) 1,30¢ 6,827 8,12¢ 462 1987 5-40 yrs.
Innslake Center Richmond 1) 845 — 19& 6,73¢ 1,04( 6,73¢ 7,77¢ 1,547 2001 5-40 yrs.
Liberty Mutual Richmond 1,20¢ 4,82¢ — 85% 1,20¢ 5,67¢ 6,882 1,68( 1990 5-40 yrs.
Markel Americar Richmond 9,21¢ 1,30(C 13,25¢ — (4,79¢) 1,30C 8,461 9,761 711 1998 5-40 yrs.
Markel Plaza Richmond 11,68¢ 1,70C 17,08 — (5,624 1,70C 11,45713,15% 1,08¢ 1989 5-40 yrs.
North Park Richmond 2,167 8,65¢ (14) 1,33¢  2,14¢ 9,99712,14¢ 2,54( 1989 5-40 yrs.
North Shore Commor

A Richmond (5) 951 — — 11,857 951 11,85712,80¢ 2,46( 2002 5-40 yrs.
North Shore Commor

B - Land Richmond 2,067 — (2,067 — — — — — N/A N/A
North Shore Commor

C - Land Richmond 1,497 — — — 1,497 — 1,497 — N/A N/A
North Shore Commor

D - Land Richmond 1,261 — — — 1,261 — 1,261 — N/A N/A
One Shockoe Plaza Richmond — — 35€ 15,05: 35€ 15,05:15,40¢ 4,271 1996 5-40 yrs.
Pavillion Land Richmond 181 46 20 (46) 201 — 201 — N/A N/A



Rhodia Building Richmond 1,60( 8,86¢ — — 1,60C 8,864 10,46¢ 91 1996 5-40 yrs.
Sadler & Cox Land Richmond 1,827 — (28¢) — 1,53¢ —  1,53¢ — N/A N/A
Saxon Capital Buildin Richmond (5) 1,91¢ — 337 13,44¢ 2,25¢ 13,44 15,69¢ 813 2005 N/A
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Gross Amount at which

Initial Costs Subsguent to Acquisitior carried at close of period
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Building Carrying Building Accumulated Depreciation is
2006 and and Date of

Description City Encumberance Land ImprovementsImprovements Costs Land Improvements Total Depreciation Construction Calculated On
Stony Point F Land Richmond 1,841 — — — 1,841 — 1,841 — N/A N/A
Stony Point | Richmond (5) 1,38¢ 11,63( 59 1,31¢  1,44: 12,94¢ 14,391 3,25¢ 1990 5-40 yrs.
Stony Point Il Richmond 1,24( — — 11,46¢  1,24( 11,46¢ 12,70¢ 2,36¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Stony Point Il Richmond (5) 99t — — 9,84( 99t 9,84( 10,83¢ 1,932 2002 5-40 yrs.
Technology Park Richmond 541 2,16¢ — 805 541 2,971 3,612 1,302 1991 5-40 yrs.
Technology Park 2 Richmond 264 1,05¢ — 34 264 1,092 1,35¢ 31C 1991 5-40 yrs.
Vantage Place A Richmond (5) 203 811 Q) 137 20z 94¢ 1,15 2175 1987 5-40 yrs.
Vantage Place B Richmond (5) 233 931 — 158 232 1,08¢ 1,322 328 1988 5-40 yrs.
Vantage Place ( Richmond (5) 23t 94C — 121 23t 1,061 1,29¢ 313 1987 5-40 yrs.
Vantage Place D Richmond (5) 21¢ 873 — 14& 21¢ 1,01¢ 1,23¢ 31¢ 1988 5-40 yrs.
Vantage Pointe Richmond 5) 1,08¢ 4,50( Q) 404  1,08¢ 4,90¢ 5,99: 1,39« 1990 5-40 yrs.
Virginia Mutual Richmond 1,301 6,03¢€ — 544 1,301 6,58( 7,881 1,157 1996 5-40 yrs.
Waterfront Plaza Richmond 58E 2,347 — 32¢ 58t 2,67¢ 3,26( 782 1988 5-40 yrs.
West Shore | Richmond 1) 332 1,431 — 113 33z 1,54¢ 1,87¢ 397 1995 5-40 yrs.
West Shore | Richmond 1) 48¢ 2,181 — 14C 48¢ 2,321 2,81( 627 1995 5-40 yrs.
West Shore 1lI Richmond 1) 961 — 141 3,77¢ 1,10z 3,77¢ 4,87¢ 864 1997 5-40 yrs.
South Florida
The 1800 Eller Drive

Building South Florid. — 9,851 — 82C — 10,67C 10,67( 2,76 1983 5-40 yrs.
Tampa, FL
380 Park Place Tampa 1,502 — 23¢ 6,851 1,74 6,851 8,597 1,26( N/A N/A
Anchor Glass Tampa 1,281 11,31¢ — 613 1,281 11,93: 13,21: 2,11¢ 1988 5-40 yrs.
Bay Vista Gardens Tampa 44t 4,80¢€ (445)  (4,80¢) — — — — 1982 5-40 yrs.
Bay Vista Gardens Il Tampa 1,328 7,074 (1,327 (7,079 — — — — 1997 5-40 yrs.
Bay Vista Office Cente = Tampa — — — — — — — — 1982 5-40 yrs.
Bayshore Tampa 2,27¢ 11,817 — 48€ 2,27¢ 12,30  14,57¢ 2,98¢ 1990 5-40 yrs.
Cypress Center | Tampa 3,172 12,76¢ (3,172) (12,769 — — — — 1982 5-40 yrs.
Cypress Center Tampa 50C 4,19t (500) (4,199 — — — — 1982 5-40 yrs.
Cypress Center Il Tampa 1,194 7,612 (1,199 (7,619 — — — — 1983 5-40 yrs.
Cypress Center IV -

Land Tampa 3,087 301 (1,17 (301) 1,91¢ — 1,91¢ — N/A N/A
Cypress Commons Tampa 1,211 11,477 (1,211 (11,47 — — — — 1985 5-40 yrs.
Cypress West Tampa 617 5,14¢ 617) (5,149 — — — — 1985 5-40 yrs.
FBI Field Office Tampa 4,05¢ — 415 27,03¢  4,46¢ 27,03¢  31,50¢ 903 2005 5-40 yrs.
Feathersound Corpora

Center Il Tampa 2,05¢ 802 7,46° — 1,117 80z 8,58( 9,38¢ 2,09¢ 1986 5-40 yrs.
Harborview Plaza Tampa 22,80( 3,537 29,94« 96¢ (495)  4,50¢€ 29,44¢ 33,95t 5,23¢ 2001 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Preserve Tampa 991 — — 25,84¢ 991 25,84¢ 26,84 6,302 1999 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Preserve

Land Tampa 1,48¢ — — — 1,48¢ — 1,48t — N/A N/A
Highwoods Preserve Tampa 881 — — 27,26¢ 881 27,26¢  28,14¢ 3,95¢ 2001 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Preserve VI

- Land Tampa 5,432 — (5,437) — — — — — N/A N/A
HIW Bay Center Il Tamape 3,482 — 5 3,487 6 3,49: 1 N/A N/A
Horizon Tampa (6) — 6,257 — 2,41¢ — 8,671 8,671 2,10« 1980 5-40 yrs.
LakePointe | Tampa (6) 2,10¢ 89 — 34,17¢ 2,10¢ 34,267 36,36¢ 8,32( 1986 5-40 yrs.
LakePointe Il Tampa (6) 2,00( 15,84¢ 672 9,89t 2,672 25,747  28,41°F 6,40¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Lakeside Tampa (6) — 7,36¢ — 1,51¢ — 8,88¢ 8,88¢ 1,73¢ 1978 5-40 yrs.
Lakeside/Parkside

Garage Tampa — — — 3,207 — 3,207 3,207 173 2004 5-40 yrs.
One Harbour Plac Tampa 2,01¢ 25,25: — 4,157 2,01¢ 29,40¢ 31,42« 4,92t 1985 5-40 yrs.
Parkside Tampa (6) — 9,407 — 3,307 — 12,71« 12,71« 2,721 1979 5-40 yrs.
Pavilion Tampa (6) — 16,39¢ — 2,247 — 18,63¢ 18,63¢ 5,00¢ 1982 5-40 yrs.
Pavilion Parking Garagc  Tampa (6) — — — 5,60( — 5,60( 5,60( 1,00¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Spectrum Tampa (6) 1,45¢ 14,50z — 3,057 1,45¢ 17,55¢ 19,017 4,941 1984 5-40 yrs.
Tower Place Tampa 3,21¢ 19,89¢ — 71C  3,21¢ 20,60¢ 23,82¢ 4,72¢ 1988 5-40 yrs.
Westshore Squal Tampa 1,12¢ 5,18¢ — 31¢  1,12¢ 5,50« 6,63( 1,28¢ 1976 5-40 yrs.

544,15 1,669,31. (68,17f) 927,04 475,98( 2,596,35!3,072,33! 595,13¢

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyisthas duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theoedmy authorized, in the City of Raleigh, StaféNerth Carolina, on March 1, 2007.

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC

By: /s EDWARD J. FRITSCH
Edward J. Fritsch
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on
behalf of the Registrant and in the capacity antherdates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/sl O. Temple Sloan, Jr. Chairman of the Board of Directors March 1, 200
O. Temple Sloan, Jr.
/s/ Edward J. Fritsch President, Chief Executive Officer, and Dire: March 1, 200
Edward J. Fritsch
/s Gene H. Anderson Senior Vice President and Director March 1, 200
Gene H. Anderson
/sl Thomas W. Adler Director March 1, 200
Thomas W. Adler
/s/ Kay N. Callison Director March 1, 200
Kay N. Callison
/sl Lawrence S. Kaplan Director March 1, 200
Lawrence S. Kaplan
/sl Sherry A. Kellett Director March 1, 200
Sherry A. Kellett
/s/ L. Glenn Orr, Jr. Director March 1, 200
L. Glenn Orr, Jr.
/s/ F. William Vandiver, Jr. Director March 1, 200
F. William Vandiver, Jr.
/sl Terry L. Stevens Vice President and Chief Financial Officer March 1, 200

Terry L. Stevens



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRbgistration Statements (Form S-8 Nos. 333-38838;12117, 333-29759 and 333-
55901) pertaining to the Employee Stock Option &tatk Purchase Plans of Highwoods Properties ofngur report dated March 1, 2007,
with respect to the consolidated financial stateand schedules of Highwoods Properties, Includted in the Annual Report (Form 10-K)
for the year ended December 31, 2006.

/sl Ernst & Young LLF

Raleigh, North Carolina
March 1, 2007



Exhibit 23.2
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniRegjion Statements No. 333-38878, 333-12117,38%9 and 333-55901 on FornB3f
(1) our report relating to the consolidated finahstatements and financial statement schedulesgbfvoods Properties, Inc. dated March 1,
2007 (which report expresses an unqualified opimiat includes an explanatory paragraph relatinggdCompany’s change in its method of
accounting for share-based payments, effectivealgriy 2006, to conform to Statement of Financiet@unting Standards No. 123(R),
Share-Based Paymerind the Company’s change in its method of accogritinjoint ventures, effective January 1, 2006¢doform to
Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 0B&termining Whether a General Partner or the GehBartners as a Group, Controls a Limited
Partnership or Similar Entity When the Limited Reaats Have Certain Righ) and (2) our report on management’s report oreffextiveness
of internal control over financial reporting datéidrch 1, 2007 (which report expresses an adversgonpon the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reportingcause of material weaknesses), appearing idtimsal Report on Form 10-K of
Highwoods Properties, Inc. for the year ended Déxer1, 2006.

/sl Deloitte & Touche LLP

Raleigh, North Carolina
March 1, 2007



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Edward J. Fritsch, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Highwoods Properties Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatorny untrue statement of a material fact or enittate a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this reg

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamd,other financial information included in théport, fairly presentin all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the Registrantfaaral for, the periods presented
in this report;

4.  The Registrant’s other certifying officer anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and1Bd)) and internal control over financial repogtias defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the Registrant and ha\

(@) designed such disclosure controls and procedarecaused such disclosure controls and procedaoitee designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material informatielating to the Registrant, including its condated subsidiaries, is me
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifige prepared

(b)  designed such internal control over finanagglarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readerasurance regarding the reliability of financegorting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registratisslosure controls and procedures and presenttisi report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discsantrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by this
report based on such evaluation;

(d) disclosed in this report any change in the Regt’s internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the
Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the Resyits fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimeaport) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to evally affect, the Registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer ankidve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the iRG@mmittee of the Registrant’s Board of Directws persons performing the
equivalent functions)

(@) all significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cboirer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect Regyistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaizeé report financial
information; anc

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that ine@\management or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the
Registrar’s internal control over financial reportir

Date: March 1, 2007

/s/ EbwARD J. FRITSCH
Edward J. Fritscl
President and Chief Executive Offic




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

[, Terry L. Stevens, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Highwoods Properties Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatorny untrue statement of a material fact or enittate a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this reg

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamd,other financial information included in théport, fairly presentin all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the Registrantfaaral for, the periods presented
in this report;

4.  The Registrant’s other certifying officer anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and1Bd)) and internal control over financial repogtias defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the Registrant and ha\

(@) designed such disclosure controls and procedarecaused such disclosure controls and procedaoitee designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material informatielating to the Registrant, including its condated subsidiaries, is me
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifige prepared

(b)  designed such internal control over finanagglarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readerasurance regarding the reliability of financegorting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registratisslosure controls and procedures and presenttisi report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discsantrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by this
report based on such evaluation;

(d) disclosed in this report any change in the Regt’s internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the
Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the Resyits fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimeaport) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to evally affect, the Registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer ankidve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the iRG@mmittee of the Registrant’s Board of Directws persons performing the
equivalent functions)

(@) all significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cboirer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect Regyistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaizeé report financial
information; anc

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that ine@\management or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the
Registrar’s internal control over financial reportir

Date: March 1, 2007

/s| TERRY L. S TEVENS
Terry L. Steven:
Vice President and Chief Financial Offic




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the Annual Report of Highwoodsgrties, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K foetperiod ended
December 31, 2006 as filed with the SecuritiesExcthange Commission on the date hereof (the “R8parEdward J. Fritsch, President
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certjursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursad&906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934, as amended,; &

2) The information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of
the Company

/s/ EbwaARD J. FRITSCH

Edward J. Fritscl

President and Chief Executive Offic
March 1, 2007




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the Annual Report of Highwoodsgrties, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K foetperiod ended
December 31, 2006 as filed with the SecuritiesExchange Commission on the date hereof (the “R8parTerry L. Stevens, Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer of the Comparertify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adbptéersuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934, as amended,; &

2) The information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of
the Company

/s| TERRY L. STEVENS

Terry L. Steven:

Vice President and Chief Financial Offic
March 1, 2007




